Assessing Health Care Quality for Minority and Other Disparity Populations

Prepared for: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Rockville, Maryland

Prepared by: Kevin Fiscella, M.D., M.P.H. University of Rochester

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality May 2003 AHRQ Pub. No. 03-0047-EF

Disclaimer

The author of this report is responsible for its content. Statements in this report should not be construed as representative of views of the Department of Health and Human Services or the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.

Contents

		Page
Ex	ecutive Summary	1
L	Introduction	15
	Background	
	A Framework for Assessing Quality in Health Care	
	Assessing Health Care Quality for Disparity Populations	
	Reasons for Addressing Disparities in Health Care Quality	
	Evaluating Quality Measures	
	Suitability of Existing Measures for Disparity Populations	
II.	Disparities in Health and Health Care	
	Racial and Ethnic Minorities	
	Persons With Low Income	
	Children	36
	Women	38
	Rural and Urban Residents	40
	Persons With Disabilities or Chronic Disease	42
	Elderly	
	Persons Facing the End of Life	
III	.Review of Current Quality Measures	
	Racial and Ethnic Disparities in the Experience of Care	46
	Major Existing Quality Measure Sets	
	Relevance of Existing Quality Measures to Disparity Populations	
IV	. Challenges to Implementing Quality Measures for Disparity Populations	
	Challenges Common to All Disparity Populations	
	Population-Specific Challenges	
V.	Gaps in Existing Quality Measures	
	Generic Gaps	
	Development of New Measures	
	Research and Development	
VI	. Summary and Conclusions	86
Ar	ppendix A. AHRQ Initiatives in Quality Measures Development	88
	opendix B. Summary of Quality Measures, by Consumer Perspective, for Disparity	
1	Populations	90
R٩	ferences	100
110		

Executive Summary

Introduction

Background

Considerable progress has been made over the past decade in the provision of quality health care. However, health care quality is not equitably distributed throughout the general population. Health care consumers who are members of certain groups, termed "disparity populations," frequently confront disparities in health care quality relative to the general population. Members of these disparity populations include racial and ethnic minorities, low-income persons, children, women, the elderly, rural and urban residents, persons with disabilities and chronic illness, and persons near the end of life. In order to ensure the quality of care for members of these groups, quality measures relevant and/or specific to these populations are needed. This report describes the state-of-the-art quality measurements for disparity populations, identifies gaps in existing measures, and highlights critical areas for future research.

Framework for Assessing Quality in Health Care

An Institute of Medicine (IOM) report in 1990 defined health care quality as "the degree to which health care services increase the likelihood of desired health outcomes and are consistent with current professional knowledge."¹ A 2001 report by the Institute of Medicine, *Envisioning the National Health Care Quality Report*,² outlined a conceptual framework for assessing health care quality. It is based on two core dimensions: the components of health care quality and the purpose of health care. The first dimension is comprised of four components: safety, effectiveness, patient centeredness, and timeliness. The second dimension reflects consumers' needs for different types of health care across the life cycle: staying healthy, getting better, living with illness or disability, and coping with the end of life. Equity represents a key parameter that cuts across both dimensions and reflects differences in quality of care received by different groups, including members of disparity populations. Most quality measures currently in use represent effectiveness measures. Fewer measures represent the dimensions of timeliness or patient centeredness. Very few assess health care safety.

Assessing Quality of Care for Disparity Populations

Quality measures specific to members of disparity populations are needed for two reasons: equity and relevance. First, quality measures help insure that health care is equitably provided. Given the racial and ethnic disparities in quality extensively documented in the IOM report *Unequal Treatment*,³ population-specific quality measures are needed to identify health care disparities that are typically hidden from view by current reporting procedures. Use of population-specific measures allows for targeted quality improvement interventions designed to eliminate disparities.

Second, quality measures developed for the general population may not be relevant to disparity populations. The prevalence and health impact of various conditions and type of health care needed to treat these conditions frequently differ between groups. Children experience health care problems and have health care needs that differ from those of adults. Some of the health care needs of women require female-specific quality measures (gender-specific measures are also needed for men but the number of key male-specific conditions is lower). Low-income persons often become chronically ill or die at earlier ages than those with higher incomes. Poorer persons experience many access barriers to quality health care such as affordability of care and low health care literacy. Inner-city and rural residents often reside in medically underserved areas and often face geographic and other barriers to care. Persons with chronic illnesses and disabilities have conditionspecific health care needs that require specific quality measures; in addition, they may face barriers to health care access related to their disability. The elderly represent a heterogeneous population that includes healthy individuals living independently in the community and persons with a few mild chronic diseases, as well as those with multiple, complex health care problems that require specialty, rehabilitative, or long-term care. Persons near the end of life require health care that minimizes pain and suffering and addresses their spiritual and psychological needs. Measures are needed to address the needs of all these populations.

Evaluating Quality Measures

Quality measures are typically evaluated in terms of their significance, scientific soundness, and feasibility. *Significance* refers to the health impact of the targeted condition on years of healthy life, the ability of health care to reduce that impact, the gap in quality between actual and achievable care, and the capability or likelihood of reducing that gap. *Scientific soundness* refers to validity, reliability, and comparability of measures used to assess quality. *Feasibility* refers to the practicality of implementing quality measures in the real world. Although each of these criteria is relevant to assessing quality measures for disparity populations, a quality measure should have significance for that population. If a measure is especially significant to a disparity population, consideration should be given to separate reporting of that measure for that population—e.g., the disparate health impact of a disease such as the effect of HIV infection on African Americans.

Disparities in Health and Health Care

Racial and Ethnic Minorities

Health Outcomes

African Americans experience the poorest health outcomes of any major racial or ethnic minority group in the United States. Blacks have higher adult and infant mortality than whites or other minority groups;⁴⁻⁶ blacks also have higher age-adjusted mortality rates than whites from cardiovascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, cancer (lung, colorectal, breast, prostate, cervical), pneumonia/influenza, chronic liver disease,

diabetes, HIV, unintentional injuries, pregnancy, sudden infant death syndrome, and homicide.⁷ Cardiovascular disease, infection, and trauma are the major contributors to racial disparities in potential life-years lost.⁸ Hispanics have higher rates of death than non-Hispanic whites from liver disease, diabetes, HIV, cancer (stomach, liver, and cervical), and homicide, but lower overall age-adjusted mortality and lower rates of death from cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease and cancer.⁷ Asians/Pacific Islanders have lower overall mortality and lower mortality for each of the major causes of death;⁷ but their rates of stomach, liver, and cervical cancer exceed those of whites.⁹ American Indians/Alaska Natives have slightly lower overall reported mortality than whites. However, because deaths among American Indians are underestimated by more than 20 percent, primarily due to misclassification of race on death certificates,¹⁰ it is likely that the overall death rate for this group is actually higher than that for whites. Compared with whites, American Indians/Alaska Natives have higher reported morbidity and mortality for pneumonia/influenza, liver disease, obesity, pediatric tuberculosis, bronchiolitis, diabetes, sudden infant death syndrome, diabetic kidney disease,^{11,12} unintentional injuries, and homicide.¹³⁻¹⁷ Racial/ethnic disparities in health outcomes likely result from the complex interaction between socioeconomic status (SES), insurance, racism, segregation, culture, and access to quality health care.^{18,19} The leading causes of death for all racial/ethnic groups are similar although groups differ widely in absolute rates of death.

Health Care Treatment

African Americans and other minorities confront significant treatment disparities. These disparities have been noted across most of the dimensions of health care process (effectiveness, safety, timeliness, and patient centeredness) and across most of the four consumer perspectives (staying healthy, getting better, living with chronic illness, and coping with the end of life). African Americans receive less appropriate treatment for breast, lung, and colorectal cancer²⁰ and less intensive treatment of prostate cancer (getting better),²¹ fewer anti-retrovirals for HIV infection (living with chronic illness),^{22,23} fewer antidepressants for depression (getting better),²⁴ less appropriate management of congestive heart failure (CHF) and pneumonia (getting better),²⁵ poorer quality of hospital care (getting better),²⁶ fewer pediatric prescriptions (getting better),²⁷ fewer admissions for chest pain (getting better),²⁸ lower quality prenatal care (staying healthy),²⁹ and less adequate treatment of cancer pain (coping with the end of life).³⁰

Hispanics, Asians/Pacific Islanders, and American Indians/Alaska Natives also appear to receive suboptimal care although disparities are smaller than those observed for African Americans.³¹ Hispanics receive fewer cardiovascular procedures³² including reperfusion therapy,^{33,34} fewer appropriate medications following a myocardial infarction, ³⁵ and less analgesia for metastatic cancer^{30,36} and trauma.³⁷ American Indians/Alaska Natives have lower rates of mammography and poorer blood pressure control.³¹ As a group, care for Asians/Pacific Islanders may exceed that of whites in some instances,³¹ but subgroups clearly experience disparities.

The causes of racial and ethnic disparities in treatment are undoubtedly complex and include patient, physician, health system, and community factors. Patient-level factors include ability to afford insurance or copayments, knowledge of benefits of care, mistrust of providers and health institutions, and preferences for less invasive treatments.

Physician factors include bias, stereotyping and economic incentives. Health plan factors include size of copayments and deductibles, location of services, cultural diversity of provider staff, gatekeeping mechanisms, use of practice guidelines, and quality improvement activities. Community factors include availability and cost of health insurance, physician reimbursement, strength of safety net providers, and physician workforce distribution. These factors interact. For example, physician bias may generate greater patient mistrust and vice versa. Similarly, low insurance reimbursement (e.g., Medicaid payments) may provide incentives to physicians to minimize care.

Persons With Low Income

Socioeconomic status is a powerful determinant of health and mortality.^{4,38-40} Life expectancy for persons of lower SES is nearly 5 years less than that for those of higher SES.⁸ Cardiovascular disease and cancer are the largest contributors to socioeconomic disparities in mortality.⁸ This effect extends up the SES hierarchy and does not simply represent a poverty threshold. Explanations for the effect of SES on mortality are complex.⁴¹ Socioeconomic differences in health behavior such as smoking, body weight, and diet contribute modestly to socioeconomic differences in mortality.^{38,39,41} Additional explanations include childhood trauma, family stress, neighborhood effects, work environment, psychological stress, hostility, sense of control, and beliefs and attitudes related to SES.⁴¹⁻⁵²

Differences in health care quality by SES have been well documented. Low income is associated with receiving fewer Pap smears, mammograms,^{53,54} childhood and influenza immunizations,⁵⁵ and diabetic eye examinations,⁵⁶ and with later enrollment in prenatal care. ⁵⁷ Low-income patients receive lower intensity hospital care, ⁵⁸ including fewer cardiac procedures, and experience higher mortality following these procedures.⁵⁹ They also receive lower quality ambulatory⁶⁰ and hospital care,²⁶ including fewer prescriptions for aspirin and/or provision of thrombolysis for myocardial infarction.⁶¹ These disparities likely represent a combination of patient factors such as inability to afford health care, low health literacy, and lack of knowledge of health care topics, as well as physician bias, physician economic incentives, and other access barriers.

Children

Assessment of pediatric health care quality lags behind adult quality assessment. Various factors unique to child health care make quality measurement particularly challenging. These factors include a focus of pediatric care on not simply staying healthy, but also optimizing growth and development; differences in pediatric and adult disease patterns; and dependence of children on parents/caretakers. In addition, compared with the general population, children are disproportionately minority and poor⁶² and thus confront additional barriers to quality care. Although most pediatric health care focuses on health promotion and disease prevention, a sizable number of children suffer from chronic health care problems, some of which result in disability.

Women

The relationship between gender, health, and health care is complex. On one hand, the life expectancy of women exceeds that of men by more than 6 years; ⁶³ women also

experience lower age-adjusted rates of coronary artery disease and have lower rates of accidental death and suicide.⁷ On the other hand, women report lower health status and higher rates of psychological distress; and they experience higher rates of various illnesses, particularly those thought to have an auto-immune etiology such as systemic lupus erythematosis, rheumatoid arthritis, and multiple sclerosis. Based on prevalence, morbidity, and mortality, the major conditions affecting women are cardiovascular disease, unintended pregnancy, osteoporosis, breast cancer, mental health disorders, violence, lung cancer, cervical cancer, and obesity/eating disorders.⁶⁴ Gender disparities in use of expensive technology have been extensively documented.⁶⁵ Most notably, rates of cardiovascular procedures are higher among men,⁶⁶ but it is not clear whether these disparities primarily represent underuse by women, overuse by men,⁶⁷ or differences in age or other confounders.⁶⁸ In other cases, there is clear evidence of worse care for women than for men. Women are less likely to receive appropriate medications such as aspirin and beta blockers following a myocardial infarction,^{61,35} less likely to receive a renal transplant ^{69,70} (despite more female donors),⁷¹ and less likely to receive adequate treatment for pain.⁷² Many women also experience reduced access to reproductive services. Frequently health care plans do not cover the cost of contraceptive and abortion services, and the latter are not available in many communities.

Rural and Urban Residents

Most urban-rural-suburban differences in health are attributable to differences in the sociodemographic characteristics of the respective populations. Rural residents may have reduced geographic access to primary, tertiary, and mental health care. Inner-city residents often experience reduced access to quality primary care. Measures of access related to place of residence may be needed. However, until differences in health care quality independent of race/ethnicity and SES have been definitively established, routine stratification of most existing quality measures by place of residence cannot be recommended.

Persons With Disabilities and Chronic Illness

Few data exist regarding the quality of care received by persons with disabilities. Research is hindered by lack of suitable measures. Nonetheless, available evidence suggests that health care quality for this very vulnerable population is substandard. Persons living with disabilities and chronic illness often require ongoing medical management; yet sensory, mobility, or cognitive impairments often create barriers to care.

Elderly

Given the wide range in function and health among this population, care of the elderly requires addressing each of the consumer needs for health care: staying healthy, getting better, living with chronic illness, and preparing for the end of life. Age is strongly associated with morbidity and mortality; the prevalence of chronic disease and decline in health status rise sharply with age. The elderly are often confronted by multiple chronic conditions that require treatment with multiple medications.⁷³ Safety in terms of medication prescription is paramount. Not infrequently, impairments in vision, hearing,

mobility, and cognition result in disabilities that significantly diminish function and potentially affect access to quality care. Standard screening measures may not be appropriate for persons with limited life expectancy⁷⁴ and may result in inappropriate diagnostic evaluations without benefit.⁷⁵ There is a particularly strong need to for quality measures that assess coordination of care among the elderly.

Persons Facing the End of Life

Dying persons are particularly vulnerable to receiving inadequate care. Their health care needs are unique; there is minimal overlap with the consumer needs for health care directed towards staying healthy, getting better, or living with chronic illness. Instead, the focus of health care is on maximizing the physical, psychological, social, and spiritual comfort of the dying person. In other words, the primary goal of palliative care is to help the person die with dignity and comfort.⁷⁶ A number of studies have documented suboptimal care for terminally ill patients,^{30,36,77,78} including children.⁷⁹ Members of disparity populations who cannot afford hospice care may be most vulnerable to suboptimal care.

Review of Current Measures

Most current quality measures in use have been developed by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA), the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Health Care Organizations (JCAHO), the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), and the Foundation for Accountability (FACCT). These measures, briefly described below, assess the health care needs of consumers across the life cycle.

Consumer Experience of Care

The Consumer Assessment of Health Plans (CAHPS®) was developed under the sponsorship of AHRQ. CAHPS® is set of surveys available in English and Spanish and includes a set of core surveys for adult and child health in addition to supplemental surveys. Core topics include enrollment/coverage, access, provider relationship, overall rating, utilization, communication/interaction, plan administration, health status, and demographics (age, gender, highest educational level, race, and ethnicity). Supplemental topics include communication with providers, interpreter services for hearing-impaired and foreign language speakers, dental care, mental health care, care for chronic conditions, pregnancy care, prescription medicines, and transportation, among others. The surveys include items that reflect patient centeredness and timeliness and, to a lesser extent, effectiveness and safety. The Picker Inpatient Survey is similar to CAHPS® in that it assesses the consumer experience of hospital care. These measures are particularly important for minority and disparity populations. Blacks report lower satisfaction and trust in their providers,⁸⁰ and Hispanics report dissatisfaction with provider communication.⁸¹ African Americans report lower involvement in their own care than whites.⁸² Both CAHPS[®] and the Picker survey measures should be reported separately by race, ethnicity, income, disability status, and, possibly, by place of residence.

Staying Healthy

The NCQA has developed a number of the Health Plan Employer Data and Information Set (HEDIS) measures in this dimension, especially measures relating to availability of care. They include access to prenatal care, well-child care, well-adult care, and dental care, as well as translation services and information necessary to make informed decisions. These measures are relevant to all disparity populations and should be reported separately by race, ethnicity, income, disability status, and, possibly, by place of residence.

NCQA's HEDIS and FACCT's Young Adult Health Care (YAHC) survey measures assess the quality of preventive health care in dimensions of effectiveness, timeliness, and patient centeredness and are relevant to nearly all disparity populations. These measures address screening for breast and cervical cancer, alcohol misuse, elderly health status, immunizations (child, adolescent, and adult), child development, chlamydial disease screening, teen confidentiality, diet, emotional health, exercise, smoking, sexual activity, and other risk behaviors. Many of these measures address conditions that disproportionately affect minorities and poorer persons. These measures should be reported separately by race, ethnicity, and income.

Getting Better

NCQA, FACCT, JCAHO (through its ORYX initiative), and the CMS Health Care Quality Improvement Program (HCQIP) have produced measures that address management of birth, breast cancer, mental illness/major depression, hospital management of congestive heart failure, myocardial infarction, pneumonia, and stroke, in addition to neonatal morality and surgery and surgical complications. Most disparity populations are affected by some of these conditions. Significant disparities in treatment of these conditions have been found for racial and ethnic minorities, low income persons, and in some instances, women. Stratification of these measures by race/ethnicity and SES is warranted. These measures should be reported separately by race, ethnicity, and income. They should also be reported by gender for selected cardiovascular treatments and organ transplantation.

Living With Chronic Illness

Many of the conditions addressed in the dimension "getting better" represent management of acute conditions resulting from chronic underlying disease. Myocardial infarction, congestive heart failure, and stroke typically result from vascular disease. Similarly, acute depression and acute mental illness often represent exacerbations of a chronic disease. NCQA and FACCT have developed quality measures for ongoing management of asthma, breast cancer, diabetes, and hypertension. Minorities, particularly African Americans, low income persons, the elderly, and those with chronic diseases are disproportionately affected by these conditions. These measures should be reported separately by race, ethnicity, and income.

Preparing for the End of Life

FACCT measures for end-of-life care rely on both patient reports and surrogate reports. These measures address adequacy of advance planning, pain control, health status, symptom control, and patient-provider communication. Patient preference for do-not-resuscitate orders differ by race, age, income, and insurance status.⁸³⁻⁸⁶ Although black patients are less likely then whites to have had this type of communication,⁸⁴ they are interested in participating in these discussions. Not surprisingly, patients who lack English fluency are less likely to be involved in discussions regarding resuscitation.⁸⁵ These measures are relevant to members of all disparity populations and should be reported separately by race, ethnicity, and income.

All existing measures are relevant to racial and ethnic minorities. However, none of these measures is as yet reported separately by race or ethnicity despite evidence of disparate impact and unequal treatment. There is also a need for new quality measures that address conditions particularly relevant to minorities. These include prevention and treatment of HIV infection, prevention of preterm birth, and management of traumatic pain, among others. For similar reasons, quality measures should be reported separately by socioeconomic status. Measures related to health care affordability and literacy are particularly appropriate for low-income persons.

Challenges to Implementing Existing Quality Measures for Disparity Populations

Challenges to the implementation of existing measures for disparity populations include identification of members of different disparity populations, cost and burden of collecting additional data, privacy concerns, and development of suitable reporting formats. Information regarding membership in a disparity population is often missing from hospital, HMO, and office data. HMO and hospital claims data usually include age and gender. Some, but not all, hospitals include data on race and, in some instances, ethnicity. Neither HMOs nor hospitals collect data regarding SES (income, education, or occupation), disability, or place of residence, nor do they identify patients near the end of life. Until these data are collected, it is impossible for the hospital or HMO to insure comparable quality of care provided for members of disparity populations. However, these problems are not insurmountable. HMOs and hospitals can begin to routinely include questions regarding race/ethnicity, educational level, or disability status on existing quality surveys. Hospitals can compare results of their current quality assessments by race/ethnicity or insurance status. Both HMOs and hospitals have access to patient addresses and ZIP Codes. These data can be converted (geocoded) into community indictors of median income which can serve as a proxy for patient SES.

Privacy concerns and the potential for misuse of data represent important considerations. Safeguards proposed in an IOM report in 2000 could reduce the potential for misuse of data.⁸⁷ Standards for electronic data transmission under the 1996 Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) allow health care facilities to include race/ethnicity as a data element.⁸⁸ Similarly, the HHS privacy rule protects the confidentiality of individually identifiable health data used by health care providers using electronic transmission,⁸⁸ but the rule does not preclude collection of race/ethnicity data.⁸⁸ Annual reporting by hospitals and HMOs of patients served or

enrollment/disenrollment patterns by race/ethnicity, SES, or insurance will further minimize the potential for misuse of data. Thus, it is feasible to collect these data while minimizing the potential for breaches in confidentiality or misuse.

Separate reporting of quality by disparity population will involve additional data collection and increased costs. For this reason, only measures that reflect conditions especially relevant to members of disparity populations or for which there is firm evidence of a disparity in quality justify separate reporting. Race/ethnicity and SES meet these criteria for most measures. Selective reporting is needed for other populations.

Last, user-friendly formats for quality reporting are needed. The format should be determined by the needs and preferences of the target audience.⁸⁹ Printed reports with appropriate reading levels, language, and formats will be needed for different ethnic groups. Web-based reports offer the advantage of hypertext and allow Internet users to search for more details. Community-based organizations represent a means for disseminating results to targeted communities.

Gaps in Existing Quality Measures

Generic Gaps

The previous sections address the suitability of existing quality measures for members of disparity populations. However, an evaluation of existing measures does not address the question as to what *new* measures are needed for each population. This determination is time consuming and costly. It requires a systematic assessment of priority conditions for a given population followed by identification of established interventions and treatment guidelines. Established interventions that are not widely implemented for the population should be given priority. Scientifically sound measures must be developed to assess performance. Feasible and practical methods for collecting necessary data to assess the measures must be pilot tested and implemented. Last, dissemination plans are needed that include preparation and distribution of quality reports tailored to the needs of the relevant populations.

Although a full review of the question of where new measures are needed is beyond the scope of this report, several key points should be made. First, there are conditions that are not adequately addressed by current quality measures for *any* population. For example, medical errors result in thousands of needless deaths per year.⁹⁰ Yet, few quality measures address medical safety issues. Many, if not most, medical errors involve issues surrounding communication. Examples include inadequate communication between provider and patients or family, between physicians and other clinicians such as nurses and pharmacists, and between primary care physicians and consultants. Each of these is relevant to disparity populations—particularly patients with chronic diseases or disabilities or elderly who are elderly—who are more likely to have multiple, complex problems that require ongoing care provided by teams of professionals.

Another major safety issue that is not addressed by existing quality measures involves prescriptions. Examples include inappropriate use of antibiotics, selection of the wrong medication or dose, failure to adequately assess contraindications including allergies and serious drug interactions, and illegible handwriting. Again, these errors are likely to disproportionately affect disparity populations who require more multiple, recurring medications.

There are relatively few quality measures in the domains of mental health and very few that address management of drug abuse or use of ancillary services such as pharmacy services, dietary counseling, and physical/occupational therapy.

Development of New Measures

Racial and Ethnic Minorities

Some of the conditions relevant to minorities that are not adequately addressed by existing measures have been previous identified. These include asthma, maternal/child care, pain management, HIV/AIDS, low back pain, sickle cell anemia, mental health, end-of-life issues, and cultural competency. Other important conditions or issues include group B streptococcus colonization during pregnancy, neonatal care, chronic renal failure, management of hepatitis C, and management of uterine fibroids. Although existing measures target some of these conditions, many components of care are not adequately assessed. For example, HEDIS measures address breast and cervical cancer screening but do not adequately address followup of abnormal screening results even though there are significant racial disparities in mammography followup.⁹¹ Most of these candidate measures are also appropriate for the general population. Some are likely to be incorporated into existing measure sets.

Persons With Low Income

The most critical gaps in quality assessment for persons with low income relate to various measures of access to care. The most obvious example is affordability. Many persons with low income, even those with health insurance, are often unable to afford needed prescriptions and other health care. Questions about affordability could be easily added to CAHPS[®]. Such measures would allow health plans (and employers) to evaluate the impact of changes in premiums, deductibles, and copayments on the ability of persons with low income to access care.

Health care literacy represents another critical access barrier for low-income persons, who may lack the reading ability, knowledge, and skills to effectively navigate the health care system and thus leave their physician's office confused about instructions or the risks and benefits of a particular intervention. Measures designed to assess the reading levels (in appropriate language) of educational materials are needed.

Children

Well-child care is intended to promote the growth, development, and future health of children, and outcomes of this type of care are not easily measured. One review of the state of the science of quality measures for children's health care noted that there are few measures that reflect health care safety, living with illness, and care of the terminally ill or that reflect age-specific care for children.⁹² The authors specifically recommended the development of quality measures for newborn, intensive, and pediatric trauma care and the development of consumer surveys in languages other than English. Other areas in children's health for which there are few existing measures include care for children with disabilities.⁹² There is insufficient knowledge regarding standard interventions such as speech therapy for language delay, chest physiotherapy for various pulmonary conditions

including cystic fibrosis, and treatment for specific mental health problems.⁹² Also lacking are reliable measures of outcomes or health functioning.

Women

New quality measures are needed to assess the quality of care for gender-specific conditions, particularly reproductive care. These include care related to pregnancy, labor and delivery, post-partum care, family planning, fertility, fibroids, irregular or heavy bleeding, gynecological cancer, menopause, eating disorders, and mental health. The NCQA appointed a Women's Health Measurement Advisory Panel in 1997, charged with identifying, prioritizing, and stimulating the development of quality indicators in key areas related to women's health.⁶⁴ Many of the conditions listed above are expected to be addressed in future versions of HEDIS.

Elderly

Although many existing measures address conditions relevant to the elderly, many gaps remain. These gaps include many of the issues important to persons with disabilities and chronic disease (discussed below). In addition, gaps occur in access to expensive prescriptions, coordination of care, and communication. Many of these gaps in quality assessment for the elderly are addressed in the Assessing Care of Vulnerable Elders (ACOVE) project. This project developed a comprehensive set of evidence-based, quality assessment tools for ill, community-dwelling persons 65 years of age and older.⁹³ These include 236 measures comprising 22 topic areas: continuity and coordination of care, dementia, depression, diabetes, end of life, falls, hearing loss, heart failure, hospital care, hypertension, ischemic heart disease, malnutrition, medication use, osteoarthritis, osteoporosis, pain management, pneumonia, pressure ulcers, preventive care, strokes and atrial fibrillation, urinary incontinence, and vision care. These represent the most comprehensive measures for this population that have been developed to date and include many areas that are not addressed by current measures. Further research is also needed to develop evidence-based, reliable measures designed to assess the quality of health care provided to elderly persons in long-term care.⁹⁴

Rural and Urban Residents

The major gaps in quality measurement for rural and inner-city residents relate to access to primary, specialty, and, particularly, tertiary care. Not only are many rural and inner-city communities often resource depleted, but retention of physicians in health care shortage areas is difficult. Quality measures are needed to assess whether rural and inner-city residents have continuity with a regular source of care, to assess patient travel time to various sources of health care, and to assess whether health care providers working in rural and urban settings have access to adequate resources including information technology, specialty consultation and referral, and expensive hospital technology.

Persons With Disabilities and Chronic Illness

Currently, there are no quality measures in use that specifically address the quality of care provided to adults with disabilities. The measure set for care of children

with special health care needs (CSHCN) represents a significant advance in assessment of health care quality for children with disabilities. A similar measure set is needed for adults in order to assess such critical issues as access to primary and specialty care, coordination of care, and access to needed medications, supplies, and equipment. Furthermore, existing measures of health status such as the Medical Outcomes Study Short Form 36 item survey (SF-36) may not adequately capture the aspects of health status that are most relevant to persons with disabilities.⁹⁵ Little is known regarding which quality measures are most relevant to persons with particular disabilities or the impact that different disabilities have on accessing health care.

Many of the current quality measures under development address management of chronic illness. Existing measures address hypertension, lipid disorders, diabetes, asthma, depression, coronary artery disease, congestive heart failure, and breast cancer. The primary limitation of such measures is that they focus primarily on health care processes, such as documentation of appropriate testing or prescription of the appropriate medication. Second generation measures under development focus more on outcomes, such as proportion of patients with adequate control of their diabetes, hypertension, or cholesterol, or improvements in functional outcomes.⁹⁶ Common chronic conditions not adequately addressed by current measures include management of various types of arthritis, chronic low back pain, primary care of the cancer patient, liver disease including hepatitis C, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, anxiety disorders, and renal insufficiency. Furthermore, there are relatively few scientifically proven interventions that are specific to persons with disabilities.⁹⁵ Last, research is needed to determine where the largest gaps in quality exist for consumers with different disabilities and then to begin developing measures to assess performance in these areas.

Persons Near the End of Life

The identification of key measures for end-of-life care presents unique challenges because the goal of care for the dying differs qualitatively from other types of care. Currently, no widely used quality measures exist for end-of-life care; the measure set under development by FACCT represents a major advance. Measures are also needed to determine the extent to which end-of-life care is meeting the social, psychological, and spiritual needs of the dying patient and his or her family. Further study is needed to determine the impact on families of inpatient versus home hospice care.

Research and Development

AHRQ is currently sponsoring research to ensure both the appropriate implementation of existing measures and the development of new measures for disparity populations. Research is needed to determine the most cost-effective and least intrusive means for identifying members of disparity populations, for obtaining data on quality of care, and for preparing and disseminating reports. Research in each of the phases necessary to develop new measures is critical—e.g., clinical trials to establish the efficacy of interventions among different disparity populations, and translational research to develop evidence-based practice guidelines and find ways to effectively implement these guidelines in practice. Also needed are development, pilot testing, and validation of reliable, cost-effective methods to implement quality measures that will fill the gaps in existing measures. Finally, the impact of implementation of these measures on provider and consumer behavior and improvements in health outcomes must also be assessed.

Summary and Conclusions

This report has shown why population-specific quality measures are needed to monitor the quality of care provided to disparity populations. Many members of disparity populations face the double jeopardy of poor health coupled with inferior care. Health care for members of disparity populations is further hindered by common membership; persons frequently confront the challenge of membership in multiple disparity populations. The causes of disparities in health and health care are complex. They include patient-level factors such as ability to afford care, health care literacy, and culture; physician-level factors such as bias, competing demands, and time pressure; plan-level factors such as cost-containment policies and practice guidelines; and sociological factors such as racism, community poverty, and diffusion of information patterns. Regardless of the cause, quality of care for a population cannot be improved if it is not specifically assessed.

To ensure that members of disparity populations receive appropriate state-of-the-art health care two major improvements are required. First, existing quality measures must be stratified or reported separately by population when there is evidence of disparate impact of the health condition targeted by that measure. Second, existing quality measures must be supplemented with measures that assess conditions or interventions likely to have a significant impact on that population. These changes must be incorporated without allowing proliferation in the number of quality measures to the point that quality reports are ignored by consumers and purchasers. Preparation and dissemination of health care quality reports must take into account the needs and preferences of the intended audience.

Review of quality measures currently in use shows that most are relevant to disparity populations. For example:

- All existing measures are relevant to racial and ethnic minorities. However, none is currently reported separately by race or ethnicity although the National Quality Forum has recently endorsed this critical step.⁸⁹ Population-specific reporting represents a central challenge to current quality assessment. In the absence of measurement, the core dimension of equity cannot be assured. Additional measures relevant to racial and ethnic minorities are needed. Examples are access to expensive technology, prevention and treatment of HIV/AIDS, and cultural competency.
- Most existing measures are also relevant to persons with low income; separate reporting for this population is also needed. Measures of health care affordability and adequacy of communication would be particularly relevant to low-income persons.
- Quality measurement for children lags behind adults, but significant progress has been made. Notable advances include the YAHC and CSHCN surveys. New measures are needed for newborn care, intensive care, and trauma care; also needed is development of consumer surveys in languages other than English.
- Many priority conditions for women are addressed by current measures. Other measures relevant to women—such as violence, mental health, and eating disorders—

are also relevant to a number of other disparity populations and require a firmer foundation in the scientific evidence before they can be implemented.

- Many existing measures also address major conditions affecting the elderly. A key challenge is the development and implementation of measures to address the myriad of problems confronting this population. Many of these gaps in measures for the elderly are addressed through the ACOVE project.⁹³ However, the large number of ACOVE measures precludes its widespread use.
- Rural and urban residents have many of the same health care needs as the general population. However, additional measures focusing on access to primary, secondary, and tertiary care are needed.
- There are no quality measures in use that specifically address the health care needs of disabled adults although the CSHCN survey demonstrates that it is feasible to assess quality of care delivered to disabled persons. Critical areas for disabled adults include access to primary and specialty care, coordination of care, and access to needed medications, supplies, and equipment.
- Many existing measures address the consumer perspective of living with illness. There is a need for measures that reliably assess relevant outcomes in management of chronic illness.
- There are no widely used measures for persons near the end of life. The FACCT measures under development show major promise. Further research is needed to identify pivotal processes in the care of this unique population.

Available data show that quality improvement can reduce if not eliminate disparities in health care. This has been shown for childhood immunizations, ⁹⁷ hemodialyis,⁹⁸ management of depression,⁹⁹ and influenza vaccination.¹⁰⁰ These findings offer promise for the elimination of many disparities in health and health care using existing technology and underscore the common pathway between improving quality and reducing disparities.¹⁰¹

I. Introduction

Background

National attention has focused on improving the quality of health care for all Americans and eliminating disparities in health and health care for members of vulnerable groups. Both the Institute of Medicine (IOM) and Commonwealth Foundation have released reports regarding racial and ethnic disparities in health care.^{3,102} In contrast, this report assesses the adequacy of currently used quality measures used for disparity populations. *Disparity populations* are defined as those groups for which there is a significant disparity either in the quality, outcomes, cost, or use of health care services or in access to or satisfaction with such services as compared to the general population.

Disparity populations include racial and ethnic minorities, persons with low income, rural and urban residents, children, women, persons living with chronic disabilities or illness, the elderly, and persons near the end of life. These populations are clearly not mutually exclusive but overlap considerably. Low-income persons, children, women, and persons living with disabilities and chronic illness are likely to be disproportionately minority. Similarly, minorities, women, children, elderly, rural and urban residents, and persons living with disabilities or chronic illness are more likely than nonminorities to be low income. Thus, it is not uncommon for members of a particular disparity population to contend with membership in other disparity populations. For example, 4.7 million Americans confront the triple jeopardy of low income, no insurance, and a chronic health condition requiring medical care.¹⁰³

Data for this paper were gleaned from multiple literature searches conducted using MEDLINE®, the National Center for Health Statistics, the Office of Minority Health, and Web sites for the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA), Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO), and Foundation for Accountability (FACCT). Manual bibliographic searches of key articles were used to supplement these searches. Because data derived from federally sponsored surveys tend to be methodologically stronger, these data were given priority when making epidemiological inferences. These surveys include the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS), the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS), the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS), the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (NHANES), and the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS). The limitations of vital statistics on racial and ethnic minorities have been reviewed elsewhere;^{10,104,105} only passing comments will be made in this report regarding these limitations.

A Framework for Assessing Quality in Health Care

An Institute of Medicine report in 1990 defined health care quality as: "the degree to which health care services increase the likelihood of desired health outcomes and are consistent with current professional knowledge."¹ Developing explicit criteria to assess

whether health care meets this definition is challenging. Health care quality has most often been evaluated using a combination of structure, process and outcome measures:¹⁰⁶

- *Structural measures* include appropriate credentialing of health care professionals, presence of appropriate policies and procedures, and appropriate staff-to-patient ratios.
- *Process measures* indicate whether and when particular interventions were delivered to particular groups.
- *Outcomes measures* indicate the results of the intervention in terms of health, such as recovery from illness, change in quality of life, adverse effects, and mortality.

Structural measures are easier to assess, but less clearly linked to outcomes. Ideally, health quality should be evaluated primarily based on patient outcomes; but even under the best of circumstances, health care is often only one of many factors that contribute to favorable health outcomes.¹⁰⁷ For these reasons, most quality measures focus on health care process.

A particular process measure should only be used to assess quality when current scientific evidence has conclusively established a causal link between a particular health care process and a particular health outcome.¹⁰⁸ When health outcomes are used as quality measures, it is critical that measures adequately account for the effects of other factors. For example, if rates of hospitalization for asthma are used to assess the quality of care for asthmatics, then the quality measure must account for differences in patient characteristics between health plans such as prevalence and severity of asthma or patients' ability to afford asthma medications.

Functions of Quality Measures

Quality measures serve two primary functions: accountability and quality improvement. They insure accountability for the health care provided when they are publicly reported. For example, quality performance data informs consumer selection of health care plans and contracting decisions by purchasers such as employers, health maintenance organizations (HMOs), and State and Federal Government. Quality data inform the accreditation process for health care organizations. Quality measures are also increasingly being used by payers to guide reimbursement to individual health care providers. When used to insure accountability, quality assessment is often termed "quality assurance." However, because the stakes are higher when the performance of health care organizations is publicly reported, it is critical that only the most rigorous and valid measures be used. Failure to do so undermines the process of public reporting of health care quality and unfairly penalizes many health care providers.

Quality measures serve a second vital function. They provide the foundation for internal quality improvement efforts. Hospitals and HMOs can use their own internal performance data to identify areas of suboptimal performance, explore potential causes, develop action plans, and monitor their progress. This function of quality assessment is termed "quality improvement." Because the stakes are lower for internal use of quality measures than for public reporting and because internal quality measures are often used as screens for potential problems (that warrant further study), less rigorous measures are often used for quality improvement.

Dimensions of Quality

The report by the Institute of Medicine, *Envisioning the National Health Care Quality Report*, outlined a useful conceptual framework for national health care quality.² It is based on two core dimensions: specific components of health care quality and consumer perspectives on health care needs. The first dimension comprises four components: safety, effectiveness, patient centeredness, and timeliness. The second dimension reflects changes in consumers' health care needs across the life cycle: staying healthy, getting better, living with illness or disability, and coping with the end of life (see Figure 1). Equity represents a key parameter that cuts across both dimensions and reflects differences in quality of care received by different groups; i.e., members of disparity populations.

	Components of health care quality			
Consumer perspectives on health care	Safety	Effectiveness	Patient centeredness	Timeliness
Staying healthy				
Getting better				
Living with illness or disability				
Coping with the end of life				

Figure 1. Matrix of the dimensions of health care quality

Source: Institute of Medicine, *Envisioning the National Health Care Quality Report*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2001.

Safety refers to the absence of errors in diagnosis or treatment, and the absence of delays or omissions in the initiation of appropriate diagnostic tests or treatment. Failure to follow up on an abnormal Pap test, for example, represents an error in safety related to staying healthy. Initiating treatment with a medication for a chronic condition in the presence of a contraindication represents an error in safety related to getting better.

Effectiveness refers to use of the appropriate intervention for the appropriate population. Failure to provide smoking cessation counseling to smokers or appropriate pain relief to a hospice patient could be construed as effectiveness errors.

Patient centeredness refers to the consumers' experience of the patient-physician relationship as caring, understanding, and characterized by partnership. Failure by health professionals to elicit the patient perspectives and preferences regarding cancer treatment represents a deficiency in patient centeredness.

Timeliness refers to the initiation and provision of care within an appropriate interval. Lack of timeliness can include unwarranted delays in the provision of preventive health services such as Pap smears or colorectal cancer screening, delays in appropriate diagnosis and treatment, and delays in the provision of appropriate end-of-life care such as discussion of transition to hospice.

As shown in Figure 1, use of the two quality dimensions results in a four-by-four matrix with safety, effectiveness, patient centeredness, and timeliness comprising four columns and staying healthy, getting better, living with illness/disability, and coping with the end of life comprising four rows. As the report indicates, every cell will not necessarily be of comparable significance to policymakers or consumers. Nor do existing quality measures necessarily correspond to every cell. As the IOM report also notes, most existing quality measures are primarily effectiveness measures. Measures of the other three quality dimensions, particularly safety, are much less developed.

Equity, or disparities in quality between groups, represents a cross-cutting dimension. It can be assessed by comparing rates within a given cell by race/ethnicity or income. For example, equity in effective interventions designed to keep consumers healthy can be assessed by comparing rates of annual mammography among women 40 and over according to income. Equity in timeliness related to getting better can be assessed by comparing rates of ruptured appendix by race or ethnicity. Equity together with the other components of quality can be used to insure health care quality for disparity populations.

Assessing Health Care Quality for Disparity Populations

Quality measures are needed for disparity populations for two reasons: to insure equity and to assess aspects of health care that are unique to a particular group.

Health care quality is not evenly distributed throughout the general population. Members of some groups receive better care than others. Although there is a significant gap between expected quality and the actual level of health care received by most Americans, this gap is much wider for many members of disparity populations. In some instances, this may be attributable to biologic differences and/or disease severity. For example, the elderly are less likely to have adequately controlled hypertension due to more severe hypertension, and children and adolescents are less likely to have their diabetes controlled than adults due to differences in type of diabetes. Some groups are at higher risk for substandard quality than are others. Although the reasons for this inequality in quality are complex, the bottom line is that quality measures applied to the general population will "hide" or mask deficiencies in quality provided to members of vulnerable groups or disparity populations. These population-specific deficiencies can only be identified when quality of health care to these groups is specifically assessed.

The second reason that measures developed for the general population may not be appropriate to a particular group is that the prevalence and health impact of different conditions may differ between populations. For example, cystic fibrosis is uncommon in African Americans compared with persons of northern European descent; the converse holds for sickle cell anemia. Thus, quality measures for cystic fibrosis are less relevant to African Americans. Similarly, quality measures for care of patients with sickle cell anemia are less relevant to persons of northern European descent. Breast cancer affects both women and men; but because the incidence of breast cancer in men is dramatically lower than in women, screening for breast cancer in men is not cost-effective. For these reasons, the quality of health care provided to groups at risk for suboptimal care needs to be specifically assessed using state-of-the-art measures.

The National Quality Forum (NQF) is a nonprofit, private organization whose mission is to develop and implement a national strategy for health care quality measurement and improvement. The NQF concluded,, based on a series of commissioned reports and workshops, that "better measurement and reporting are essential to improve health care quality for minority patients."⁸⁹ The NQF report made 10 recommendations related to this goal; these recommendations included separate reporting for racial and ethnic minorities and development of new measures.

Reasons for Addressing Disparities in Health Care Quality

There are a number of compelling reasons for assessing and addressing disparities in health care, particularly racial and ethnic disparities in health care. The first is moral. The recently released report from the Institute of Medicine strongly suggests that physician bias contributes to racial and ethnic disparities in health care access and quality.³ Bias in health care, whatever the cause, is morally indefensible. Racial and ethnic disparities in health care make national headlines because they defy our national consensus that race and ethnicity are not appropriate grounds for allocating organ transplants, life-saving cancer surgery, or cardiovascular procedures. Disparities in health care persist despite a consensus that they are deplorable. They persist because they are largely unseen. Health care disparities operate below the radar screen of standard quality measures. In the absence of appropriately collected data, they cannot be addressed. Although individuals or groups may perceive bias and discrimination in health care, in the absence of population-level data, complaints may be dismissed as anecdotal. Thus, a system for tracking and monitoring these disparities is required.

As discussed in detail below, consumer attitudes, preferences, and beliefs also contribute to disparities in health care. For example, mistrust on the part of minorities may deter minorities from consenting to invasive surgical procedures. However, such mistrust is often rooted in reality. Africans Americans are more likely to be operated on by cardiac surgeons with lower quality ratings.¹⁰⁹ Africans Americans are more likely to receive care from physicians in training than are whites. Trust can be restored by insuring that minorities receive comparable quality care. Preferences are affected by information as illustrated by the success of direct-to-consumer pharmaceutical marketing.

A second reason for addressing health care disparities is that their elimination represents a necessary, but not sufficient, step towards the achievement of the *Healthy People 2010* goal of the elimination of disparities in health. That is, while the elimination of disparities in health care will not insure the elimination of disparities in health, the failure to do so will insure that disparities in health persist.

A third reason for monitoring disparities is that disparities are incompatible with quality. Both the IOM and the NQF acknowledge equity as a core component of quality. High performing industries in the non-health care sector have achieved remarkable success using quality improvement technology to achieve both high overall quality and low variation in process and outcome. The NCQA and JCAHO are dedicated to similar achievements in health care quality. Each has developed benchmarks for which the quality of care provided by HMOs or hospitals can be assessed. Yet, until the quality of care for racial and ethnic minorities and other disparity populations is specifically

assessed, disparities will persist. This flaw makes it is possible for an HMO to achieve a high overall score on a particular quality measure while providing suboptimal care to vulnerable groups for whom the measure is most relevant. For example, there are large disparities by race in receipt of the influenza vaccine among the elderly. National rates for whites (60 percent) are higher than for blacks (40 percent).¹¹⁰ Consider an HMO comprised of 85 percent whites and 15 percent blacks. If the vaccination rate for whites is 80 percent compared to 60 percent for blacks, the overall rate of influenza vaccine is nonetheless a respectable 77 percent. Only by assessing relevant disparities in performance measures can these variations in quality be detected and addressed. The goal of eliminating disparities in health care is entirely congruent with the mission of organizations dedicated to improving health care quality.

A fourth reason to monitor and address health care disparities is that doing so represents sound public policy. Disparities often represent "reverse targeting" or the misallocation of health care resources away from populations with the greatest health care needs (i.e. minorities, lower income persons, and persons living with chronic illness and disabilities) to those with the least need. Disparities in use of invasive procedures represent a combination of inappropriate overuse among majorities and inappropriate underuse among minorities.¹¹¹ If one of the goals of health care is to promote improvements in population health, then health care must be appropriately allocated. Monitoring and eliminating disparities will help to minimize inappropriate allocation.

A fifth reason for monitoring the care provided to members of disparity populations is that quality improvement interventions can eliminate disparities. Hospitals and HMOs have active quality improvement programs in place. These programs represent ideal ways to assemble multidisciplinary teams who can design interventions to eliminate disparities in health care processes within the health care organization.

Finally, lessons learned from assessing and addressing health care quality for members of disparity populations may ultimately benefit all. Improved understanding of the contribution of physician and patient factors to racial and ethnic disparities in health care may also improve the care provided to nonminorities. Improved understanding of gender disparities in outcome measures may provide key insights into underlying disease mechanisms that may facilitate the development of more effective therapies.

Evaluating Quality Measures

Most quality organizations use similar criteria to evaluate candidate quality measures. Criteria for publicly reported measures typically include significance, scientific soundness, and feasibility.² Each is discussed below.

Significance

Quality measures must be significant to the population for whom the measure is applied. Measures are significant if they address a health care process or intervention that appreciably improves the overall health of a particular subpopulation. The intervention will have an appreciable impact only if it targets a condition that is prevalent and that has a major adverse impact on the health of the population in terms of survival, quality of life, disability, pain, or stigma. Significance means that there is strong scientific evidence, such as findings from randomized controlled trials, showing the intervention is effective. Significance also means that there is an appreciable gap in performance between current guidelines for care and care that is actually provided. Ideally, there should also be evidence that this gap in performance can be reduced or eliminated cost-effectively. In other words, there should be evidence that performance can be realistically improved and that costs associated with such improvement efforts are reasonable relative to the expected gains.

Scientific Soundness

Quality measures should meet scientific standards for validity, reliability, and comparability. A measure is valid insofar as it assesses what it purports to assess. A measure is reliable if it accurately measures the intervention in question and produces the same result upon repeated measurement. A measure is fair (between organizations or providers) when the measure provides for fair performance comparisons between health care organizations or providers. In other words, the measure primarily assesses the process or outcomes of health care rather than reflecting differences in consumer illness severity, preference, or adherence. When a measure does not adequately account for differences in illness prevalence or severity or other differences between groups, then comparisons between providers are meaningless and potentially harmful.

Feasibility

Last, measures should be feasible to implement and report. This means that the time and cost required to collect and analyze data in a timely manner are reasonable relative to the expected benefits of the quality assessment. Unfortunately, data are not always available in order to determine whether each of these criteria has been satisfied. At times, best estimates must be made.

Suitability of Existing Measures for Disparity Populations

Each of these three criteria is also relevant to assessing the suitability of existing quality measures for disparity populations. The criteria of significance, scientific soundness, and feasibility can be used to determine which quality measures are suitable for assessing health care quality for a particular disparity population. Most currently used quality measures have been validated by applying these criteria to the general population. Thus, attention should be given to potential differences between the disparity and general population in terms of significance, scientific soundness, and feasibility for a particular measure.

Significance for Disparity Populations

Significance is the first criterion for assessing relevance of an existing measure to a disparity population. It can be applied by asking three questions:

- 1. Is the prevalence and impact of the condition targeted by the quality measure comparable (or greater) in the disparity population than in the general population?
- 2. Is there evidence of disparity in quality for this measure between the disparity population and general population?
- 3. Are members of the disparity population at higher risk for adverse outcomes?

An affirmative answer to the first question suggests that the measure addresses a condition of significant impact to the particular disparity population. Most existing measures have been previously assessed based on their significance for the general population. In the absence of significant differences in disease prevalence, disease severity, and treatment between the general population and the disparity population, the measure is significant for the disparity population.

The presence of disparities in quality for a measure suggests the need to report findings for the disparity population separately from the general population. In other words, if there is appreciable evidence of a performance gap for the disparity population relative to the general population, the results should be stratified for this population.

When members of a disparity population are at higher risk than the general population for adverse outcomes, consideration should be given to reporting quality findings separately for the disparity population *even in the presence of parity in performance*. In other words, higher risk may justify separate reporting for that population. For example, Vietnamese women have five times higher rates of death from cervical cancer than white women. Simply because Vietnamese women may have Pap smears at comparable rates as white women is not sufficient to lump these groups together for quality reporting. Separate reporting for Vietnamese women in this case is needed to insure that Pap smear screening remains a priority among women at highest risk of death from cervical cancer.

Scientific Soundness for Disparity Populations

Measures that have been found to be scientifically sound for the general population are often scientifically sound for disparity populations. However, there are important caveats to this generalization. Self-report measures require independent validation in each population for which they will be used. For example, satisfaction measures developed for the general population may not be valid for ethnic minorities. Different groups may interpret questions differently or use different standards of reference. Furthermore, the effectiveness of treatments may differ between groups. For example, certain medications such as angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs) that have been shown to be effective for treating heart failure among whites may be less effective among blacks.¹¹² Other medications such as digoxin may be associated with greater risk of death in women than men.¹¹³ Unfortunately, there are often no data regarding the effectiveness of interventions for particular disparity populations.

Feasibility for Disparity Populations

Feasibility can be particularly challenging when existing measures are used to assess care for particular groups because the data needed to identify members of particular disparity populations are often lacking. For example, data regarding race, ethnicity, income, disability status, or the end of life are often lacking. These issues are discussed in detail in section IV.

II. Disparities in Health and Health Care

Racial and Ethnic Minorities

Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Health

Where possible, this paper uses the racial/ethnic classification categories in "Revisions to the Standards for the Classification of Federal Data on Race and Ethnicity" published by the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) in a *Federal Register* notice of October 30, 1997 [62 FR 58782-58790]. These categories are "black or African American," "American Indian or Alaska Native," "Asian," "Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander," and "white" for race, and "Hispanic or Latino" for ethnicity.

African Americans

African Americans have three times the poverty rate of whites. Their health outcomes are worse than those of any major racial or ethnic minority group in the United States. Blacks have higher adult and infant mortality than whites and other minority groups.⁴⁻⁶ They have significantly higher mortality rates than whites from cardiovascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, cancer (lung, colorectal, breast, prostate, cervical), pneumonia/influenza, diabetes, HIV, unintentional injuries, pregnancy, sudden infant death syndrome, and homicide.⁷ The primary disease-specific causes of black-white disparities are cardiovascular disease, HIV, stroke, cancer, trauma, and diabetes.¹¹⁴ Cardiovascular disease fully accounts for one-third of racial disparities in adult mortality.¹¹⁴ Racial disparities in mortality and health status differ widely between communities within the United States.^{115,116} Despite these differences in mortality rates, the leading causes of death for whites (Table 1) and African Americans (Table 2) are similar (although the exact order of causes may differ). Disparities in cause-specific mortality are highest for prostate cancer, diabetes, HIV infection, and homicide. Suicide and chronic lung disease are the only causes where African Americans experience lower mortality rates.

Hispanics

Hispanic Americans have higher death rates than non-Hispanic whites from liver disease, diabetes, HIV, and homicide, but lower rates from cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease and cancer (Table 3).⁷ Rates of death from stomach, liver, and cervical cancer exceed those of whites.⁹ Hispanic Americans are not a homogeneous group but represent persons or descendants of persons from many different Spanish-speaking countries with different cultures. Not surprisingly, health conditions differ between Hispanic subgroups. Puerto Ricans have higher rates of low birthweight infants than other subgroups,¹¹⁸ and Mexican Americans have higher rates of functional disability than whites.¹¹⁹ Despite these differences, the leading causes of death for Hispanics are generally similar to the white population (Table 3). Hispanics have lower rates of deaths from many causes than whites, but higher rates from diabetes, liver disease, HIV infection, and homicide.

Rank	Cause of death	Rate*
1	Ischemic heart disease	188.1
2	Stroke	59.4
3	Lung cancer	58.9
4	Chronic lung disease	47.7
5	Accidents	35.4
6	Prostate cancer	28.3
7	Breast cancer	27.7
8	Influenza and pneumonia	23.7
9	Diabetes mellitus	22.0
10	Colorectal cancer	20.8
11	Suicide	12.1
12	Liver disease	9.0
13	Homicide	2.8
14	HIV	2.3

Table 1. Leading causes of death for whites, 2000¹¹⁷

*Deaths per year per 100,000 persons adjusted for age.

Table 2. Leading causes of death for blacks, 2000¹¹⁷

Rank	Cause of death	Rate*	Risk relative to whites+
1	Ischemic heart disease	219.3	1.17
2	Stroke	82.4	1.39
3	Prostate cancer	65.3	2.36
4	Lung cancer	64.1	1.09
5	Diabetes mellitus	49.7	2.26
6	Accidents	38.4	1.08
7	Breast cancer	34.9	1.28
8	Chronic lung disease	31.7	0.66
9	Colorectal cancer	28.3	1.36
10	Influenza and pneumonia	25.8	1.09
11	HIV	23.7	10.30
12	Homicide	21.0	7.50
13	Liver disease	9.5	1.06
14	Suicide	5.6	0.46

*Deaths per year per 100,000 persons adjusted for age.

+ Rates calculated from available data.

Asians and Native Hawaiians or Other Pacific Islanders*

This group has lower death rates from each of the major causes of death except homicide (Table 4),⁷ but rates of stomach, liver, and cervical cancer exceed those of

^{*} Prior to the revised 1997 OMB standards, the two categories "Asian" and "Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander" comprised a single category, "Asian or Pacific Islander." This terminology is maintained in Table 4 and elsewhere applicable in reporting of findings in this report.

whites.⁹ Rates of tuberculosis for Asian/Pacific Islanders are more than 10 times the rate for whites.¹²⁰ Asian/Pacific Islanders (and Hispanics) are most likely to reside in counties that exceed EPA air quality standards.¹²⁰ Members of many different cultures comprise the Asian and Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander groups. Rates of illness differ markedly between subgroups. For example, overall death rates for Samoan Americans and Hawaiians are the highest of any minority group.¹²¹ Japanese Americans living in Hawaii also have higher rates of cancer than other Asian groups.¹²² Nonetheless, the leading causes of death are similar to those of the white population.

Rank	Cause of death	Rate*	Risk relative to whites+
1	Ischemic heart disease	128.8	0.68
2	Stroke	39.2	0.66
3	Diabetes	32.4	1.47
4	Accidents	30.6	0.86
5	Lung cancer	22.0	0.37
6	Chronic lung disease	17.7	0.37
7	Prostate cancer	17.6	0.64
8	Influenza and pneumonia	17.0	0.72
9	Breast cancer	15.8	0.58
10	Liver disease	15.7	1.74
11	Colorectal cancer	12.4	0.60
12	Homicide	8.4	3.00
13	HIV	7.0	3.04
14	Suicide	6.1	0.50

Table 3. Leading causes of death for Hispanics, 2000¹¹⁷

*Deaths per year per 100,000 persons adjusted for age.

+ Rates calculated from available data.

Table 4. Leading causes of death for Asians	or Pacific Islanders, 2000 ¹¹⁷
---	---

Rank	Cause of death	Rate*	Risk relative to whites+
1	Ischemic heart disease	109.0	0.58
2	Stroke	52.5	0.88
3	Lung cancer	28.9	0.49
4	Influenza and pneumonia	19.3	0.81
5	Chronic lung disease	18.5	0.39
6	Accidents	18.4	0.52
7	Diabetes	16.6	0.75
8	Colorectal cancer	13.0	0.63
9	Breast cancer	12.7	0.47
10	Prostate caner	12.4	0.45
11	Suicide	5.8	0.48
12	Liver disease	3.7	0.41
13	Homicide	3.1	1.11
14	HIV	0.7	0.30

*Deaths per year per 100,000 persons adjusted for age.

+ Rates calculated from available data.

American Indians/Alaska Natives

Hundreds of different tribes, each with different cultural traditions, comprise the American Indian/Alaska Native group. American Indians/Alaska Natives have slightly lower overall death rates than whites, including lower reported rates of death from cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, and cancer-related causes. However, deaths among American Indians are underestimated by more than 20 percent largely due to misclassification of race on death certificates.¹⁰ Thus, it is likely that the overall death rate for American Indians/Alaska Natives is actually higher than that for whites. Rates of disease and death for American Indians/Alaska Natives are higher than whites for pneumonia/influenza, liver disease, obesity, pediatric tuberculosis, bronchiolitis, diabetes, sudden infant death syndrome, diabetic kidney disease,^{11,12} unintentional injuries and homicide.¹³⁻¹⁷ American Indians and Alaska Natives have the highest death rate of any group from motor vehicle accidents. ¹²⁰ Rates of diseases and mortality vary between American Indian/Alaska Native groups although reliable data are sparse. For example, Pima Indians have the highest rates of diabetes in the world.¹²³ In general, the leading causes of death for American Indians/Alaska Natives are generally similar to those for whites (Table 5). Reported rates are lower than rates for whites for most causes except for diabetes, liver disease, HIV infection, accidents, and homicide.

Rank	Cause of death	Rate*	Risk relative to whites+
1	Ischemic heart disease	120.0	0.64
2	Accidents	59.6	1.68
3	Diabetes	41.4	1.88
4	Stroke	40.3	0.68
5	Lung cancer	32.7	0.56
6	Chronic lung disease	30.4	0.64
7	Liver disease	28.6	3.18
8	Influenza and pneumonia	19.5	0.82
9	Prostate cancer	16.9	0.61
10	Breast cancer	14.7	0.54
11	Colorectal cancer	13.0	0.63
12	Suicide	12.0	0.99
13	Homicide	8.1	2.89
14	HIV	2.7	1.17

Table 5. Leading causes of death for American Indians and Alaska Natives, 2000¹¹⁷

*Deaths per year per 100,000 persons adjusted for age.

+ Rates calculated from available data.

Causes of Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health

Much of the racial disparity in adult mortality,¹²⁴ but not infant mortality,^{19,125} is explained by the lower socioeconomic status (SES) of African Americans. African Americans, Hispanics, American Indians/Alaska Natives, and members of certain Asian/Pacific Islander groups have higher rates of poverty, lower rates of high school graduation, and are more likely to reside in impoverished communities.¹²⁶ Nonetheless, it is difficult to determine the reasons for racial or ethnic disparities in incidence, prevalence, or severity of disease because the exact causes of many of the diseases that disproportionately affect minorities are not known. It is likely that racial disparities result from the complex interaction between SES, racism, segregation, culture, and access to quality health care.^{18,19} In the absence of clear understanding of how these factors interact, it is difficult to assess the contribution of specific factors to disparities. It is probably safe to speculate that the salience of these factors differs by condition and by racial/ethnic group.

Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Health Care

Although the causes of racial and ethnic disparities in health are multifactorial, disparities in health *care* undoubtedly contribute to disparities in outcomes. Racial and ethnic disparities in health care quality have been extensively reviewed by others^{3,127} and will not be reviewed in depth in this report. Most research on health care disparities has focused on black-white comparisons. Other minority groups have received less study. However, data from Medicare managed care enrollees show that disparities in quality measures are largest among African Americans, smallest among Asians, and intermediate for Hispanics and American Indians.³¹ In general, disparities in health care can be viewed across the spectrum of health care: access, satisfaction, process or treatment, and outcomes.

Access

Eisenberg and Power outlined a series of access barriers or "voltage drops" between the receipt of potential quality health care and delivery.¹²⁸ Most of these access barriers are related to the dimension of timeliness such as delays or failure to obtain needed care. Potential barriers include lack of availability of insurance, cost of insurance, lack of informed choice of providers, and limited availability of primary care and/or specialty care. Most of these barriers disproportionately affect members of disparity populations. Minorities are more likely to be uninsured and less likely to have a regular source of care or access to specialty care.^{12,129} Blacks and Hispanics receive fewer mammograms,¹³⁰ Pap smears,¹³⁰ influenza vaccinations,¹³¹ and less prenatal care¹³¹ and report lower use of prescribed antihypertensives.¹³² Asians/Pacific Islanders receive fewer Pap smears, mammograms,¹³³ and influenza vaccinations.¹³¹ Native Americans/Alaska Natives receive the least prenatal care of any group.¹²⁰

Treatment

Racial disparities have been noted across most of the dimensions of health care process (effectiveness, safety, timeliness, and patient centeredness) and across most of the four consumer perspectives (staying healthy, getting better, living with chronic illness, and coping with end of life). African Americans receive less appropriate treatment for breast, lung, colorectal, and prostate cancer (getting better)^{20,21} and HIV infection (living with chronic illness);^{22,23} fewer antidepressants for depression (getting better);²⁴ less appropriate management of congestive heart failure and pneumonia (getting better);²⁵ poorer quality of hospital care (getting better);²⁶ fewer pediatric prescriptions (getting better);²⁷ fewer admissions for chest pain (getting better);²⁸ lower quality prenatal care (staying healthy);²⁹ and less adequate treatment of cancer pain (coping with the end of life).³⁰

Health care disparities among other racial and ethnic minorities have been less extensively studied. Nonetheless, evidence suggests that Hispanics, Asians/Pacific Islanders, and American Indians/Alaska Natives also receive suboptimal care in selected instances. Hispanics receive fewer cardiovascular procedures³² including re-perfusion therapy,^{33,34} fewer appropriate medications following a myocardial infarction, ³⁵ and less analgesia for metastatic cancer^{30,36} and trauma.³⁷ Asians/Pacific Islanders receive fewer Pap smears, mammograms,¹³³ influenza vaccinations,¹³¹ and invasive cardiovascular procedures.¹³⁴ American Indians/Alaska Natives have lower rates of mammography and poorer blood pressure control than whites³¹ and, as noted, receive the least prenatal care of any group.¹²⁰ Among Medicare HMO enrollees, African Americans show the largest disparities in quality followed by Hispanics and American Indians/Alaska Natives. In this population, Asians/Pacific Islanders receive higher quality care than whites.³¹

Outcomes

As indicated earlier, minorities, particularly African Americans, experience worse health care outcomes than non-Hispanic whites. Minorities tend to have higher rates of hospitalization for conditions that are potentially treatable.¹³⁵⁻¹³⁸ African Americans have higher rates of death from conditions that are potentially treatable¹³⁹ including lower rates of curative lung surgery resulting in higher lung cancer mortality,¹⁴⁰ lower rates of cardiovascular procedures resulting in higher death rates from myocardial infarction,¹⁴¹ higher rates of orchiectomy from late stage prostate cancer, and higher rates of limb amputations among diabetics.¹⁴²

There are limited data regarding racial and ethnic disparities in surgical complications. Blacks have been reported to have higher rates of mortality following coronary bypass surgery than whites^{143,144} and more complications following vascular surgery, glaucoma surgery, and endarterectomy.¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷ The extent to which these differences represent differences in health care quality as opposed to differences in disease is not clear. Having a chronic disease or major disability, particularly one related to mobility or major organ dysfunction, places one at higher risk for surgical morbidity and mortality. However, many hospitals do not have sufficient surgical volume to meaningfully compare rates of major surgical complications by subgroup. Thus limited statistical power and problems in case-mix adjustment make use of this measure problematic.

As indicated earlier, blacks have higher rates of preterm birth, low birth infants and pregnancy associated infections,^{148,149} in addition to other complications of pregnancy.^{150,151} The extent to which these outcomes are affected primarily by underlying differences in health care quality versus differences in disease is not known. For example, rates of post-partum endometritis are affected by rates of bacterial vaginosis^{152,153} which differs by race.¹⁵⁴ Nonetheless, complications related to pregnancy are quite relevant to women and children's health. Access to neonatal intensive care units (level III) may be particularly problematic for rural residents since these units are usually located in large metropolitan areas.

In several studies, minorities also report lower satisfaction with their ambulatory and hospital care.¹⁵⁵ Blacks report lower satisfaction, trust in their providers, and involvement in their own care than whites.^{80,82} Hispanics also report greater dissatisfaction with care than whites.⁸¹ One out of six Hispanics believes he or she received inferior care because

of ethnicity.¹⁵⁶ Spanish-speaking Hispanics are especially dissatisfied with the quality of physician communication.¹⁵⁷ Asians/Pacific Islanders rate physician primary care performance even lower than blacks or Hispanics.¹⁵⁸

Causes of Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Health Care

The causes of racial and ethnic disparities in health care are undoubtedly multifactorial. The relative contribution of particular factors probably differs according to the particular health care process, group, and region of the country. Contributing factors can be viewed at the patient, physician, health plan, and community/societal level.

Patient-level factors. Patient-level factors include job constraints,¹⁵⁹ child care demands,¹⁵⁹ skepticism toward medical care and physicians,¹⁶⁰ transportation,^{161,162} competing necessities, self efficacy, health literacy,¹⁶³ knowledge,¹⁶⁴ trust in physicians⁸² and health care institutions,¹⁶⁵ health beliefs,¹⁶⁶ and aversion to invasive procedures^{167,168} and preference.^{169,170} Patient-level factors are affected by presence and type of health care insurance,¹²⁸ availability of a regular source of care,¹⁷¹ comprehensible health care plan policies, location of health facilities, copayments and deductibles,¹⁷² prescription coverage,^{173,174} availability of medications in community pharmacies,¹⁷⁵ waiting times, presence of culturally competent staff, and availability of translation services.¹⁷⁶ Patients' knowledge, beliefs, attitudes, and behavior are influenced by culture, education, SES, mass media, pharmaceutical marketing,¹⁷⁷ prior experience, segregation,¹⁷⁸ racism,¹⁷⁹ and, most importantly, by information provided by physicians.

As discussed below, the relative influence of patient- versus provider-level factors may also depend on the type of health care service.

Physician-level factors. Physician- or provider-level factors are also important determinants of disparities. Although evidence clearly implicates physician bias as a contributor to disparities,¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸⁴ the nature of this bias is not clear. It is likely that such bias is largely unconscious, unthinking, and unintentional,^{3,185} and is not necessarily remedied by physician-patient racial concordance.¹⁸⁶ Providers are influenced by health care plan factors, including economic incentives and practice profiling, as well as by provider training, beliefs, and attitudes (including stereotyping) and patient demand.¹⁸⁷⁻¹⁹²

Physician bias—Balsa and McGuire have suggested three types of physician bias that may contribute to disparities. These include frank prejudice, clinical uncertainty, and stereotypes that result in self-fulfilling expectations.¹⁹³

- Overt prejudice implies that physicians consciously choose to provide minority patients with less adequate care simply because they are minority. No studies to date provide direct support for this hypothesis.
- Physician clinical uncertainty can result from suboptimal communication between physicians and patients.^{194,195,196} The greater the cultural and socioeconomic divide between physician and patient, the greater the risk of miscommunication.^{195,196} Balsa and McGuire show how less effective communication can produce "statistical discrimination" in the absence of true bias.¹⁹⁷ Recent data suggest that physicians can assist low literacy patients

improve control of their diabetes by confirming the patients' understanding of their treatment plan.¹⁹⁴

Physician stereotypes about patients may also generate disparities. For example, physicians may assume that poor or minority patients are less likely to adhere to treatment^{191,198} and, as a result, may be less likely to recommend a treatment or make a referral. Physicians may be particularly hesitant to recommend procedures to minorities when the costs and risks associated with the procedure are significant and the indications uncertain. Providers tend to engage in reverse targeting in terms of providing patient education. They often spend more time providing information to well informed patients and less time with less informed patients.¹⁸⁰ Physicians are less likely engage the active participation of less educated and minority patients in their own care.^{188,199} Both provision of relevant information and patient involvement in care improves adherence to treatment.²⁰⁰⁻ Thus, it is not surprising that less educated patients have lower rates of adherence to treatment.²⁰⁵

Competing demands—Physicians may provide less optimal care to minorities (as well as low-income persons and those with chronic illness or disabilities) due to competing patient demands during an office visit.²⁰⁶ When confronted with a greater number of patient problems, physicians spend less time on health habit counseling,²⁰⁷ smoking cessation,²⁰⁸ depression screening,²⁰⁹ and are less likely to recommend preventive services such as mammography or hormone replacement therapy.^{210,211}

Presumably the effects of physician and patient on care are reciprocal. Physicians fail to provide adequate information and actively engage low SES or minority patients in their own treatment because they believe minority patients are less likely to follow through and because they have more difficulty interpreting symptoms and preferences from minority patients. Minority patients in turn may decline treatment or fail to adhere to physician recommendations because they have not been adequately informed or don't trust the physician. In this way, physician behavior tends to confirm the physician's own stereotypes.

Type of health care service—The relative influence of patient- and provider-level factors may depend on the type of health care service. Patient-level factors may predominate for services that are largely dependent on patient compliance. These include keeping medical appointments, medication adherence, and complying with recommendations for preventive health services.²¹²⁻²¹⁵ Provider-level factors become increasingly relevant for health care processes that require active physician participation such as initiating a referral or performing a diagnostic or therapeutic procedure.²¹⁶ Provider-level factors are likely to be paramount when indications for a particular procedure are unclear and medical uncertainty is high.²¹⁷ Examples include hospital admission for chest pain,²⁸ and performance of certain diagnostic or therapeutic procedure such as angiography,²¹⁸ coronary artery bypass surgery,²¹⁹ total hip replacement²²⁰ and renal transplantation.²²¹ Physicians may be more susceptible to unconscious stereotyping and/or patient demand when confronted by medical or surgical uncertainty.²²² The net result is often a combination of underuse of the service by minorities and overuse by whites.^{111,221}

Diffusion of innovations—The concept of diffusion of innovations²²³ has particular relevance for understanding patient demand and provider recommendation for services. According to Rogers, "diffusion is a process by which an innovation is communicated through certain channels over time among a social system." A fundamental principle of human communication is that the exchange of information most often occurs between persons who are similar. Similarity refers to social status, education, employment, beliefs, and residence, among others.

Adopters of innovations can be grouped into ideal types: innovators, early adopters, early majority, late majority, and laggards. Depending on the type of innovation, diffusion occurs more quickly through some groups than others. For example, innovation in Rap music began among inner city African American youth, spread to young African American adults and then to white, suburban youth. In contrast, the diffusion patterns for innovations in medical technology such as laparoscopic surgery, coronary artery stents, angioplasty, and thrombolytic therapy are clearly different. Physicians in involved in clinical trials of these procedures represent innovators. Early adopters likely include physicians in academic medical centers who are associated with the innovators. Key physician opinion leaders who have contact with these early adopters promote diffusion of these new technologies within the medical community.²²⁴

Many factors likely affect which patients receive which innovations. Patients involved in clinical trials represent patient innovators. However, minorities, particularly African Americans, are less likely to participate in clinical trials;^{225,226} so fewer patient innovators will be African American. Minorities are less likely to have adequate insurance coverage and more likely to be insured through Medicaid, which may not provide adequate reimbursements for new technology.

Last, African American patients are less likely to encounter African American physician innovators and less likely to see a physician of the same race as a white patient. African American physicians are sometimes on the periphery of these diffusion networks. They are underrepresented among clinical researchers and less likely to be promoted within academic medical centers, even when equally qualified.²²⁷ Patients experience greater partnership and trust when they see a physician of the same race/ethnicity.⁸² Patients are more likely to accept a recommendations from physicians they trust.²²⁸

The concept of diffusion of innovations suggests that new medical procedures are more likely to be adopted by whites and better educated persons.^{229,230} This hypothesis has been recently confirmed using newly introduced hospital procedures.²³¹ Specific strategies designed to improve diffusion of innovations to lower socioeconomic and marginalized populations have been developed.²²³

Plan-level factors. Plan-level factors affect disparities primarily through their effect on access. These factors include size of copayments and deductibles, location of services, cultural diversity of the work force, gatekeeping mechanisms, use of practice guidelines, and quality improvement activities.

Community/societal factors. Community and societal factors include availability and eligibility for public and private insurance, cost of insurance, residential segregation

patterns, availability of safety net providers such as community health care centers and hospital clinics, and availability of minority physicians.²³²⁻²³⁴

The elimination of disparities in health care will not be an easy task and will likely require a combination of patient-targeted, community-targeted, physician-targeted, and health system-targeted interventions.¹⁷⁶ Regardless of the intervention, continuous, reliable, current data regarding a particular disparity will be required to monitor progress toward its elimination.

Summary

In summary, one may say there is relatively little variation in the leading causes of death between racial and ethnic and majority and minority group members although African Americans generally show higher overall rates of death from these causes. These findings suggest that quality measures chosen on the basis of prevalence in the general population are, with a few notable exceptions, likely to prove relevant to minorities. Racial and ethnic disparities in health care quality have been well-documented, particularly for African Americans. Although the reasons for these disparities are complex, their continued existence necessitates monitoring of the quality of health care for those groups for which disparities have been shown.

Persons With Low Income

Together with age and gender, SES represents a key determinant of population health. Income represents one of the three standard measures of SES in addition to education and occupational status. Recently, Oakes and Rossi proposed a modified conceptual framework for SES based on Coleman's social theory.²³⁵ Briefly, they conceptualize SES as access to resources in three domains: material capital, human capital, and social capital.

- Material capital refers to material assets such as homes, cars, earnings, savings, stocks, bonds, and anticipated wealth such as inheritance or trusts.
- Human capital refers to both fixed endowments such as innate ability, appearance, and drive, but also to education, training, and other acquired skills.
- Social capital refers to access to social networks, social obligations to and from others, information channels, norms, and social status effects.

Income, education, and occupational status roughly map on to each of these domains. This framework highlights the myriad of ways that income or any other measure of SES may potentially affect access to and use of health care as well as health.

Socioeconomic Status and Health

Well designed studies have documented powerful effects of individual SES on subsequent health, including mortality.^{4,38-40} This effect extends up the SES hierarchy and does not simply represent a poverty threshold. The effect of SES on health and mortality is global; it cuts across different ages,²³⁶ diseases, and causes of mortality.^{237,238} There are few diseases that are specific to persons with low SES. Low SES is associated with increase in mortality that generalizes across all major causes of death.¹¹⁴ In other words poorer persons experience the same diseases as more affluent persons but often at an

earlier age. For this reason, quality measures selected for the overall population are likely to prove relevant to low-income persons.

Explanations for the effect of SES on mortality are likely complex.⁴¹ Socioeconomic differences in health behavior such as smoking, body weight, and diet contribute modestly to socioeconomic differences in mortality.^{38,39,41} Additional explanations focus on differences in childhood trauma, family stress, neighborhood effects, work environment, psychological stress, hostility, sense of control, and beliefs and attitudes related to SES.⁴¹⁻⁵²

Income and Health Care Quality

Lower SES, as measured by income or education, has been extensively linked to lower health care quality. Like race/ethnicity, it affects health care access, process, and outcomes. In many instances, it is not clear whether suboptimal care results from reduced access to care or from lower quality in process of care. For example, low income is associated with receiving fewer Pap smears, mammograms,^{53,54} childhood and influenza immunizations,²³⁹ and diabetic eye examinations⁵⁶ and with later enrollment in prenatal care. ⁵⁷ These deficiencies could result from problems in accessing care due to cost, transportation, language, etc. They could also represent failure on the part of the providers to recommend these services. However, based on a study of direct observation of care provided by family physicians in Ohio, there are few difference in the content of care provided based on patient educational level.¹⁹⁹

Other studies show clear differences based on patient SES. Low-income patients receive lower intensity hospital care⁵⁸ and receive fewer cardiac procedures and have higher mortality following these procedures⁵⁹; they also receive lower quality ambulatory⁶⁰ and hospital care,²⁶ including fewer prescriptions for aspirin and for provision of thrombolysis for myocardial infarction.⁶¹ For example, the quality of care for angina, dyspnea on exertion, hearing impairment, and depression was assessed by gender, race, age, income, health status, and locale. In this study based on NHANES data, only low income was associated with receipt of deficient care.²⁴⁰ Similarly, BRFSS data show that persons with low income are less likely to receive mammography, Pap smears, protoscopic examination, influenza and pneumonia immunizations, and cholesterol checks.²⁴¹

Differences in health care quality and access translate into worse outcomes. Uninsured patients have poorer health status and higher mortality, independent of income, education, and other factors.^{242,243} Rates of preventable hospitalizations are significantly higher among lower income children and adults.^{136,138,244} Low-income persons have higher mortality following cardiovascular procedures. Low income has also been associated with lower patient satisfaction in some, ^{245,246} but not all, studies.²⁴⁷

Factors Contributing to Socioeconomic Disparities in Health Care

Affordability

Explanations of the relationship between SES and health care quality are not fully understood. However, affordability is undoubtedly one of the most important factors mediating the relationship between material capital and health care. Health care affordability is not simply a problem for the 41 million Americans without health care insurance, but also affects those with Medicare, 173 Medicaid, 248 and private insurance 172,249,250

Human and Social Capital

Human and social capital also influences health care through job constraints,¹⁵⁹ child care demands,¹⁵⁹ attitudes,¹⁶⁰ beliefs,²⁵¹ transportation,¹⁶¹ waiting times, copayments, competing necessities, self-efficacy, literacy,¹⁶⁵ knowledge,¹⁶⁴ assertiveness,¹⁹² and diffusion of information through media and social networks.

Effects of Low Literacy

Low literacy levels represent an underappreciated contributor to socioeconomic disparities in health care quality.²⁰⁵ The inability to read or perform basic computations represents a major barrier to accessing and effectively navigating the health care system. A growing body of literature links low literacy to poor health care and worse outcomes.¹⁶³ According to a report on health literacy by the Council on Scientific Affairs of the American Medical Association, patients with greatest health care needs often have the least ability to read and comprehend health care information.¹⁶³ The 1992 National Adult Literacy Survey, the most comprehensive and reliable survey of literacy in the United States, showed that nearly one-quarter of the adult population is functionally illiterate and another quarter have marginal literacy skills. In other words, nearly 50 percent of the U.S. population manifest significant deficiencies in reading or computational skills.²⁵²

These findings are corroborated by studies in health care settings. Among patients at two public hospitals, Williams and colleagues reported that one-third of patients could not read or understand health-related materials.²⁵³ More than 40 percent could not comprehend directions for taking medications on an empty stomach, 25 percent could not understand information on an appointment slip, and 60 percent could not understand a standard consent form. Among elderly managed care enrollees, 27 percent to 44 percent of seniors had inadequate or marginal functional literacy skills.

Low literacy is associated with less knowledge regarding smoking risks,²⁵⁴ preventive health care, ^{251,255,256} contraception, ²⁵⁷ chronic illnesses, ²⁵⁸⁻²⁶⁰ and adherence to antiretroviral therapy.²⁶¹ The relationship of literacy to health care process and outcomes has not been as well studied as SES and race/ethnicity. Low literacy has been strongly linked to worse health status, ^{260,262,263} more diabetic complications, ²⁶⁴ and higher rates of hospital admission.^{165,262,265} In fact, low literacy may be more strongly associated with health status than years of education.²⁶² It may also be a stronger predictor of preventive care, at least among the elderly, than educational level.²⁶⁶ In two studies, low literacy explained the relationship between stage of prostate cancer at diagnosis and black race.^{267,268} These findings suggest that literacy may explain to some extent racial/ethnic and socioeconomic disparities in health and health care. Health literacy has also been linked to diabetic outcomes. For example, after controlling for age, race/ethnicity, education, language, insurance, drug and alcohol use, depression, social support, and diabetic education, lower health literacy was associated with higher glycosylated hemoglobin levels and more frequent complications including retinopathy and cerebrovascular disease.²⁶⁹

The pathways through which literacy affects health have not been fully examined. However, there are several plausible mechanisms. Information diffuses more slowly to those with low literacy. Consequently, persons with low literacy are less knowledgeable and less informed about health care.^{251,254,255,257-260} Improved knowledge is associated with improved adherence to HIV and diabetic medications, and adherence to treatment is the single most important predictor of outcomes for these conditions.²⁰⁵ Although both the JCAHO and NCQA have developed guidelines to improve communication with patients with low literacy,^{270,271} many health care organizations have not fully complied.²⁷²⁻²⁷⁴

Moreover, low literacy is not only associated with lower levels of comprehension for written comprehension, but also extends to lower oral comprehension.²⁷⁵ Low literacy is associated with a smaller vocabulary and reduced problem solving abilities.^{258,259} In fact, literacy seems to promote cognitive complexity, which in turn improves comprehension and problems solving²⁷⁶ and ability to function in everyday life.²⁷⁷ Low literacy may also be associated with less adequate descriptions of medical symptoms;²⁷⁸ so physicians may have greater difficulty arriving at a correct diagnosis. Conversely, persons with low literacy report greater frustration with physician communication and responsiveness.²⁷⁹

Diffusion of accurate health care information to persons with low literacy may be hampered not only by reduced access to written information, but also by reduced access to networks of well informed peers. Finally, low literacy is associated with reduced self-efficacy and greater shame,^{280,281} while empowerment has been strongly linked to improved health.²⁸² Given these associations, it is not surprising that persons with low literacy are less likely to seek out preventive health.^{251,255} Nor is it surprising that patients with chronic illnesses who have low literacy have less knowledge about their diabetes, hypertension, asthma, or HIV infection.²⁵⁸⁻²⁶⁰ Thus, it is hardly surprisingly that low literacy is associated with lower patient adherence to treatments.²⁶¹

In summary, low literacy represents a major barrier to quality of care.²⁸³ Although further study is needed, it is likely that literacy is associated with each of the four dimensions of health care quality: effectiveness, safety, timeliness, and patient centeredness. Patients with low literacy may benefit from greater patient centeredness. In particular, physicians should spend more time exploring patients' understanding of their illness and their comprehension of physician explanations and recommendations.²⁸³ Only by actively eliciting the full participation of marginalized patients will physicians be successful in establishing an effective patient-physician partnership.¹⁸⁸

Physician Factors

Physician factors also contribute to disparities in care. Previous studies have shown that physician communication with lower SES patients is less effective.²⁸⁴ Physicians provide less information, ^{183,285,286} less exercise counseling,²⁸⁷ write fewer prescriptions,²⁸⁸ and recommend less intensive followup²⁸⁹ to low-income patients. They also perceive persons with low income as less compliant.¹⁹¹ Bias towards the poor is not uncommon. The more affluent respond to the poor through cognitive and behavioral distancing.²⁹⁰ Such distancing by physicians may affect the quality of care they provide to low-income persons in addition to bias and competing demands.

Implications for Quality Measurement

The implications for monitoring quality of care provided to persons with low income are both similar and different than for minorities. Although persons with low income die younger, few conditions are specific to low-income persons. In other words, by and large, lower and higher socioeconomic persons are subject to the same illnesses; lower SES persons tend to experience them more frequently and at a younger age,²⁹¹ presumably as a result of greater cumulative stress.⁴⁰ For this reason, quality measures developed for the general population are appropriate for low-income persons. Quality measures stratified by socioeconomic position should target areas where disparities in health care processes have been documented.

In addition, quality measures should assess the disproportionate impact of various cost-containment policies on persons with low income. For example, do rates of prescriptions requiring copayments filled by consumers differ by socioeconomic position? Are there differences by socioeconomic position in the perceived burden of copayments on access to needed care? The role of literacy in health care suggests a need for health care plans to systematically evaluate literacy rates among their members and to consider examining quality measures by literacy level. Last, use of mailed surveys may not be appropriate to assess quality among populations with low literacy. Instead, inperson interviews in which health care jargon is explained may be needed to more accurately assess the health care experiences of persons with low literacy.

Children

Children are more likely to live in poverty than adults or the elderly. According to U.S. census data, 37 percent of children live in low-income families and 16 percent live in poverty.⁶² Two in five minority children live in poverty. Assessing health care quality for children is particularly challenging. Children are not simply little adults. They differ from adults in fundamental ways that affect their health care and the assessment of health care quality.²⁹²

First, the type and prevalence of disease differs sharply between adults and children. Mortality rates for adults are nearly 20 times the rates for children,⁷ and the leading causes of death differ between children and adults.⁷ Leading causes of infant death include congenital anomalies, prematurity, pregnancy and birth-related complications and sudden infant death syndrome (Table 6). Accidents, cancer, suicide, and homicide represent leading causes of death for older children (Table 7).

Second, the focus of health care is different for children. Pediatric care is largely devoted to the first stage of the continuum of care: staying healthy; office visits focus on disease prevention, health promotion, and treatment of acute, self-limited illnesses. In contrast, adult health care, particularly elderly care, often involves management of chronic conditions such as hypertension, diabetes, depression, arthritis, and coronary artery disease.

Third, childhood is characterized by rapid physical, social, emotional, and cognitive development; care is intended to maximize future well-being. Thus, the impact of well-child care is difficult to adequately assess.

Fourth, children, especially younger children, are dependent on parents or caregivers for access to health care and much of the medical history is obtained from the parents.

Quality measures based on response to surveys often rely on parents as proxy respondents for their children; so parental perceptions may bias reports of child's health.

Last, the demographic characteristics of children differ from those of adults. Until the development of the State Children's Health Insurance Program (SCHIP), children were more likely to confront more difficulties accessing health care than adults.²⁹³ Children are more likely to be poor and minority, and minority children have lower rates of recommended well-child care than whites.²⁹⁴ Differences in health by SES begin in childhood.²³⁶

Rank	Cause	Mortality rate*	
1	Congenital malformations, and chromosomal abnormalities	141.5	
2	Prematurity	108.3	
3	Sudden infant death syndrome	62.2	
4	Pregnancy complications	34.6	
5	Placenta, cord, and membranes	26.2	
6	Respiratory distress syndrome	24.6	
7	Accidents	21.7	
8	Sepsis	18.8	
9	Circulation	16.3	
10	Нурохіа	15.5	

Table 6. Leading causes of death children under 1 year of age, 2000

* Deaths per year per 100,000 persons.

	Ages 1-4	Rank	Ages 5-9	Rank	Ages 10-14	Rank	Ages 15-19	Rank
Congenital malformations and chromosomal	3.3	2	1.0	3	1.0	5	1.1	6
abnormalities Accidents	12.1	1	7.0	1	8.0	1	34	1
Cancer	2.8	3	2.5	2	2.6	2	3.7	4
Homicide	2.3	4	0.7	5	1.2	4	9.6	2
Heart disease	1.2	5	0.5	6	0.8	6	2.0	5
Influenza & pneumonia	0.7	6	0.2	9	0.2	10	0.3	8
Blood infections	0.7	7	0.2	8	-		-	
Birth complications	0.5	8	1.0	4			-	
Tumors (In situ, benign or unknown)	0.3	9	0.3	7	0.2	9	-	
Chronic lung disease	0.3	10	-	-	0.5	7	0.4	7
Stroke	-		0.1	10	0.3	8	0.3	9
Suicide	-		-		1.5	3	8.2	3
Diabetes	-		-		-		0.2	10

Table 7. Leading causes of death for children ages 1-19 years, 2000

*Deaths per year per 100,000 persons.

These differences between children and adults necessitate development of childspecific quality measures. Because the nature and prevalence of health problems for children differ by age, different measures will be required for different ages.

Given the primary health care needs of children, pediatric quality measures tend to focus on staying healthy. However, not all children are healthy. Twenty million children live with chronic conditions.²⁹⁵ The most frequent chronic conditions among children include asthma, allergies/sinusitis, atopic dermatitis, attention deficit disorder, and learning disorders. These conditions differ by race and ethnicity. For example, rates of asthma are higher among African Americans and certain Hispanic groups.²⁹⁶ Rates of disability and mortality for blacks with asthma are nearly double those for whites.²⁹⁷⁻²⁹⁹ Black children have higher death rates from congenital heart disease than white children.³⁰⁰ Hispanic children have higher rates of dental caries and are at risk for behavioral and developmental disorders, diabetes, obesity, and asthma.³⁰¹ Asian/Pacific Islanders also appear to have worse asthma outcomes than whites.³⁰² Obesity rates are especially high among African American and Mexican American children.³⁰³ Poverty among children is strongly linked to poorer mental health,³⁰⁴ and minority and uninsured children have high unmet needs for mental health services.³⁰⁵ Children with chronic conditions are twice as likely as other children to have had at least one unmet health care need, such as dental care, prescription medications, eyeglasses, and mental health services. They also were more likely to have been unable to get needed medical care or to have delayed obtaining medical care because of worry about its cost.³⁰⁶ Children with chronic conditions were at greater risk for unmet needs than were children without conditions across all income levels.³⁰⁶

Although most children are healthy, 4 million children suffer from chronic disabling conditions.³⁰⁷ Children who are disabled and minority are more likely than white children to be without health insurance coverage, to be without usual source of care, and to be unable to get needed medical care.³⁰⁸ Minority children with special health care needs are less likely than whites to have seen a physician but more likely to be hospitalized during the past year.³⁰⁸ Specific quality indicators are needed to monitor the care provided to these children with special needs. Examples of these conditions include congenital heart disease, cerebral palsy, chronic renal failure, sickle cell anemia, cystic fibrosis, severe asthma, childhood cancer, major mental illness, severe developmental delay, and mental retardation.

Women

The relationship between gender, health, and health care is complex. On the one hand, the life expectancy of women exceeds that of men by more than 6 years.⁶³ Women experience lower age-adjusted rates of coronary artery disease and have lower rates of accidental death and suicide.⁷ On the other hand, women report lower health status and higher rates of psychological distress and experience higher rates of selected diseases, particularly those thought to have an auto-immune etiology such as systemic lupus erythematosis, rheumatoid arthritis, and multiple sclerosis. The major conditions affecting women based on prevalence, disability or mortality are cardiovascular disease, unintended pregnancy, osteoporosis, breast cancer, mental health, violence, lung cancer, cervical cancer, and obesity/eating disorders.⁶⁴ The leading causes of death differ only slightly by gender (Table 8).

Gender disparities in use of expensive technology have been extensively documented.⁶⁵ Most notably, women have lower rates of cardiovascular procedures,⁶⁶ but it is not clear whether these disparities primarily represent underuse by women or overuse by men,⁶⁷ or differences in age or other confounders.⁶⁸ In other cases, there is clear evidence of worse care for women. For example, women are less likely to receive appropriate medications such as aspirin and beta blockers following a myocardial infarction.^{61,35} They are less likely to receive an organ transplant^{69,70} (despite more female donors),⁷¹ and less likely to receive adequate treatment for pain.⁷²

Men		Wor	nen
Rank	Cause of death	Rank	Cause of death
1	Heart disease	1	Heart disease
2	Cancer	2	Cancer
3	Stroke	3	Stroke
4	Accidents	4	Chronic lung disease
5	Chronic lung disease	5	Diabetes
6	Diabetes	6	Pneumonia and influenza
7	Pneumonia and influenza	7	Alzheimer's disease
8	Suicide	8	Accidents
9	Kidney failure	9	Kidney failure
10	Liver disease	10	Blood infection

Table 8. Age-adjusted causes of death by gender, 2000

*Deaths per year per 100,000 persons adjusted for age.

Gender bias in transplantation recommendation by nephrologists has also been documented.³⁰⁹ Women may also have lower rates of colonoscopy,³¹⁰ and may be less likely to receive new HIV medications than men.^{311,312} In other instances, women show improved access to health care. They make more visits to physicians and receive more health care than men.³¹³ They have better continuity of care,³¹⁴ ask more questions during physician visits,¹⁸⁰ and report more involvement in care.¹⁸⁸

Although studies on gender disparities in health care are mixed, disparities become more pronounced with the intersection of gender, race, and SES. Schulman et al. showed that primary care physicians, when confronted with identical scenarios, were less likely to recommend coronary angiography to black women compared to white men, white women, or black men.¹⁸⁴ Similarly, medical students rated the quality of life lower for black women compared to white men and were less likely to recognize women's anginal symptoms.¹⁸²

Much of health care to younger women involves reproductive health. These needs include family planning, vaginal infections, pregnancy, birth, and menopause. In the United States, roughly half of all pregnancies are unintended and nearly half of all women of reproductive age have experienced an unplanned pregnancy.³¹⁵ More than 40 percent of all U.S. women report having had a pregnancy termination.³¹⁵ Despite the high prevalence of unintended pregnancy and pregnancy termination, access to these services is often limited for many women. Insurance coverage for contraception and availability of pregnancy termination services is often limited in many health care plans and/or communities. A survey by the Alan Guttmacher Institute showed that nearly half of traditional indemnity (fee-for-service) health plans failed to cover any of the five leading

prescription contraceptive methods (oral contraceptives, IUD, diaphragm, Norplant, or Depoprovera) and only 15 percent covered all five.³¹⁶ Among HMOs, only about 40 percent covered all five methods. Only half of all indemnity plans covered annual gynecologic examinations. Furthermore, many women reside in communities in which no physician provide pregnancy termination. Almost one-third of women reside in a county where with no elective or emergency pregnancy termination services.³¹⁷ Some women must travel out of state to obtain a safe termination of a pregnancy. A state-by-state report card on women's health noted that there has been a 30-percent decline in the number of providers offering pregnancy termination since 1988.³¹⁸

Most health care plans do not provide coverage for mental health services comparable to coverage for medical services. Three out of four health plans place restrictions on mental health care services such as high copayments that are not applied to medical care.³¹⁹ These policies disproportionately affect women because rates of depression in women are double those in men.³²⁰

Rural and Urban Residents

Rural Residents

The U.S. Bureau of the Census classifies persons living in communities of less than 2,500 persons as "rural." Based on this definition, more than 60 million people are rural residents. A 2001 report by the National Center for Health Statistics compared the health and health care of rural-urban residents. ⁷ In general, suburban residents experience better health than either rural or urban residents. Rural residents experience higher rates of death by motor vehicle accident, accidental injury, suicide, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and degenerative arthritis.^{7,321} Rural residents also have higher rates of admission for alcohol dependence, greater limitation in activities, and greater tooth loss. However, rural residents tend to be older and poorer than suburban residents. Most of the rural-suburban disparity in health is explained by these differences, but unique occupational and environmental exposures clearly contribute to worse rural health.

Given the concentration of physicians in larger metropolitan areas, it is not surprising that rural residents often experience reduced access to health care. In addition to travel time,³²² rural residents are often confronted by high rates of no health insurance. Compared to urban and suburban residents, rural residents have lower rates of enrollment in publicly sponsored health insurance including Medicare, Medicaid, and SCHIP. Presumably, lower enrollment reflects the greater stigma associated with government sponsored programs within rural communities. Rural employers offer health insurance less often.³²³ Racial disparities in access to care may be even greater in rural areas.³²⁴ Migrant farm workers represent a particularly marginalized and vulnerable health care population. Although federally sponsored migrant health care continuity virtually impossible.

Health care in rural communities is hindered by current Medicare payment policies. Payments to rural hospitals and providers are lower than fees to suburban providers for comparable procedures. Medicare utilization is significantly lower among rural residents.³²⁵ These barriers, in addition to greater travel time, hinder access to care for rural residents. Medicare beneficiaries living in isolated rural counties report more difficulties seeing a physician and more often lack a usual source of care.³²⁶ Access to needed services for the disabled in rural communities are also problematic.³²⁷

There is little, if any, reporting of health care quality based on geography. Barriers to assessing rural health care quality include small sample sizes, limited data availability, difficulties in appropriately defining rural health service areas, rural population preferences, and the lower priority of formal quality-of-care assessment in shortage areas.³²⁸ Nonetheless, research shows lower use of cancer prevention and dental care,^{329,330} lower rates of prenatal care³³¹ and lower quality diabetic care.³³² Rural residents travel longer distances for physician visits and for hospitalizations.⁷ Travel time has been linked to lower quality treatment for depression³³³ and lower use of health care.³³⁴ Nearly three out of four rural residents travel to urban areas for HIV care.³³⁵

The quality of specialized inpatient care in rural areas may be lower because of reduced volume for technological procedures and reduced opportunity to affiliate with academic medical centers.²⁶ Hospital volume has been linked to survival after myocardial infarctions³³⁶ and rates of success from highly technological procedures such as endarectomy.³³⁷ Quality of care for myocardial infarction may be worse in some rural hospitals,³³⁸ and rates of revocation/suspension of physician privileges are higher among rural hospitals although the reasons for these differences are not clear.³³⁹

Urban Residents

Urban residents, particularly those in inner cities, often reside in communities with high levels of poverty, unemployment, adolescent pregnancy, and violent crime. Increases in poverty have been greater in cities between 1980 and 1990 than in counties despite greater concentrations of wealth in cities.³⁴⁰ The percentage of minority femaleheaded households and violence strongly correlate with child poverty and low birth weight rates in cities, but not in counties.³⁴⁰ Poverty in community of residence has been shown to have effects on health beyond individual measures of poverty.³⁴¹ The urban poor also confront higher levels of environmental hazards including lead exposure, air and noise pollution, toxic waste, and cockroach infestation.³⁴²⁻³⁴⁵ Although many poor communities are located near major medical centers, access to primary care is often limited. Central city communities have experienced more than a 20-percent drop in the number of hospitals since 1980.³⁴⁰ Public hospitals have experienced more than a 40percent decline in numbers. Furthermore, most federally designated health manpower shortage areas are located in inner city and rural communities. Federally funded migrant and community health centers currently provide care to nearly 11 million residents in these communities. Data show that community health care centers provide care comparable if not superior to other providers and reduce racial/ethnic and geographic disparities in care.^{346,347} However, many of these centers are on the brink of insolvency; more than half experienced deficits between 1997 and 1999 in part due to low payments from managed care.³⁴⁸ Similarly, greater managed care penetration into urban communities is associated with reduced access to hospitals and specialists by minority physicians,³⁴⁹ fewer physicians providing charity care to indigent patients,³⁵⁰ and higher rates of uninsurance among persons with low income.³⁵¹

Persons With Disabilities or Chronic Disease

Persons With Disability

Disabilities and chronic disease are not synonymous. Disability refers to a limitation in function that often, but not always, results from chronic illness. For example, many members of the deaf community do not consider deafness an illness or a disease. Similarly, the presence of a chronic illness may or may not affect function and result in disability.

The proportion of persons who are disabled in the general population depends on the level of restriction used to define disability. Rates range from 15 percent for persons with some activity limitation to 4.6 percent of persons who are unable to carry out their major activities.³⁵² Disabled adolescents are at higher risk for emotional distress³⁵³ and health-related behavior including suicide attempts, sexual abuse, smoking, alcohol use, and drug use.³⁵⁴

Persons with disabilities typically confront two generic problems: access to care and coordination care.³⁵⁵ Access barriers can be physical, cognitive, communicational, or social. For example, many offices are not wheelchair accessible. Limitations of vision, of hearing, and of cognition may not only affect physical access but also affect doctor-patient communication. Most offices do not provide deaf interpreters. The presence of multiple chronic conditions is associated with lower provision of preventive care³⁵⁶ and lower satisfaction with health care.³⁵⁷ Women with limitations in mobility and other disabilities have lower rates of Pap smear and mammography screening.^{330,358} Children with spina bifida receive fewer immunizations.³⁵⁹ Disabled persons are often socially stigmatized. Physicians may decline to accept disabled patients and office staff may shun them.

Intersection With Other Disparity Populations

Typically, disability and chronic illness intersect with membership in other disparity populations including minority status, low income, rural or urban residence, or age (children or elderly).³⁶⁰ The disabled are disproportionately poor and unemployed. According to a 1994 Lou Harris poll, 25 percent of disabled persons never graduated from high school, 59 percent had household incomes under \$25,000 per year, and 71 percent were not employed. Disabled women have less informal support than disabled men.³⁶¹ Disabled persons have greater out-of-pocket expenses for health care.³⁵⁵ Disabled persons with major functional activity limitations are less likely to be employed and have private health insurance.³⁵⁵

Deaf Persons

Little research has been done on the deaf persons despite the unique access barriers faced by this population. Deaf persons comprise two distinct populations based on whether or not deafness preceded speech. Prelingually deaf persons often use American Sign Language and have low levels of literacy. They have lower levels of smoking³⁶² and lower levels of health care utilization than the general population.³⁶³ Collecting data from consumer surveys is challenging because of low literacy levels and reduced telephone access among prelingually deaf persons.³⁶⁴

Persons With Chronic Illness

Persons living with chronic disease are twice as likely to experience bad health days as others, and they experience additional burden if they have low income, less education, or have diabetes or heart disease.³⁶⁵ Data from AHRQ's Medical Expenditure Panel Survey show that hypertension, heart disease, asthma, and diabetes are the most prevalent chronic illnesses. Significant numbers of persons living with chronic illness report they are not able to obtain needed medical care. For example, nearly one-third of persons with depression and more than one-quarter of persons with asthma report they were not able to obtain needed care.³⁶⁵ Not surprisingly, persons with chronic disease fare no better and at times worse in terms of engaging in recommended health behaviors. For example, rates of smoking among persons with asthma, diabetes, coronary artery disease, and hypertension are 27 percent, 19 percent, 17 percent, and 25 percent, respectively, compared to national rates of 23 percent.³⁶⁵ Rates of binge drinking are slightly lower than the national average, but rates of physical inactivity are higher.³⁶⁵ A significant portion of persons with chronic illness report they have not been counseled by their physician to engage in health-promoting behavior. One-third report they were never advised to quit smoking, two-thirds were never counseled regarding exercise, and nearly 9 out of 10 at-risk drinkers were never advised to cut down or quit drinking.³⁶⁵ Similarly, a significant portion also report they received little education regarding disease management.³⁶⁵

Access among disabled minorities is worse than among disabled whites. With similar disabling conditions, blacks user fewer services, particularly prescription and physician services.³⁶⁶ These effects are not fully explained by differences in income or health.

Many persons with chronic illnesses report they are not able to obtain needed services.³⁶⁵ Two-thirds report they cannot obtain needed home health services or transportation. One-half report they cannot obtain counseling or rehabilitation services and 40 percent could not obtain special medical equipment. Common barriers include inability to afford medication, long waits to obtain an appointment, and lack of coordination of care between providers.³⁶⁵

Care for persons with disabilities or chronic illnesses may require longer physician visits due to problem complexity and/or barriers in communication. Disabled persons enrolled in Medicare have greater limitations in activities, worse health status, lower incomes, and worse access to care than elderly Medicare beneficiaries.³⁶⁷ Primary care providers often must coordinate care with multiple providers. Medicaid or Medicare frequently does not adequately reimburse providers for the costs of this care, and significant numbers of physicians have stopped taking new Medicare patients. Similarly, there are financial disincentives for HMOs to enroll disabled persons since their health care costs are typically higher.³⁶⁸ As a consequence, disabled persons frequently report they are unable to obtain needed health care.^{367,369}

Health care is also problematic for persons with chronic mental illness. Many physicians' offices are not compliant with standards established by the Americans with Disabilities Act.³⁷⁰ In general, there is a dearth of research related to the quality of care for persons with disabilities.

Unlike the relative plethora of quality measures for persons with chronic illness, there are few measures for persons with disabilities. Whereas persons with chronic illness can be identified from administrative data using diagnostic codes, most administrative data do

not include measures of function or disability.³⁷¹ Nonetheless, data continue to show that care provided to persons with chronic illnesses such as diabetes, hypertension, congestive heart failure, and coronary artery disease is suboptimal.³⁷²

Elderly

Given the wide range in function and morbidity, the elderly, more than any other population, represents each of the consumer perspectives on health care: staying healthy, getting better, living with chronic illness, and coping with the end of life. Aging is strongly associated with morbidity and mortality; so the prevalence of chronic disease and disease sequelae increase sharply with age. In contrast to younger persons, the elderly are often, but not always, confronted by multiple chronic conditions often requiring multiple medications.⁷³ Safety of medication prescription becomes paramount. Not infrequently, impairments in vision, hearing, mobility, and cognition result in disability that significantly diminishes function that may affect access to quality health care. Given the age-related differences in epidemiology, there is clearly a need for measures that are specific to the elderly or, at a minimum, effectively address care related to chronic conditions and disabilities. Standard screening measures may not be appropriate for persons with less than 5 years life expectancy⁷⁴ and may result in inappropriate diagnostic evaluations that provide no benefit.⁷⁵ Among the elderly, there is also a particularly strong need for quality measures that assess coordination of care between providers.

Persons Facing the End of Life

Dying persons are particularly vulnerable to receiving inadequate care. Their health care needs are unique. There is minimal overlap with the other consumer perspectives of staying healthy, getting better, or living with chronic illness. Rather the focus is maximizing the physical, psychological, social, and spiritual comfort of the dying person. In other words, the primary goal of palliative care is to help the person die with dignity.⁷⁶

The context in which persons die likely affects the quality of care they receive. A number of studies have documented suboptimal care for terminally ill patients,^{30,36,77,78,78} including children.⁷⁹ Age is associated with more advance planning and less aggressive care.³⁷³ A number of organizations have called for development of quality measures for end-of-life care. The American Geriatrics Society has proposed 10 domains for promoting health care quality to patients at the end of life that have been endorsed by 42 organizations.³⁷⁴ These domains include physical and emotional symptoms, support of function and autonomy, advance care planning, patient and family satisfaction, aggressive care near death, global quality of life, family burden, survival time, provider continuity and skill, and bereavement. However, many of these domains have not been shown to be clearly altered by medical intervention.³⁷⁵ Morrison et al. have suggested that development of quality measures focus on three areas: relief of pain and other symptoms, advance care planning, and patient and family satisfaction.³⁷⁵ Each of these outcomes has been shown to be potentially amendable to health care intervention. However, well validated, reliable measures for each are needed. As discussed later in this report, FACCT is currently developing measures in these domains. In summary, there is a pressing need for quality measures to assess end-of-life care.

III. Review of Current Quality Measures

This section reviews the relevance of established quality measures for each of the disparity populations. Large numbers of quality measures are available, many of which can be accessed through the National Quality Measures Clearinghouse^{*}, a database sponsored by AHRQ. A comprehensive review of every proposed quality measure is beyond the scope of this report. Instead, this review will be confined to well established, quality measures that are in widespread use by hospitals, HMOs, and other health care organizations. Most of these measures have undergone an extensive process of development that includes a comprehensive review of the scientific literature; reliability, validity, and feasibility testing; and establishment of standard specifications for use.

Among the most widely used quality measures are:

- The Health Plan Employer Data and Information Set (HEDIS), used by the National Committee for Quality Assurance, which accredits HMOs.
- ORYX, a set of process measures used by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations for hospitals, nursing homes, and other health care organizations.
- The Health Care Quality Improvement Program (HCQIP) measures used by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services in cooperation with Peer Review Organizations (PROs).
- The Foundation for Accountability measures, which have been adopted by some HMOs.

In addition, two other widely used measure sets assess consumers' experience of health care, particularly focusing on patient centeredness and satisfaction with care. Sources of these measures, which are relevant to most disparity populations, are:

- CAHPS® (Consumer Assessment of Health Plans), a series of health care consumer surveys targeting different populations, including a set of core surveys for adult and child health in addition to supplemental surveys.
 CAHPS® was developed by AHRQ in collaboration with Harvard University, RAND, and the Research Triangle Institute.
- The Picker Inpatient Survey, which is similar to CAHPS[®]. It assesses the consumer experience of hospital care.

This section is divided into three major parts. First, research relating to racial and ethnic disparities in the experience of health care is briefly summarized. This is followed by a description of the quality measures currently in use. Finally, the relevance of existing quality measures to disparity populations[‡] is discussed in detail, using the IOM framework for quality presented in section I.

^{*} The National Quality Measures Clearinghouse and other AHRQ quality initiatives, including AHRQ's recently revised quality indicators (QIs), are briefly discussed in Appendix A.

[‡] Quality measures relevant to racial/ethnic minorities, children, women, and the elderly are summarized, by consumer perspective, in Appendix B, Tables B1-B4, respectively.

Racial and Ethnic Disparities in the Experience of Care

There are conflicting research results regarding racial or ethnic differences in the experience of health care. In several studies, minorities report lower satisfaction with their ambulatory and hospital care.^{80,155,376-378} For example, in the Community Tracking Survey 1996-97, blacks reported lower satisfaction and trust in their providers.⁸⁰ They also report lower involvement in their own care than whites,⁸² and have higher rates of hospital discharge against medical advice.³⁷⁹ Nearly one-fourth of blacks believe they received inferior care based on their race.¹⁵⁶ These beliefs may not be unfounded. In at least one study, physicians reported less favorable attitudes towards black patients.¹⁹¹

Hispanics also report greater dissatisfaction with care than whites, ⁸¹ particularly for physician communication when the consumers has limited English proficiency.¹⁵⁷ One out of six Hispanics believe they have received inferior care because of their ethnicity.¹⁵⁶ Asians/Pacific Islanders consistently report lower satisfaction levels than other groups.^{158,380,381} Persons with disabilities, chronic disease, and mental illness also report lower satisfaction.^{357,382} In many,^{82,383,384} but not all studies,³⁸⁵ racial concordance between physician and patient has been associated with improved sense of participation and improved perceived quality of care. ⁸² Greater patient involvement in care has been shown to predict better patient outcomes.^{204,386,387}

Other studies have shown little difference in patient satisfaction by race/ethnicity. ^{158,388} In a study using the Picker Inpatient Survey and CAHPS®, racial and ethnic disparities in ratings were modest. ³⁸⁹ African Americans report similar levels of satisfaction as whites. Asians reported lower ratings on specific aspects of care, but similar overall satisfaction scores as whites. Hispanics' ratings were intermediate between whites and Asians.

Adult CAHPS® measures show few significant differences by race or ethnicity. Only Asian-American/Pacific Islanders rated their care lower than the other groups.³⁹⁰ In the California study of CAHPS®, Hispanics and Asians who spoke English at home gave similar ratings as whites in contrast to those who did not speak English at home.³⁸⁹ There are also relatively few differences in child CAHPS® by race. Minorities report comparable ratings of their children's overall care as nonminorities, but report worse access (getting needed care and timeliness).³⁹¹

The reasons for relatively few differences by race/ethnicity in CAHPS® ratings are not known. There are a number of potential explanations. First, it is possible that there are few meaningful differences by race/ethnicity in the process of care assessed by CAHPS®. However, it is difficult to reconcile this explanation with findings showing differences in satisfaction by race and ethnicity. Possibly, CAHPS® fails to capture key constructs such as trust and partnership that have been shown to differ by race/ethnicity. Second, sampling error may account for absence of differences. High rates of nonresponse to CAHPS® (40-50 percent) may bias findings.³⁹² For example, dissatisfied minorities be may less likely to respond to surveys than dissatisfied whites. Third, racial/ethnic differences in response patterns may obscure important differences—that is, members of different racial and ethnic groups may interpret the questions differently, thus blurring potential differences in experience. Last, racial/ethnic differences in expectations or standards of performance may confound ratings. Unfortunately, there are few data upon which to evaluate these competing explanations. Despite these caveats, CAHPS® represents an important first step towards monitoring and addressing the experience of care for all consumers. Clearly, research is urgently needed to clarify these critical issues.

There are no appreciable gender disparities in satisfaction based on 1999 HEDIS/CAHPS® data.³⁹³

Major Existing Quality Measure Sets

HEDIS

HEDIS "is a set of standardized performance measures designed to ensure that purchasers and consumers have the information they need to reliably compare the performance of managed health care plans."³⁹⁴ HEDIS has been criticized because it addresses fewer than half of the leading underlying causes of morbidity and mortality, such as dietary habits, activity levels, or alcohol abuse.³⁹⁵ Unfortunately, quality measures that address each of these underlying causes and adequately satisfy the criteria of significance, scientific soundness, and feasibility have not yet been developed. For example, obesity and inactivity represent major determinants of population health. However, there are few medically based interventions that have been shown to significantly improve these risk factors.

Existing HEDIS indicators were initially developed by Measurement Advisory Panels (MAPs) using criteria similar to those described earlier for selection of measures. MAPs consist of experts in various related fields who develop and recommend new measures to the HEDIS Committee for Performance Measurement. It is the latter group—which includes consumers, purchasers, quality experts, and health plans—that determines which measures are implemented as HEDIS indicators.

HEDIS include a series of *effectiveness* measures related to prevention (e.g., breast cancer screening, immunizations, cervical cancer screening, etc.), and disease management (for diabetes, hypertension, asthma, etc.); *access/availability* of care and *use of services* (number of visits by age group and availability of interpretation services, use of procedures); *satisfaction with the experience of care* (based on CAHPS®); *informed health care choices* (e.g., discussion of hormone replacement options); and *plan stability* (in the past, this has included rates of disenrollment by plan). Currently only the effectiveness, access, and satisfaction measures are publicly reported. Both accreditation by NCQA and public reporting of measures are voluntary. HMOs with lower HEDIS scoring tend to stop publicly reporting their performance.³⁹⁶

ORYX

Although JCAHO has lagged behind NCQA in the development and application of outcome measures, it has recently introduced them into the accreditation process. JCAHO has approved the first five core quality measure sets for the Hospital Accreditation Program termed ORYX. These include measures for acute myocardial infarction (including coronary artery disease), heart failure, pneumonia (community-acquired), surgical procedures and complications, and pregnancy related conditions (including newborn and maternal care). A number of measures included in the acute myocardial infarction, heart failure, and pneumonia measure sets are derived from the CMS's

HCQIP, discussed below. Each of these appears appropriate for members of disparity populations as discussed earlier in this report.

CMS and the Health Care Quality Improvement Program

In September 1998, CMS (formerly the Health Care Financing Administration, or HCFA) proposed three principles to the committee planning the National Forum on Quality to guide CMS's national performance measurement strategy. These principles were:

- 1. Performance measures should be consumer and purchaser driven.
- 2. Performance measures and the collection tools needed to collect them should be in the public domain.
- 3. The content and collection of data and performance measures derived from that data should be standardized.

CMS's current quality initiatives include HEDIS, the Medicare Health Outcomes Survey (based on changes in the SF-36 scores over time), CAHPS®, the Disenrollment Survey (which queries beneficiaries about their experiences and reasons for leaving a health plan), end stage renal disease (ESRD) clinical performance measures (a set of process measures relating to provision of dialysis), outpatient measures for diabetes (claims-based measures for diabetes), and a hospital core performance measurement set under development.

In 1992, the CMS and the PROs that are contracted to conduct quality assessments initiated the Health Care Quality Improvement Program. HCQIP projects focus on six national clinical topics. CMS chose these areas based on their public health importance and the feasibility of measuring and improving quality. The management guidelines for these clinical conditions are evidence based. As the following review shows, each of these measures is relevant to most disparity populations. However, these measures pertain primarily to adults because only children with qualifying disabilities and persons with ESRD are Medicare eligible.

FACCT

The Foundation for Accountability is a not-for-profit organization devoted to providing consumers with improved health care information.³⁹⁷ FACCT has developed eight quality measures that relate to adult asthma, alcohol misuse, breast cancer, diabetes, major depressive disorder, health status, health risks (smoking cessation), and consumer satisfaction. Measures for end-of-life care, HIV/AIDS, and pediatrics are under development. In contrast to HEDIS effectiveness measures that focus on primarily on health care process, most of the FACCT measures include both process and outcome measures. Most of the data for these measures are collected through consumer surveys. The main limitations of this approach are potential biases in self-report that may differ by disparity population, potential bias in who responds to surveys, and confounding of outcome measures by unmeasured patient characteristics.

CAHPS®

As previously noted, CAHPS® includes both core and supplemental surveys on which consumers rate various components of care. Core topics include enrollment/coverage, access, provider relationship, overall rating, utilization, communication/interaction, plan administration, health status, and demographics (age, gender, highest educational level, race, and ethnicity). Supplemental topics include communication with providers, interpreter services for hearing-impaired and foreign language speakers, dental care, mental health care, care for chronic conditions, pregnancy care, prescription medicines, and transportation, among others. The surveys, which are available in English and Spanish, include items that reflect patient centeredness and timeliness and, to a lesser extent, effectiveness and safety.

Following the release of the first version of CAHPS®, the CAHPS® survey and the NCQA Member Satisfaction Survey were merged. NCQA now requires health plans to use the new questionnaire comprised of the core survey and the HEDIS supplement for HEDIS reporting and NCQA accreditation. This new NCQA instrument is called CAHPS® 2.0H. ARHQ publishes benchmarks for each item, which are adjusted for respondent's age, health status, and education.

CAHPS® represents an important advance in assessing health care quality provided to vulnerable groups. Two CAHPS items, "getting needed care" and "health plan information and customer service" are associated with health care plan quality based on HEDIS effectiveness measures.³⁹⁸ Given the combination of generic and group specific items, CAHPS® is relevant to each of the disparity groups. It is unique in that it is the only HEDIS measure that specifies the collection of race/ethnicity and data on socioeconomic status. It is also unique in that it assesses patient centeredness, along with access and availability of interpretation services. Plans could easily begin stratifying CAHPS® items by race/ethnicity and SES although larger samples will be necessary to generate more reliable estimates for these subgroups.

Picker Inpatient Survey

The Picker Inpatient Survey is similar to CAHPS® in that it assesses the consumer experience of hospital care. It assesses eight dimensions of care: access to care; respect for patients' values, preferences and expressed needs; coordination and integration of care; information, communication, and education; physical comfort; emotional support and alleviation of fear and anxiety; involvement of family and friends; and transition and continuity. It also collects data on age, gender, race, ethnicity, and educational level. Both adult and children versions of the survey are available.

Given the inherent value of consumer reports of their experience of ambulatory and inpatient care, strong consideration should be given to reporting these measures by race, ethnicity, income, disability status, and possibly by place of residence.

Relevance of Existing Quality Measures to Disparity Populations

Quality measures are grouped below according to whether they address the consumer goal of staying healthy, getting better, living with chronic illness, or preparing for the end of life. Within these groups, measures are further categorized by effectiveness, timeliness, patient centeredness, or safety. In instances where a measure fits into several categories, the most suitable category has been selected.

Discussion of each quality measure begins with a brief introduction. The relevance of each measure to each disparity population is discussed including risk for developing the condition targeted by the quality measure. Evidence for disparities in treatment based on each measure for different disparity populations is cited. Last, the need for separate reporting of the quality measure for each population is addressed. The original criteria of significance, scientific soundness, and feasibility of these measures are not routinely discussed unless they are especially relevant for a particular disparity population because these criteria have been used in the selection and development of the measures for the general population.

Staying Healthy

Timeliness

The NCQA has developed a number of the HEDIS measures related to access to and availability of care in addition to use of services. Measures for access or availability of care reflect the dimension of timeliness. They include access to prenatal care, well-child care, well-adult care, and dental care, as well as translation services and information necessary to make informed decisions. Most of these measures related to access and availability of care address conditions that disproportionately affect members of many disparity populations for whom access is often problematic. Racial and ethnic minorities experience worse first contact primary care including longer waiting times and more difficulties obtaining an appointment.¹²⁹ Black adults make 40 percent fewer office visits as whites.²³³ Among children less than 12 months of age, whites made 33 percent more total visits and 77 percent more well child visits than blacks.³⁹⁹ Among children ages 1-4, whites made 47 percent more total visits and 25 percent more well-child visits. Among children ages 5-14, the rates were 53 percent and 88 percent higher for whites. Similar disparities have been reported based on other data.^{400,401} Black and Hispanic women are less likely to initiate prenatal care in the first trimester than whites.²³⁷ Rates of prenatal care enrollment are the lowest for American Indians.²³⁷ Similarly, blacks are much less likely than whites to have had a had dental visit in the past year.²³⁷ Persons with chronic illness and disabilities have greater need for health care, but they often face greater access problems because of their disability. For example, many physicians' offices are not accessible to persons with mobility limitations.³⁷⁰ Given the health care access problems confronted by members of many disparity groups, even among those with health insurance,⁴⁰² these measures are highly appropriate for persons with chronic disease and disabilities, minorities, low SES persons, elderly persons, and rural and urban residents. Stratification by each of these groups is indicated.

Availability of language/interpretation services is particularly relevant to Hispanics and Asians and Native Hawaiians and other Pacific Islanders who not only comprise the first and third largest minority groups, but also include many immigrants. In a national survey, nearly one-third of the Hispanics preferred to be interviewed in Spanish.⁴⁰³ Limited English fluency is associated with lower rates of satisfaction with physician communication.¹⁵⁷ Deaf persons represent both a disability group as well a group with their own language (American Sign Language) and culture.⁴⁰⁴ Deaf persons confront unique access problems. In the absence of Telecommunications Device for the Deaf (TDD, also known as TTY) phone lines, ⁴⁰⁵many deaf persons cannot easily make an appointment, and in the absence of deaf interpreters, cannot easily communicate with their physicians. Prelingually deaf persons have lower rates of health care utilization than the general population.³⁶³ Clearly there is a need for public reporting of validated measures of availability language/interpretation including TTY services.

Patient Centeredness

HEDIS 2001 also includes a measure designed to assess the extent to which consumers have been provided with sufficient information to make informed health care decisions. These measures reflect patient centeredness. For example, women are surveyed as to whether they were counseled about the risks and benefits of hormone replacement therapy and other treatments for menopause. The measure assesses several aspects of counseling, including whether women received any counseling, the breadth of counseling, and whether or not their counseling was personalized to take into account personal and family history, concerns and preferences. Osteoporosis is one instance in which disease prevalence is lower for black women compared to white women.⁴⁰⁶ Black women express greater skepticism about hormone replacement therapy⁴⁰⁷ and receive fewer prescriptions for it during menopause.⁴⁰⁸ Given the recent findings that show hormone replacement therapy is associated with higher risk of heart disease and breast cancer among women,⁴⁰⁹ this skepticism appears justified.

Nevertheless, given that minorities express a reduced sense of partnership,⁸² it is important to assess the extent to which consumers are informed about options. Assessment of informed choice is also very relevant to the elderly and persons with chronic disease and disabilities, who are often confronted with complex decisions. Consideration should be given to developing a similar measure for Prostate Specific Antigen (PSA) testing, a screening test for men for prostate cancer. Death from prostate cancer is significantly higher among blacks than any other group.²³⁷ Although use of the test is controversial,^{410,411} recent data suggest that early surgical intervention reduces death from prostate cancer.⁴¹² A measure designed to assess informed decisionmaking regarding prostate cancer would be particularly relevant to black men.

Effectiveness

FACCT's Young Adult Health Care (YAHC) survey measures and NCQA's HEDIS assess the quality of preventive health care in dimensions of effectiveness, timeliness, and patient centeredness and are relevant to nearly all disparity populations. These measures address screening for breast and cervical cancer, alcohol misuse, elderly health status, immunizations (child, adolescent, and adult), Child Dev, chlamydial disease screening, teen confidentiality, diet, emotional health, exercise, smoking, sexual activity, and other risk behaviors. Many of these measures address conditions that disproportionately affect minorities and poorer persons. These measures should be reported separately by race, ethnicity, and income.

FACCT has led development of the Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative (CAHMI). It represents a collaboration between AHRQ, NCQA, the American Academy of Pediatrics, Children Now, CDC, the Health Resources and Services Administration's Maternal and Child Health Bureau, and more than 50 other consumer organizations, public agencies, researchers, and health care plans and providers. CAHMI represents a set of quality measurement tools designed to improve the quality of care for children and adolescents. Most of these measures are derived from consumer surveys.

The FACCT measures address three key groups: children with special health care needs (CSHCN, previously discussed), Child Dev, and teen health (preventive health care).⁴¹³ As previously discussed, assessment of the quality of care to disabled persons is particularly challenging, and when the disabled person is a child, even more so. In response to this challenge, a CSHCN measure was developed from the CAHMI. The CSHCN measures address two key challenges in assessing quality of care to consumers with disabilities: identifying disabled persons and obtaining a sample of sufficient size to generate meaningful estimates of quality of care. The CSHCN measures addresses the first challenge through use of five screening questions to determine whether the child has particular limitations or sequelae, whether these sequelae result from a medical or other condition, and whether the duration or expected duration of limitations is 2 months or more.⁴¹⁴ In order to increase the power to detect meaningful effects, the survey combines the responses across children with different conditions. The survey is based on the CAHPS® and uses CAHPS® methodology and scoring protocols.⁴¹⁵ If a child screens positive for disability, then the parents are asked to complete a supplemental series of questions similar to CAHPS® that include ability to obtain needed medications or specialty care, receipt of family-centered care, having a primary physician or nurse who knows the child, and appropriate coordination of care and services. The CSHCN measures have been validated and are currently available on the Web.⁴¹⁵ HEDIS has approved use of CSHCN for HEDIS 2002. Given the unique needs of these children, these measures fill a critical void in quality measures for children and suggest potential methodology for assessing health care provided to disabled adults.

Provision of well-child care falls far short of preventive guidelines promulgated by the American Academy of Pediatrics and Bright Futures. Only 40-70 percent of care meets standards.⁴¹³ Minority children experienced poorer quality of primary care across most domains of care compared with white children while Asian American children reported the lowest quality of care across most domains, especially in first-contact utilization, interpersonal relationship, and comprehensiveness of services received.⁴¹⁶ The CAMHI measures for early childhood address age-appropriate anticipatory guidance and parental education; health information provided on safety tips, child care, child health care utilization, and Child Dev; followup on risks for developmental delay; assessment of parental well-being and safety; assessment of alcohol and drug use in the family; provision of family-centered care; and effect of anticipatory guidance on parental confidence.⁴¹³

Previously, there were no measures specifically designed to assess adolescent health. The YAHC survey was developed as part of CAHMI. The 56-item survey assesses the quality of health care received by adolescents over the past year in the following domains: counseling and screening to prevent risky behaviors, to reduce sexual activity and sexually transmitted diseases (STDs), to improve diet and exercise activity, and to promote emotional health and healthy relationships; care provided in a confidential and private setting; preventive health information; helpfulness of counseling; and experience of care (based on CAHPS[®]). These measures fill an important gap in pediatric quality measures.

In addition, use of Guidelines for Adolescent Preventive Services in Community Health Centers have been shown to improve performance on these measures.⁴¹⁷ Rates of substance abuse are higher among lower SES adolescents⁴¹⁸ and rates of STDs are higher among minority youth.⁴¹⁹ Given prior studies showing disparities in preventive counseling,⁴²⁰ CSHCN, early childhood, and YAHC should be stratified by race/ethnicity and SES.

These measures are primarily designed to assess the quality of clinical care based upon commonly accepted standards of care such as those set forth by the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force and other national organizations. HEDIS does not currently report its measures by race/ethnicity or SES although some of the measures are gender or age specific.

Childhood immunization status. This measure assesses the percent of children who are up to date by 2 years of age on recommended immunizations. The mean scores for HMOs range from 47 percent to 87 percent depending on the combination of vaccinations given.⁴²¹ Minority children tend to have rates of childhood illnesses as high as, if not higher than, rates for white children. Rates of invasive pneumococcal infections and hepatitis B are higher among black and low-income children.^{422 423} Asian children have higher rates of infection with hepatitis B.⁴²³ Recently released 1999 data from the National Immunization Survey show that black, Hispanic, American Indian/Alaska Native, and, in some instances, Asian/Pacific Islander children aged 19-35 months have lower immunization rates than white children.⁴²⁴ In most instances, black children and those living in poverty have the lowest rates. Black-white gaps in childhood immunizations range from 5.5 percent for four series of DTP to none for varicella. Use of reminder/recall interventions in urban primary care practices have been shown to eliminate geographic, racial, and ethnic disparities in childhood immunization rates.⁹⁷ The childhood immunization measures are appropriate for all children regardless of racial or ethnic background or urban or rural residence. Because minority and low-income children are at higher risk for childhood infections and for under-immunization, these measures should be stratified by race/ethnicity and SES.

Adolescent immunization status. This measure assesses the percent of children 12 and older who are up to date with vaccines for measles/mumps/rubella (MMR), hepatitis B (HBV), tetanus (Td), and varicella. The mean scores for HMOs range from 14 percent to 59 percent depending on the combination of vaccinations.⁴²¹ Rates of immunity among military recruits to measles, mumps, and rubella are lower among blacks.⁴²⁵ Rates of hepatitis B infection are higher among black adolescents than white adolescents.⁴²⁶ Complications from these infections can result in lasting sequelae and, in some instances, death. HEDIS data show that persons from predominately black and low-income communities have lower rates of adolescent immunizations.⁴²⁷ This measure is relevant for all adolescents regardless of racial or ethnic background or urban or rural residence. Both higher risk and lower rates of immunization among minority and low-income adolescents suggest a need to stratify these measures by race/ethnicity and SES.

Alcohol misuse. Three dimensions of health care related to alcohol abuse are assessed: health care plan population screening for alcohol misuse, routine assessment, and satisfaction with alcohol screening/counseling. Rates of alcohol misuse/abuse from the BRFSS are appreciably higher among American Indians/Alaska Natives than whites, but lower among blacks and Asians.¹² Rates of alcohol abuse are slightly higher among lower SES persons. Rates of binge drinking are very high among adolescents.⁴²⁸Hospital detoxification admissions for alcohol dependency are higher among rural residents.⁷ The overall effect of alcohol misuse on minority and rural health is substantial, including higher rates of accidental death, homicides, cancer, and liver disease among blacks, Hispanics, and American Indians/Alaska Natives.⁷ Thus, alcohol misuse is highly relevant to most disparity populations. Further study is needed to assess disparity in this measure.

Chlamydia screening in women. This measure assesses the percent of females who have been screened for chlamydia in the past year. The measure is applied to age groups of women: those 16-20 and 21-26. The mean score for HMOs in 2000 was 16 percent.⁴²¹ The CDC estimates that roughly 3 million cases of chlamydia occur annually.⁴²⁹ Most women are asymptomatic. Forty percent of untreated women develop pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) and 20 percent of women who develop PID become infertile.⁴²⁹ Certain subtypes of chlamydia have been linked to cervical cancer.⁴³⁰ Rates of chlamydia^{154,431,432} and complications of chlamydia including PID, ectopic pregnancy, and infertility due to tubal disease are higher among black women.⁴³³ Native American women ^{434,435} as well as subgroups of Asian/Pacific Islander women and Hispanics may also have higher rates of chlamydia infection. Effective screening tests and treatment are available. Although rates of chlamydia screening by race are not known, blacks report overall higher rates of STD screening than do whites.⁴³⁶ These differences are partly, but not fully, explained by differences in source of care (private vs. family planning clinics). This measure is appropriate for adolescents and minority women, including rural and urban residents. Although rates of screening may be higher among African Americans, stratification by race/ethnicity and SES is nonetheless indicated based on the elevated risk of disease and complications.

Prenatal care and post-partum care. These two measures assess timeliness of care. The first measure assesses the percent of women who enroll in prenatal care in the first trimester. The second assesses the percent of women who see their provider on or between 21 days and 56 days after delivery. The mean scores for commercial HMOs in 2001 was 77 percent for both measures. The infant low birthweight rate and infant mortality among African Americans are more than double those of whites.⁴³⁷ Blacks and Hispanics have lower rates of early enrollment in prenatal care, but American Indians/Alaska Natives have the lowest rate of prenatal care enrollment of any group.¹²⁰ These measures should be stratified by race, ethnicity, and SES.

Breast cancer screening. This measure assesses the percent of women ages 52-69 who have had a mammogram in the past 2 years. The mean score for HMOs in 2000 was 73 percent.⁴²¹ The incidence of breast cancer is lower among black women compared to white women, but death rates from breast cancer are higher among black women than

among any other group.9 Breast cancer is the leading cause of cancer-related mortality for Hispanic, Asian/Pacific Islander and American Indian/Alaska Native women.¹³³ Hispanic^{12,438} particularly Mexican American women,⁴³⁹ and Asians, Native Hawaiians and other women⁴³⁷ and American Indian/Alaska Native women³¹ have lower mammography rates than whites. Although self-report data from the NHIS show that black-white disparities in mammography were eliminated by 1992,⁴⁴⁰ Medicare claims and Medicare HMO HEDIS data show that black women continue to have significantly lower mammography rates than whites.^{441,442} HEDIS data also show lower rates of mammography among persons from poor communities.⁴²⁷ Case management programs have been shown to reduce racial disparities in mammography.⁴⁴³ This measure is clearly appropriate for elderly and nonelderly women regardless of race or ethnicity or place of residence. As previously indicated, it is particularly pertinent to disabled women or those with multiple chronic conditions because they are at higher risk of not receiving mammography.³⁵⁶ Given the contribution of breast cancer to mortality for all women regardless of age, race, income, ethnicity, place of residence, or disability, this represents a relevant measure for members of each of these groups. Consideration should also be given to stratification of this measure by race, ethnicity, SES, and disability status given that members of these groups are at higher risk for death from breast cancer and/or higher risk for not being screened.

Cervical cancer screening. This measure assesses the percent of women between the ages of 21-69 who have had a Pap smear performed in the past 3 years. The mean score for HMOs in 2000 was 72 percent.⁴²¹ The American Cancer Society estimates that 12,800 new cases of invasive cervical cancer are diagnosed annually and that 4,600 women will die from the disease.⁴⁴⁴ Blacks, Hispanics and Asian/Pacific Islanders have higher incidence of cervical cancer than whites.^{9,444} Vietnamese women have the highest rates of any group.⁴⁴⁴ Black women have the highest rates of death from cervical cancer.^{9,445} Both race and poverty are independently associated with late-stage diagnosis.⁴⁴⁶ NHIS data show that Hispanic, American Indian/Alaska Native, and particularly Asian/Pacific Islander women, in addition to women living in poverty, have lower rates of Pap smear screening than white or more affluent women.^{133,438,447,448} Although black women report the highest Pap smear rates,⁴³⁸ HEDIS data show that persons from predominantly black and low-SES communities have lower rates.⁴²⁷ As with mammography, this measure is clearly appropriate for women regardless of race or ethnicity, place of residence, or disability status. Given the low rates of screening for members of selected minority groups, low-income women, and women with chronic disease, in addition to the higher risk of cervical cancer among many of these groups, consideration should be given to stratification of this measure by race/ethnicity, SES, and, probably, disability status.

Advising *smokers to quit*. Smoking is the single most important preventable risk factor for mortality in the United States.⁴⁴⁹ Physician advice has been shown through randomized controlled trials to improve rates of smoking cessation.⁴⁵⁰ The HEDIS and FACCT measure is based on patient report from surveys. The FACCT measure and the HEDIS measures include advice to quit smoking in addition to the proportion of smokers who quit and evidence that the health care organization surveys its members about their health habits. These measures have widespread relevance and probably should be

stratified by race/ethnicity and SES. The mean score for HMOs in 2000 was 64 percent.⁴²¹

All groups are affected by smoking, which often starts during adolescence. Rates of smoking are highest among Native Americans,¹² rural residents,⁴⁵¹ and persons with mental illness.⁴⁵² National data from two different surveys show racial disparities in smoking assessment and/or cessation counseling. NAMCS data show that minorities are less likely to be asked by physicians as to whether they smoke.⁴⁵³ Community Tracking Survey data show that black and Hispanic smokers are less likely than whites to report they were counseled to quit smoking.^{454,455} Given the enormous impact of smoking and demonstrated cost-effectiveness of smoking cessation counseling,⁴⁵⁶ this measure is appropriate for all groups with the exception of those near the end of life. Stratification by race/ethnicity and SES is warranted. Stratification by adolescence may also be indicated given the vulnerability of adolescents to smoking.

Flu shots for older adults. This measure assesses whether patients over 55 years of age or with risk factors received a flu shot in the past year. Pneumonia/influenza represents one of the 10 leading causes of death among all minority and nonminority groups. Age-adjusted rates of death from pneumonia/influenza are higher among blacks than whites and higher among persons with low versus higher income.⁷ Persons with chronic disease, including heart and lung disease and diabetes, are at higher risk for hospitalization and/or death resulting from pneumonia.⁴⁵⁷ Influenza vaccines have been shown to be highly effective in preventing morbidity and mortality associated with influenza among the elderly and those with chronic disease.⁴⁵⁸ Data from the BRFSS show that fewer elderly blacks (39 percent) than whites (60 percent) receive the influenza vaccine.¹¹⁰ Hispanics and lower income persons also have significantly lower rates of influenza vaccination than whites.⁴⁵⁹ This measure is specifically designed for older adults. It is particularly relevant to those with chronic illnesses who are at higher risk for influenza complications but is also appropriate for men and women, minorities, lowincome persons, and rural and urban residents. Given the disparities in complications from influenza and influenza immunization by race/ethnicity and SES, stratification by race/ethnicity and SES is strongly needed. Given the higher risk associated with chronic disease, stratification by this variable should also be considered.

Medicare Health Outcomes Survey. This measure examines change in health status over time among Medicare HMO enrollees based on the Medical Outcomes Study Short Form 36 (SF-36) item health survey. Blacks and American Indians/Alaska Natives report lower health status than whites and likely experience more rapid decline in health status.^{12,237} However, the validity of comparisons of changes in health status between plans is not known. This measure targets the elderly and is especially relevant to those with chronic illness and disabilities. It is also particularly relevant to minorities and low-income persons who are at higher risk for more rapid decline in health status.⁴⁶⁰ However, as indicated previously, the SF-36 may not capture critical components of health status and quality of life that are relevant to persons with disabilities. Given these findings, stratification of this measure by age, race/ethnicity, income, chronic disease, and disability is warranted.

Pneumonia vaccination status for older adults. This measure assesses whether adults over 50 or those with risk factors received a pneumococcal vaccine. As previously noted, pneumonia/influenza is one of the 10 leading causes of death for all minorities. Pneumococcal pneumonia is the most prevalent cause of bacterial pneumonia. Rates of invasive pneumococcal disease including pneumonia are significantly higher among blacks, ^{422,461-463} Native Americans, ²³⁷ smokers, and persons with low SES. ⁴⁶³ Pneumonia vaccines have been shown to be cost-effective in preventing morbidity and mortality associated with pneumococcal pneumonia.⁴⁶⁴ Data from the BRFSS show that fewer elderly blacks (20 percent) than whites (37 percent) received the pneumococcal vaccine.¹¹⁰ Hispanics also have significantly lower rates than whites.⁴⁵⁹ Like influenza vaccination, this measure is especially appropriate for persons with chronic disease and certain disabilities, but is also appropriate for the elderly regardless of their gender, race, income, or residence. Given the risk associated with pneumonia among persons with chronic disease, racial and ethnic minorities, and low-income persons, as well as the racial and ethnic disparities in immunization, stratification by these groups is clearly warranted.

Getting Better

HEDIS, ORYX, and HCQIP each have measures in this domain. Most of these reflect effectiveness of care. Several of HEDIS utilization measures reflect timeliness of care.

Acute myocardial infarction. These include process measures that have been shown to decrease mortality from myocardial infarction. These include appropriate use/prescription of aspirin, beta-blockers, ACEIs, reperfusion therapy, and smoking cessation counseling following acute myocardial infarction. These are measures of both effectiveness and timeliness and represent consumers' perspectives on getting better (recovery from myocardial infarction) and living with chronic illness (coronary artery disease). The median performance among States ranges from 85 percent for aspirin therapy to 40 percent for smoking cessation counseling.⁴⁶⁵ As indicated previously, blacks, low-income persons, the elderly, and men have higher rates of mortality from myocardial infarction. Ischemic heart disease represents the leading cause of death for not only whites, but members of most adult disparity populations. Nonetheless, African Americans are significantly less likely to receive beta-blockers, aspirin, and reperfusion therapy.^{61,466,467} Rural residents and women have been reported to receive lower quality care for myocardial infarction.^{35,338} Non-black minorities also have been reported to receive postinfarction beta-blockers less frequently than nonminorities.⁴⁶⁸ Patients with Medicaid have lower use of invasive procedures and reperfusion therapy.⁴⁶⁹ Women have been reported to receive reperfusion therapy less often than men,³³ but this disparity may be explained by gender differences in demographic and clinical characteristics.⁴⁶⁶ Women may be less likely to receive appropriate medications such as aspirin and beta- blockers following a myocardial infarction.^{35,61} These differences do not appear to represent confounding. Given the contribution of myocardial infarction to death rates among members of all groups, this measure is relevant to men, women, minorities, low-income persons, the elderly, and persons with chronic illness (coronary artery disease in

particular). Stratification of this measure by race/ethnicity and SES—and possibly by gender—is warranted.

Beta-blocker treatment after a heart attack. This measure assesses the percent of patients who have had a myocardial infarction in the past year who, in the absence of a contraindication, received a beta-blocker. This measure represents the consumer perspectives of getting better (recovery from a myocardial infarction) and living with chronic illness (coronary artery disease). It is both an effectiveness and timeliness measure. The mean score for HMOs in 2000 was 85 percent.⁴²¹ Heart disease, particularly coronary artery disease, is the leading cause of death among members of all minority groups.¹³ Rates of death following a myocardial infarction are higher for black men than whites.⁴⁷⁰⁻⁴⁷² Beta-blockers have been conclusively shown to reduce mortality post-myocardial infarction.^{473,474} Heart disease and myocardial infarctions are more frequent among the elderly. Blacks, Hispanics, Asians/Pacific Islanders, and American Indians/Alaska Natives are less likely to receive beta-blockers after myocardial infarction^{61,442,468} or in the presence of coronary artery disease.⁴⁷⁵ A study of Medicare managed care enrollees showed an absolute difference of 23 percent between blacks and whites in the provision of beta-blockers after myocardial infarction.⁴⁷⁶ However, there are conflicting data as to whether blacks derive benefits from beta-blockers after myocardial infarction comparable to whites.^{473,477} The measure is appropriate for men and for women, minorities, and the elderly, those with chronic disease and urban and rural residents. Given the impact of myocardial infarction on African Americans and lowincome persons, and the disparities in use of this intervention, stratification by race/ethnicity and SES is needed. Further data are needed regarding the effectiveness of beta-blockers following a myocardial infarction among members of different minority groups.

Breast cancer. The prevalence of breast cancer among different populations has been previously discussed. FACCT breast cancer measures include outcomes such as proportion of women with stage I and stage II breast cancer who undergo breast conserving therapy and the proportion of breast conserving surgery patients who receive radiation (based on cancer registry or claims data). Minorities undergo fewer breast conserving surgeries.²⁰ There are conflicting data as to whether minorities receive less radiation for breast cancer.²⁰ Rural residents may have reduced access to experienced breast cancer surgeons. This measure is very relevant to women, minorities, low-income persons, and the elderly. Stratification by race/ethnicity and SES is warranted.

Congestive heart failure. This measure is based on the proportion of patients discharged from the hospital with diagnosis of heart failure who receive ACEIs or an assessment of left ventricular ejection fraction. It is both an effectiveness and timeliness measure and represents the consumer perspective of getting better (recovery from an acute exacerbation of the illness) in addition to living with chronic illness (CHF). Median performance among all States was 69 percent.⁴⁶⁵ Blacks and elderly persons have a higher incidence and hospitalization rate for congestive heart failure.^{478,479} Findings regarding racial disparities in mortality from CHF have been conflicting⁴⁷⁸⁻⁴⁸⁰ although blacks with congestive heart failure experience higher all-cause mortality than do whites

with equivalent left ventricular dysfunction.⁴⁸¹ Detailed analysis of the quality of hospital care shows that blacks and lower SES persons receive less appropriate management of CHF²⁵, including lower use of anticoagulants.⁴⁸² There appears to be little difference in use of ACEIs in CHF by race.⁴⁸³ Blacks may derive less benefit from ACEIs for left ventricular dysfunction than whites¹¹² but obtain comparable benefit from certain types of beta-blockers.⁴⁸⁴ These measures are appropriate to adult men and women, minorities, those living with chronic illnesses and disabilities, the elderly, and rural residents. Stratification of this measure by race/ethnicity and SES is warranted, based on evidence of substandard care for these groups.

Pneumonia. These measures include appropriate collection of blood culture, appropriate prescription of antibiotics, and vaccination for patients hospitalized for pneumonia. They are both effectiveness and timeliness measures and relevant to the consumer perspective of getting better. Median performance among all States ranges from 85 percent for time to antibiotic therapy to 11 percent for screening for pneumonia vaccination.⁴⁶⁵ As indicated earlier, blacks, lower SES persons, smokers, persons with mobility impairment, persons with cardiovascular, hepatic and immunologic disease, and the elderly have higher death rates from pneumonia/influenza. Pneumonia represents one of the 10 leading causes of mortality for each of the minority groups,⁷ and for children including neonates, preschool, pre-adolescents, and adolescents.⁷ African Americans and persons with low income may receive less appropriate hospitals and those located in the western part of the country provide more timely antibiotic administration to patients with pneumonia.⁴⁸⁵ Stratification of this measure by race/ethnicity and SES—and possibly by age—is warranted, based on these findings.

Stroke. These measures relate to hospital management of cerebrovascular accident and include prescription of an antithrombotic medications such as antiplatelet agents and anticoagulants, avoidance of sublingual nifedipine with acute stroke, and prescription at hospital discharge (in the absence of contraindications) of warfarin for atrial fibrillation. These represent effectiveness and timeliness measures, and in the case of nifedipine, safety measures. Median State performance ranges from 95 percent for nifedipine therapy to 55 percent for warfarin for atrial fibrillation.⁴⁶⁵ Cerebrovascular disease is the second leading cause of death for whites, blacks, Hispanics, and Asians or Pacific Islanders, and fourth for American Indians or Alaskan Natives (Tables 1-5). Risk of stroke is strongly associated with age and cardiovascular risk factors. Blacks have 40% higher age-adjusted rates of death from cerebrovascular disease than all other groups (Table 2). A mild stroke may prove more devastating to persons already disabled because of their lower functional reserve. Compared to whites, African Americans are significantly less likely to receive noninvasive cerebrovascular testing, cerebral angiography, or carotid endarterectomy, or to have a neurologist as their attending physician.⁴⁷⁴ Recent reports suggest that Hispanics have lower rates of endarterectomies.⁴⁸⁶ Blacks have been reported to have higher mortality following endarteretomy.⁴⁸⁷ However, there does not appear to be a racial disparity in prescription of anticoagulants for atrial fibrillation.⁴⁸⁸ These measures are appropriate for adult men and women, minorities, low-income persons, the elderly

and persons with chronic disease and disability, rural residents, and the elderly. Stratification by race/ethnicity and SES is warranted.

Safety

There are limited data regarding racial and ethnic disparities in surgical complications. Blacks have been reported to have higher rates of mortality following coronary bypass surgery than whites^{143,144} and more complications following vascular surgery, glaucoma surgery, and endarterectomy.¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷ The extent to which these differences represent differences in health care quality as opposed to differences in disease is not clear. Having a chronic disease or major disability, particularly one related to mobility or major organ dysfunction, places one at higher risk for surgical morbidity and mortality. However, many hospitals do not have sufficient surgical volume to meaningfully compare rates of major surgical complications by subgroup. Thus limited statistical power and problems in casemix adjustment make use of this measure problematic.

As indicated earlier, blacks have higher rates of preterm birth, low birthweight infants, and pregnancy-associated infections,^{148,149} in addition to other complications of pregnancy.^{150,151} The extent to which these outcomes are affected primarily by underlying differences in health care quality versus differences in disease is not known. For example, rates of post-partum endometritis are affected by rates of bacterial vaginosis,^{152,153} which differ by race.¹⁵⁴ Nonetheless, complications related to pregnancy are quite relevant to women and children's health. Access to neonatal intensive care units (level III) may be particularly problematic for rural residents since these units are usually located in large metropolitan areas.

Timeliness

HEDIS also includes a series of health care utilization measures including frequency of prenatal care visits, births, Cesarean section rates, well-child and adolescent's visits, use of selected procedures, and various inpatient utilization and outpatient utilization measures including mental health, substance abuse, and prescription utilization. In general, these measures address the question as to whether procedures are conducted in a timely fashion (or at all). With appropriate casemix adjustment, many of these measures could be used to assess racial/ethnic disparities in access and/or resource allocation. Although crude rates do not distinguish overuse among whites from underuse among minorities, either underuse or overuse among any group warrants attention as a potential quality problem.

Organ transplantation. Of these procedures, priority might be given to racial/ethnic disparities in renal transplantation. African Americans, American Indians/Alaska Natives, and possibly Hispanics are disproportionately affected by renal disease.⁴⁸⁹ As of the end of 1999, more than 31,000 African Americans were on hemodialysis; blacks alone comprise one-third of all hemodialysis patients.⁴⁹⁰ Moreover, blacks receive lower quality dialysis as measured by urea clearance.⁴⁹¹ Renal transplantation has been shown to substantially improve the quality and length of life for African Americans.^{492,493} Racial disparities in renal transplantation are not fully explained by other concurrent illnesses, patient preferences, or appropriateness for transplantation.²²¹ Disparities in

transplantation have also been noted for American Indians.⁴⁹⁴⁻⁴⁹⁶ Crude measures of access to transplantation can easily be constructed. These include the ratio of transplants performed per year to the number of persons currently on dialysis for each group or the ratio of number of persons referred for transplant evaluation to the number from that group who initiated dialysis in a given year. Consideration should also be given to stratification of this measure by gender.⁶⁹⁻⁷¹

Cardiovascular procedures. Although blacks are disproportionately affected by cardiovascular disease,⁷ they are less likely to undergo invasive diagnostic or therapeutic cardiovascular procedures such as angioplasty, stenting, thrombolytic therapy, or coronary bypass surgery.¹³⁴ The extent to which these differences represent overuse among whites versus underuse among blacks has not been fully clarified. However, underuse by minorities definitely contributes to the gap.^{111,497,498} Blacks may be less willing to undergo these procedures.⁴⁹⁹ However, such fears are not unfounded. African Americans are more likely to undergo cardiac surgery by surgeons with poorer outcomes.¹⁰⁹ Differences in patient preference do not appear to explain racial differences in these procedures.⁵⁰⁰ As with other procedures, quality measures in this realm are hindered by difficulties in determining appropriateness. For this reason, measures of disparities in cardiovascular procedures are probably more appropriate for internal rather than external quality assessment, although disparities in rates do signal overuse/underuse problems. The ratio of the number of persons who undergo a diagnostic procedure divided by the number of persons from that group admitted for unstable angina or myocardial infarction has frequently been used to assess disparities with administrative data.

Cerebrovascular disease. Similar problems plague measures for cerebrovascular disease. Although blacks have higher rates of cerebrovascular disease, some of the disparity in surgical procedures is attributable to higher rates among blacks of small vessel disease that is not amenable to surgical intervention.⁵⁰¹⁻⁵⁰³ Moreover, the benefit of endarterectomy is confined to persons with severe, symptomatic carotid disease who are operated on by experienced surgeons in hospitals with low operative morbidity and mortality.⁵⁰⁴ Many minorities receive care at hospitals that do not meet these standards. Yet, when the Department of Veterans Affairs regionalized cardiac surgery, utilization of these procedures by African Americans was reduced.⁵⁰⁵ An example of a potential measure of access to cerebrovascular diagnostic technology is the proportion of persons admitted for hemispheric symptoms/stroke who received carotid imaging studies.

Osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis is a major cause of disability among the U.S. population and minorities are disproportionately affected.^{506,507} Hip and knee replacement surgery has been shown to significantly improve patient function and quality of life. Yet, blacks and Hispanics are less likely to receive this surgery.^{508,509} Blacks report more skepticism towards hip surgery⁵¹⁰ and may have inferior outcomes following hip replacement.⁵¹¹ Women also receive hip and knee replacements later in the course of their disease than men.⁵¹² The major barrier to use of a measure for access to joint replacement surgery is the determination of an appropriate denominator; i.e., the number of persons of different race/ethnicity who would be potentially eligible for this procedure. Further research is required before this measure can be implemented.

Cancer surgery. Blacks are less likely to undergo curative lung¹⁴⁰ and other cancerrelated surgeries.²⁰ Unfortunately, it is not possible to determine which patients are suitable for such surgery using hospital claims data because such data do not include stage at diagnosis and severity of comorbidity and other factors that might preclude surgery. However, these data can often be obtained from cancer registries. When disease stage data are unavailable by race and ethnicity, the number of curative cancer procedures performed divided by number of palliative surgeries for different racial and ethnic groups represents a measure potentially suitable for internal quality improvement. A disparity in this measure signals suboptimal care: either minorities experience relative underuse of these procedures or they are being diagnosed at later stages. In either instance, further assessment to determine the reasons for the disparity is needed followed by an appropriate intervention designed to remedy the gap. Alternatively, measures can be constructed using data from cancer registries such as the Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) program that collects data on cancer treatment and outcomes by cancer stage among selected hospitals.¹⁴⁰ These data can be analyzed by hospital or linked to health care plan membership data.

Living With Chronic Illness

Asthma. Asthma is one of the few chronic illnesses that affects both children and adults. Use of appropriate medications for asthma represents both an effectiveness and timeliness measure. The HEDIS measure assesses whether patients with the diagnosis of asthma have received a prescription for an anti-inflammatory asthma medication in the past year. It is applied to three age groups: 5-9 years, 10-17 years, and 18-56 years. The mean score for HMOs for this measure in 2000 was 57 percent for all ages.⁴²¹

In contrast to the HEDIS measure that focuses on a single aspect of asthma management, FACCT uses a comprehensive range of indicators derived from patient surveys. These include whether patients received education, peak flow meters, and inhalers and whether they have been instructed in appropriate use. Outcomes include patient experience and satisfaction with asthma care, functional status (SF-36), and ability to maintain daily activities, symptoms, and self-management knowledge and behavior. Minority race has been linked to improper use of inhalers^{513,514} and hospitalizations and emergency department visits for asthma.⁵¹⁵ Moreover, low literacy is a barrier to asthma knowledge and self-care.²⁵⁹

Asthma is among the most prevalent chronic childhood illnesses. NHANES III data show appreciable differences by race/ethnicity in physician-confirmed diagnosis of asthma for children under 11 years: 3.3 percent for whites compared to 11.2 percent for Puerto Ricans, 5.9 percent for blacks, 5.2 percent for Cubans, and 2.7 percent for Mexican Americans.²⁹⁶ Rates of asthma among American Indians/Alaska Natives are comparable to those of whites.⁵¹⁶ Rates of disability and mortality for blacks with asthma are nearly double those for whites.^{297,298} Asians/Pacific Islanders have also been reported to have worse asthma outcomes than whites.³⁰² Rates of asthma appear to be particularly high among inner city residents in part due to cockroach infestation.³⁴³ Data from

managed care organizations show that blacks and Hispanics made fewer visits to asthma specialists, filled fewer prescriptions for inhaled steroids, were more likely to visit the emergency department with asthma, and were more likely to be hospitalized with asthma.^{514,517,518} Hispanic children receive fewer beta2-agonists inhaled steroids than white children even after controlling for patients' race, age, gender, insurance status, symptom severity, number of primary care visits for asthma, number of urgent visits to the regular provider, family income, maternal education, and site of care.⁵¹⁹ Well designed studies show that anti-inflammatory asthma medications reduce asthma exacerbation.^{520,521} Professional education of clinic staff has been shown to improve continuity and quality of care among minorities with asthma.⁵²²

These measures target management of a prevalent, chronic disease and are appropriate for persons regardless of age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, or residence. Stratification by race/ethnicity and SES is warranted, based on risk and disparities in treatment.

Controlling high blood pressure. This measure assesses the percent of patients with a diagnosis of hypertension whose systolic blood pressure is below 140 and diastolic blood pressure is below 90 mm mercury. Depending on whether hypertension is defined as a chronic illness or as a risk factor for chronic illness, management of hypertension represents the consumer perspectives of staying healthy or living with illness. The mean score for HMOs in 2000 was only 39 percent.⁴²¹ Hypertension is one of the most widespread health problems among blacks. Hypertension represents the single largest contributor to black-white disparities in mortality.¹¹⁴ Hypertension is also strongly associated with advancing age. The age-adjusted prevalence among African Americans is 23 percent.⁵²³ Rates of uncontrolled hypertension are highest among those aged 65 and over.⁵²⁴

The sequelae from hypertension have an enormous impact on the health of minorities, particularly African Americans and result in premature mortality and morbidity including cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, and kidney disease. Treatment of hypertension has been conclusively shown to reduce complications among blacks.⁵²⁵ Treatment of hypertension is cost-effective and feasible with existing agents. However, the prevalence of hypertension, including untreated hypertension, is higher among blacks, and probably other minorities.⁵²³ Adequate control of hypertension is suboptimal. Only 30 percent of all whites and 26 percent of all blacks with hypertension have their blood pressure adequately controlled.⁵²³ Among persons under treatment for hypertension, less than half have their blood pressure adequately controlled and rates are lower for blacks than whites and for poor versus non-poor persons.^{31,523,524}

Although quality improvement efforts designed to improve hypertension management have had limited success, ⁵²⁶ socioeconomic disparities in hypertension control were eliminated in the stepped care arm of the Hypertension Detection and Follow-up Program.⁵²⁷ Similarly, the absence of copayments in one of the arms of the RAND Health Insurance Experiment resulted in significantly improved hypertension control, particularly among the lower income group⁵²⁸ Data from the Achievable Benchmark of Care System show that physician performance feedback based on achievable benchmarks improves health care quality for hypertension.⁴⁶⁵

This measure is relevant to men and women, minorities, persons with chronic illness, the elderly, and urban and rural residents. Given the disparities in detection and control by race, income, and age, this measure should be stratified by these categories.

Cholesterol management after acute cardiovascular events. This measure assesses the percent of patients who experienced an acute cardiovascular event in the last year who received LDL-C cholesterol screening and also whose LDL-C cholesterol levels were <130 mg/dl within 60 days of the event. The mean score for HMOs in 2000 was 45 percent.⁴²¹ Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death among all minorities and fully accounts for one-third of racial disparities in adult mortality.¹¹⁴ Elevated cholesterol is an important risk factor for cardiovascular disease, the leading cause of death for all groups. NHANES data show that serum cholesterol levels in the United States do not differ appreciably by race or ethnicity.⁵²⁹ However, blacks, Hispanics, Asian Americans or Pacific Islanders and American Indians or Alaska Natives report lower testing rates than whites, ^{530, 12} and blacks and Mexican Americans with high cholesterol who were told to take medication were less likely to report being on medication. ^{530,531} NAMCS shows that blacks receive less cholesterol reduction counseling than whites⁵³² and are less likely to have their cholesterol addressed. HEDIS data for Medicare managed care enrollees also show that blacks and Hispanics are less likely to meet criteria for this measure.³¹ Given the large contribution of cardiovascular disease to mortality among all groups, this measure is relevant to all adults. Given the uncertainty regarding the quality of cholesterol management after acute cardiovascular events and the cost of this intervention for those with inadequate insurance, this measure should probably be stratified by race/ethnicity and SES.

Comprehensive diabetes care. This is a set of six measures that assess the quality of care for diabetes. They include glycosylated hemoglobin testing, control of diabetes, diabetic retinal screening, lipid screening, lipid control, and screening for diabetic nephropathy.

Care of diabetes represents the consumer perspective of living with chronic illness. It is both an effectiveness and timeliness measure. The mean score for HMOs in 2000 for these measures ranged from 36 percent for nephropathy monitoring to 75 percent for glycosylated hemoglobin testing.⁴²¹

Rates of diabetes have increased in the past decade. Prevalence is higher among the elderly and members of certain racial and ethnic minorities and the poor.^{533,534} American Indians have rates of adult onset diabetes that are 2 to 6 times higher than whites.⁵³⁵ In 2000, diabetes was the fourth leading cause of death for blacks, third for Hispanics and American Indians or Alaska Natives, and seventh for Asians or Pacific Islanders (Tables 1-5). Age-adjusted mortality rates for blacks, Hispanics, and American Indians or Alaska Natives are significantly higher than those of whites. Blacks are also at higher risk for complications of diabetes including amputation and renal failure.⁵³⁶ NHANES III data show that black diabetics have poorer glycemic control compared to whites.⁵³⁷ Low education is also associated with poorer diabetic control and failure to undergo retinal examination.⁵³⁷ Both CMS and HEDIS data show that black diabetics have lower rates of dilated exams.^{442,538} Data from the 1993 Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey show that elderly African Americans received lower quality care including less frequent

glycosylated hemoglobin testing, eye examinations, influenza immunizations, lipid testing, and physician visits, but more emergency department visits.⁵³⁹ NAMCS data also show that black diabetics receive less eye care than whites.⁵⁴⁰ Rural residents have also been reported to receive lower quality diabetic care.⁵⁴¹ Interestingly, HEDIS data for Medicare managed care enrollees show that Asians have higher rates for these measures than whites.³¹

Feedback to physicians regarding their performance using achievable benchmarks for diabetic care has been associated with significant improvements in these measures.⁵⁴² Intensive management has been shown to eliminate socioeconomic disparities in diabetic control.²⁰⁵ Given the contribution of diabetes to mortality for minorities and low-income persons and evidence of suboptimal management among these groups, this measure is especially appropriate for use with these groups. Stratification by race/ethnicity and SES is warranted.

Depression. These HEDIS measures assess followup and continuity of care for depression. Depression can represent a single acute episode, but it often represents a recurrent relapse in what is most appropriately characterized as a chronic illness.⁵⁴³ The mean score for HMOs in 2000 ranged from 21 percent to 59 percent depending on the particular measure.⁴²¹

In contrast to HEDIS, FACCT includes depression outcome measures. The measure set includes proportion of patients who are lost to followup, patient satisfaction, patient functional status, recovery, and patients' ability to maintain activities. These measures are relevant to men and women, minorities, persons with low SES, elderly, persons with chronic illness and disabilities, rural residents, and to some extent persons near the end of life. As previously discussed, these measures should be stratified by race/ethnicity and SES.

Depression affects all ages, races, and ethnic groups although rates are higher among women. ³²⁰ Rates of depression do not appear to differ significantly between whites and blacks, but rates are higher among persons with low income³²⁰ and among persons with chronic illness and those nearing the end of life. ⁵⁴⁴⁻⁵⁴⁶ Rates of suicide are also higher among rural residents and among American Indians/Alaska Natives.^{7,547} Whites are more likely to receive antidepressants than minorities. ^{24,548} Among patients receiving antidepressants, whites are more likely than minorities to receive selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, ⁵⁴⁸ and to receive guideline concordant treatment for depression. ⁵⁴⁹ There does not appear to any difference in the quality of depression management in urban and rural areas. ⁵⁵⁰ However, depression among those with chronic illness, the elderly, and those nearing the end of life often is unrecognized by clinicians.

This measure addresses a potentially chronic illness that often results in significant disability. It is appropriate for children, adults, men, women, minorities, low-income persons, elderly, and potentially those nearing the end of life. Stratification by race/ethnicity, SES, age, and gender is warranted, based on disparities in treatment and/or greater risk.

Followup after hospitalization for mental illness. This measure assesses whether persons hospitalized for mental illness are seen in followup within 4 weeks of hospital discharge. It is one of the few quality measures targeting persons with a chronic mental

illness. It represents the consumer perspective of getting better (from an acute exacerbation of illness) as well as the perspective of living with a chronic illness (mental illness). The mean score for HMOs in 2000 was 70 percent.⁴²¹ Rates of mental illness do not appear to differ appreciably between blacks and whites,^{320,551} although rates are higher among persons with low income. Native Americans may have the highest rates of suicide of any group¹²⁰although misclassification of both race and cause of death on death certificates underestimate this rate. Even among the insured, blacks and Hispanics receive fewer outpatient mental health services than whites⁵⁵² but have comparable use of inpatient services.⁵⁵³ Physicians spend less time with black patients in psychiatric emergency rooms and are more likely to prescribe anti-psychotics.⁵⁵⁴ Among patients with schizophrenia who are insured through Medicaid, African Americans are less likely than whites to receive expensive, second generation anti-psychotic medications.⁵⁵⁵ Recently published data show that performance for this measure among Medicare managed care enrollees is markedly worse for blacks than for whites.⁴⁴² Care was also worse for low-income persons.⁴⁴²

This measure targets management of a chronic disease that often results in disability. It is appropriate for children, adults, men, women, minorities, elderly, and urban and rural residents (for whom mental health services are often suboptimal). Stratification by race/ethnicity and SES is warranted.

HIV/AIDS. There are not yet widely used quality measures for HIV/AIDS. However, the New York AIDS Institute has developed a series of guidelines with corresponding measures it uses to assess the quality of care in facilities it funds. They measures address CD4 count every 6 months, antiretroviral therapy usage (HAART) for patients with CD4 counts below 500 cells/ml, or viral load levels above 10,000/copies/mL, *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia (PCP) prophylaxis for patients with AIDS, tuberculosis screening every year, and pelvic exams every year. These measures require chart audits for assessment.

FACCT is also developing a measure set in this area. The proposed FACCT measures include HIV testing during pregnancy, HIV risk reduction counseling among HIV negative persons, and various measures related to care for persons with HIV including Pap smear frequency, appropriate laboratory testing/monitoring, use of appropriate antiretrovirals, prophylactic antibiotics, immunizations, functional status, access to care, medication adherence, and provider communication.

HIV infection is the third leading cause of years of potential life lost for black women and the fourth cause for black men.²³⁷ Rates of death from HIV infection are more than 10 times higher among blacks and 3 times higher among Hispanics than whites (Tables 2-3). Studies have shown that interventions can improve rates of safe sex behavior.⁵⁵⁶ Antiretroviral and prophylactic antibiotic therapy has been conclusively shown to significantly improve survival.⁵⁵⁷ Blacks, Hispanics, women, and persons insured through Medicaid are less likely to receive treatment based on existing guidelines.^{22,311,312,558} Hispanics have lower survival following hospitalization for HIV infection.⁵⁵⁹ Rural residents often have difficulty finding qualified providers.¹⁶¹ Moreover, low education and literacy are associated with lower levels of adherence.²⁶¹

These measures address a key gap in current performance measures and are relevant to persons of all ages, both genders, and rural and urban residents. However, they are particularly relevant to minorities and low-income persons. Stratification of these measures by race/ethnicity and SES—and possibly by gender—is warranted.

Preparing for the End of Life

There are currently no quality measures for end-of–life care that are in widespread use. However, FACCT has a series of measures under development that rely on both patient reports and surrogate reports that offer considerable promise. They address adequacy of advance planning, pain control, health status, symptom control, and patientprovider communication. Patient preferences for do-not-resuscitate orders differ by race, age, income, and insurance status.⁸³⁻⁸⁶ Although minorities express as much interest as whites in end-of-life discussions,⁸⁴ a number of studies show they are less likely to report their providers engaged in these discussions with them.^{84,560-562} Furthermore, patients who lack English fluency are less likely to be involved in discussions regarding resuscitation.⁸⁵ Whether there are differences in preference based on disability status is not known. This measure is likely to prove relevant to members of all disparity populations. Stratification of these measures by race/ethnicity and SES is warranted.

IV. Challenges to Implementing Quality Measures for Disparity Populations

This section addresses the challenge of effectively implementing existing quality measures for disparity populations. Section V discusses the challenge of developing new measures that target conditions not adequately addressed by existing measures.

There are a number of challenges to effective implementation of existing quality measures that are common to disparity populations. Other challenges are population specific.

Challenges Common to All Disparity Populations

Common challenges to the implementation of existing measures for disparity populations include identification of members of different disparity populations, cost and burden of collecting required data, and development of suitable reporting formats.

Identification of Members of Different Disparity Populations

Key data regarding membership in a disparity population are often missing from hospital, HMO, and office medical records.⁸⁸ HMO and hospital claims data usually include age and gender. Most hospitals collect data regarding race and, in some instances, ethnicity although uniform procedures for data collection have not been established. Neither HMOs nor hospitals collect SES (income, education or occupation), disability, rural/urban residence, or end-of-life data. CMS enrollment data reliably identify whites and blacks, but frequently misclassify other groups.⁵⁶³ Until these data are reliably collected, it is impossible for the hospitals, HMOs, or even CMS to insure comparable quality of care provided for members of disparity populations. These issues are discussed in section V.

Privacy concerns and the potential for misuse of data are also obstacles. Safeguards proposed by the Institute of Medicine could reduce the potential for misuse of data.⁸⁷ Standards for electronic data transmission under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 allow health care facilities to include race/ethnicity as a data element.⁸⁸ Similarly, the HHS privacy rule protects the confidentiality of individually identifiable health data used by health care providers using electronic transmission,⁸⁸ but it does not preclude collection of race/ethnicity data.⁸⁸ Annual reporting by hospitals and HMOs of patients served or enrollment/disenrollment patterns by race/ethnicity, SES, or insurance will further minimize the potential for misuse of data. Thus, it is feasible to collect these data while minimizing the potential for breaches in confidentiality or misuse of the data.

Many members of disparity populations fear that data identifying consumers as members of particular disparity populations will be misused.⁵⁶⁴ Such fears among minorities represent the Tuskegee legacy and historical mistrust of "research."^{565,566} Other groups such as poor, disabled, or rural-residing persons may also share concerns about privacy and misuse of data. These legitimate concerns highlight the need for public education regarding the purpose and use of these data. The advantages of group-specific data must be clear. Appropriate safeguards against abuse must be implemented.

Cost of Data Collection

In addition to privacy concerns, many HMOs mistakenly believe that it is illegal to collect these data.⁸⁸ In fact, there are no Federal and few State prohibitions.⁵⁶⁷ Forty-six States and the District of Columbia place no restrictions on the collection of these data.⁸⁸ The Department of Health and Human Services mandates that race/ethnicity be collected in all HHS sponsored or maintained activities.⁵⁶⁷

The financial and time costs associated with data collection represent another barrier to monitoring care provided to members of disparity populations. Most HMOs collect HEDIS data using a combination of claims data, manual chart reviews, and patient surveys. For HEDIS, claims data are supplemented with review of 411 patient medical records for each quality measure. If an HMO wished to stratify quality results by race, SES, and gender, it would need to review more than 1,000 charts in order to insure a reliable estimate for each subgroup (e.g., low-income, black women, high-SES white, male, etc.). In the absence of demand by members of disparity populations for quality measures, hospitals and HMOs have little incentive to commit the necessary resources to collecting and reporting such data. It currently is not feasible for health care organizations to stratify every measure for every disparity population. Thus, stratification should be supported by research demonstrating that members of the disparity population are at higher risk for adverse outcome and/or suboptimal care. (See section III for a review of this evidence.)

Just as the case for data collection needs to made to members of disparity populations, the business case needs to be made to the health care industry.⁸⁸ There are several ways that quality measures for disparity-populations make good business sense. As consumers become more aware of good health practices, they are likely to demand more detailed data. Members of disparity populations and purchasers who represent members of various disparity populations are likely to begin questioning the relevance of generic measures of quality.

In addition, employers will want assurance that the health care plan they contract with will provide quality care to their employees. National consumers and purchaser groups recommended in May 2002 to the National Quality Forum that selected, health care quality measures be reported by age, gender, SES, and race/ethnicity.⁵⁶⁸ Included among these groups are: 3M, AFL-CIO, Buyers Health Care Action Group, California HealthCare Foundation, The Employer Health Care Alliance Cooperative, General Motors Corporation, The Leapfrog Group, Midwest Business Group on Health, Motorola, Inc, National Business Coalition on Health, National Health Care Purchasing Institute, National Partnership for Women and Families, Pacific Business Group on Health, and the Washington Business Group on Health. These groups may begin to gravitate towards plans that can provide that information. Plans that have been slow to implement these measures may lose market share. Jack Rowe, the Chairman and CEO of Aetna, the Nation's largest provider of health care and group benefits, suggests that it makes good business sense for Aetna to address disparities given the diversity of the work force of insurance purchasers.⁵⁶⁹

Furthermore, the costs of implementing these measures may ultimately be offset by lower costs of health care. Many disparity populations are at greater risk for incurring expenses related to avoidable hospitalizations. Improvement in their care is likely to reap greater savings than improvement in the care of healthier populations. For example, implementation of a campaign designed to improve rates of influenza immunization among older, inner-city African Americans would likely reduce rates of unnecessary hospitalization much more than a campaign targeted to suburban whites.

Development of Suitable Reporting Formats

Simply collecting and reporting timely data is not enough. Careful consideration must be given to how results are reported. As quality reports become longer and increasingly complex, there is a growing risk that the reports will be ignored by consumers. There is mixed evidence that consumers use quality reports to make informed decisions regarding selection of health care plans or hospitals.⁵⁷⁰ The addition of new quality measures and stratification by subgroups will certainly complicate the challenge of making reports consumer friendly. These challenges can be addressed. Quality reports can be tailored to different groups based on audience testing and focus groups. Health care organizations can generate different quality reports for different audiences. Reports can differ in language, reading levels, complexity, detail, focus, and format. In addition, Web-based technology can be used to produce query systems for consumers that address questions regarding performance for specific groups.

Population-Specific Challenges

Racial and Ethnic Minorities

Effectively implementing existing quality measures for the purpose of monitoring care to racial and ethnic minorities is a complex and challenging task.⁸⁸ These include challenges related to the conceptualization of reporting, logistical challenges related to data collection and reporting, and the absence of validated measures related to conditions relevant to minorities. Preliminary data show that many of these barriers can be addressed.⁵⁷¹

Conceptual Challenges

Benchmark-based vs. relative performance. A key conceptual challenge is whether to focus primarily on benchmark-based performance or relative performance. Should quality of care for minorities be primarily assessed using a national benchmark such as a particular Healthy People 2010 objective or an NCQA benchmark, or should quality of care assessment for minorities be based primarily on the black-white gap in care? Which is more relevant: the overall mammography rate for black women relative to a national benchmark or the rate relative to white women? Both benchmarks and relative standards convey different, but nonetheless important, information to health care consumers. However, benchmark-based standards offer two key advantages:

• First, consumers are likely to be more concerned with overall performance for their group rather than performance for their group relative to another, particularly when performance for the other group is also substandard. In many instances the performance for whites does not meet benchmarks.²

• Second, absolute standards are much more feasible to implement because they require relatively smaller samples. Benchmark-based measures can be readily implemented by replicating HEDIS sampling methodology for each minority group. HMOs using the increasingly popular hybrid approach could sample 411 patient medical records for each of the main racial or ethnic groups comprising plan membership. HMOs can then assess performance based on a single national benchmark.

In contrast, unfeasibly large sample sizes are required to reliably compare *disparities in rates* between health care plans. Chart reviews become prohibitively expensive; HMOs would be forced to rely exclusively on claims data to monitor quality. Many health care plans are not equipped to reliably track many of the HEDIS measures exclusively through claims data. In many instances, claims data underestimate the receipt of particular services. For example, a service may be obtained outside a plan—e.g., through community-based programs offering screening for mammography or cholesterol or childhood or adult immunizations. In other instances, a physician may write the appropriate prescription, but the patient may fail to fill it. In the absence of an electronic medical record and/or electronic pharmacy records, manual chart reviews are required to assess whether a particular medication was or was not prescribed and/or filled.

Given these constraints, benchmark-based standards are a more feasible way for providing consumers with information and for quality assurance reporting. Relative standards are most appropriately used internally for quality improvement. Use of a benchmark approach suggests that performance reports include a brief description of the measures, an overall benchmark, and performance rates stratified by each group. The report should indicate whether the performance for different racial and ethnic groups was statistically different from the benchmark. In that way, consumers could determine which health care organizations provided better care to members of their own racial or ethnic group. Hospitals and HMOs interested in closing their racial or ethnic gap in performance could use their own internal quality improvement efforts to examine reasons for performance gaps and develop interventions designed to eliminate these gaps.

Reporting effects of race/ethnicity and SES. A second conceptual challenge is how to sort out and report both race/ethnicity and SES effects. Patient educational level and income are both strongly linked to race. They are also both powerful predictors of receipt of preventive care. An HMO that provides care to largely affluent minority members would likely have higher rates of preventive care than one providing care to poor minority members. Existing studies suggest that SES affects provider⁵⁷² and HEDIS profiles for some HMOs⁴²⁷ although the overall effect may be modest.^{427,538}

There are two ways that performance reports for minorities can take SES into account. The first is to statistically adjust ratings. This approach has the advantage of generating a single, adjusted rate. However, it risks masking poor performance for low-SES members.^{546,573} A preferable approach is to stratify or report performance separately for each SES level. Thus, a report would include performance for high-income whites, blacks, Hispanics etc, and performance for low-income groups.

Distinguishing majority overuse vs. minority underuse. A third challenge is to distinguish health care overuse by majorities from underuse by minorities and less

commonly, to distinguish the reverse. This is less problematic for HEDIS effectiveness, FACCT, HCQIP, or ORYX measures. Most of these measures focus on clearly defined health care processes in which optimal performance is 100 percent. It is a major problem for monitoring disparities in access to services, particularly access to cardiovascular, cancer, and transplantation procedures. The recent IOM report *Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care*" showed that evidence for bias was strongest for these procedures.³

It is difficult, if not impossible, to determine the appropriateness of particular procedures in the absence of expert review. The time and costs required for an expert panel to review the appropriateness of procedures performed at every hospital nationally would be prohibitive. Nonetheless, a measure for disparity in the use of a major procedure that has been appropriately adjusted or corrected for differences in patient morbidity might be useful in signaling a quality problem even if it cannot distinguish underuse from overuse. Several promising access/utilization measures have been discussed in previous sections.

Selection of reporting categories. A final conceptual challenge involves the selection of racial and ethnic categories. Should reporting be limited to the four major minority groups or should additional subgroups be included? Should reporting include a multiracial or multiethnic category? Should health care plans that have few members from a minority group such as American Indians/Alaska Natives be required to report on their quality despite the inability of the plans to generate reliable estimates because of small samples? These important questions need to be resolved by the NQF and other quality organizations in consultation with representatives from these groups.

Feasibility Challenges

One of the most serious feasibility issues related to implementing racial and ethnic disparities measures pertains to the collection of race/ethnicity data. Although most hospitals collect race data, few have implemented uniform, reliable methods for doing so. Fewer hospitals collect ethnicity data. However, hospitals can begin using available data and stratifying their existing performance measures by race. Hospitals can include race and ethnicity questions in existing satisfaction surveys. Hospitals that have not yet implemented collection of ethnicity data can use software that codes Spanish surnames as an interim solution.⁵⁷¹ Consideration should also be given to having CMS provide hospitals with health care quality reports for elderly minorities based on analysis of Medicare claims data. However, this approach is likely to be limited by timeliness of the reports.

Absence of race and ethnicity data is a bigger barrier for HMOs than for hospitals. Very few HMOs collect these data on plan members. There are several potential solutions. The simplest approach is to collect data on members at the time of their enrollment in the plan. Typically, prospective plan members provide data regarding their age, gender, and names of family members. The race and ethnicity of prospective members and family could be included. Socioeconomic data, such as educational level, might also be obtained at this time.

A second approach is to obtain these data from employers (when data are available). This would likely require consent from members at the time of their enrollment. Both these approaches require changes in the enrollment process. A third though less desirable option is to collect data at the point of service. Providers could ask patients to selfidentify their race/ethnicity at the time of their office visit and then submit these data with their claims (or separately under capitation). The primary limitation of this approach is that implementing uniform standards for collecting these data in physicians' offices across the country will be very difficult. Receptionists and registration clerks may be uncomfortable asking consumers to self-identify their race/ethnicity and may instead infer this information based on the patient's appearance. Data will not be available for members who have not yet registered a visit.

Other approaches such as use of geocoding to classify race/ethnicity based on community of residence offers promise,⁵⁷⁴ but may misclassify some plan members; e.g., more affluent blacks residing in predominately white neighborhoods would be misclassified as would poor whites living in predominately black neighborhoods. On balance, the collection of race and ethnicity on enrollment is likely to prove to be the more reliable and valid although further research in this area is needed. When race and ethnicity data are collected, it will be critical to insure that health care organizations report enrollment/disenrollment patterns to payers and accreditors in order to minimize the risk of discrimination based on use of these data.

Persons With Low Income

Most of the issues that are relevant to quality measures for minorities are also relevant to low-SES persons. The primary challenges involve:

- Choice of SES measure.
- Procedure for data collection necessary to obtain SES-relevant data.

There is no consensus on the single best SES measure.^{575,576} Questions about personal or household income are highly sensitive. Respondents with very low income often overreport their income while respondents with very high income frequently underreport their incomes in response to surveys. Many respondents simply refuse to answer. Furthermore, individual income is less relevant than household income; a nonworking person supported by the income of the working partner should not be classified as having no income. Children and other dependents frequently do not know the income of their parents. Finally, the relative value of a particular income differs between communities depending on the cost of living. Despite these caveats, income serves as a useful proxy for ability to afford health care. Higher income is associated with receipt of health that requires appreciable out-of-pocket expenditures. Wealth is probably a more relevant measure of affordability and access to expensive, but uncovered, care than income; but personal wealth is even less reliably reported than income.

Questions about occupation are less sensitive than income. However, it is not clear whether occupational categories should be ranked on the basis of status, salary, level of authority/autonomy, or educational requirements. How persons who are unemployed, homemakers, or retired should be classified is also unclear.

Questions about educational level are less sensitive than those about family income. Education is probably a marker for literacy and knowledge, which in turn are associated with adherence. Education may be more strongly related than income to receipt of covered services such as preventive care. Unlike income, education tends to change little after early adulthood. Although educational level is a less appropriate measure of a person's ability to afford health care, education may be a more salient predictor of health care quality among persons with health care insurance. On balance, education may the least intrusive and most reliable way to assess SES for the purposes of monitoring health care quality.⁵⁷⁶

Because Medicaid eligibility is based on percent of Federal poverty level based on household income and family size, it represents a crude measure of SES. However, its use confounds insurance type with poverty. Furthermore, Medicaid eligibility requirements differ between States. Use of the presence of supplemental insurance among Medicare recipients (as a marker for higher SES) has similar limitations.

Geocoding of patient addresses to median income according to census block group, census tract, or ZIP Code represents the least invasive method for estimating SES. Address is a proxy for patient SES because persons of similar SES tend to live in the same areas. This approach avoids the need to ask people about their income or educational level. Although the median income of a community is by no means equivalent to household income, community of residence captures other contextual information that may affect health care access such as proximity to physician offices, rates of crime and pollution, and local neighborhood culture.⁵⁷⁷ Use of geocoded addresses represents a relatively straightforward and inexpensive means for hospitals and HMOs to assess socioeconomic status of the patients they serve.⁵⁷⁷

Children

Widespread implementation of children's quality measures lags behind those for adults. Fortunately, age is readily available through claims and administrative data. No additional data collection procedures are needed to identify children in different age groups. Measures for asthma, pneumonia, and smoking should be reported separately for children. The development of child CAHPS®, YAHC, and CSHCN measures represent significant advances in the measurement of quality care provided to children. It is likely that these measures will be increasingly implemented. The primary challenge for assessing quality of care for children relates to need for new measures, as discussed in section V.

Women

The primary challenge related to implementation of measures for women is determining which if any of the existing measures warrant separate reporting by gender. Gender is routinely available in most claims data; the primary limitations of genderspecific reporting are the need for increased sample size and greater complexity of gender-specific quality reports. As discussed in previous sections, there are disparities in some of the quality measures of care for heart disease and organ transplantation. Consideration should be given to stratifying these particular measures by gender.

Elderly

Most of the existing adult measures are relevant to the elderly. It is not clear that additional stratification by older age is needed, although age is readily available in administrative and claims data. A more important need is the development of new measures that specifically target elderly who are living with multiple chronic diseases. These measures are discussed in detail in section V.

Rural and Urban Residents

Many existing measures are relevant to both rural and urban residents. However, currently there are limited data to support quality reporting by rural/urban/suburban residence. Most of the differences in quality by residence are explained by differences in SES and/or race/ethnicity. Barriers to implementing such reporting include problems in appropriately defining rural health service areas, accounting for rural population preferences, and the relatively low priority of formal quality-of-care assessment in health care shortage areas.³²⁸ Furthermore, most rural-urban comparisons of quality have focused on management of specific conditions and have ignored functioning of the entire system of rural health care.⁵⁷⁸ Not withstanding these caveats, most hospitals and HMOs have the potential to create measures of rurality using patient addresses and then stratifying existing measures to determine whether there are any disparities. Questions regarding distance/time traveled could be added to CAHPS® surveys to assess potential access barriers related to geography.

Persons With Disabilities and Chronic Illness

A key challenge to assessing health care quality for persons with disabilities is the identification of persons with different types of disabilities. There is currently no reliable way for doing so using hospital or HMO claims data.³⁷¹ One approach is to add questions to CAHPS® such as the presence and type of disabilities. The major limitation to this approach is that the sampling size of CAHPS® would have to be enormously increased in order to generate reliable estimates for different types of disability. As suggested previously, this problem might be addressed through use of screening questions administered by phone or mail. Preliminary pilot data suggest this approach is feasible for adults.⁵⁷⁹

Insufficient sample sizes might be addressed by aggregating persons with differing disabilities. However, the health care needs and access barriers differ by disability status. For example, the needs (and barriers) of post-stroke patients differ markedly from those of a healthy deaf person. Another possible approach is to aggregate surveys across years and/or across plans. For example, NCQA, CMS, or States could aggregate, analyze, and report CAHPS® data (that included identification of specific disability status) collected from member plans. Another option is to query persons upon enrollment or registration. If this were done, steps would need to be taken to insure that HMOs didn't discourage enrollment or encourage disenrollment of disabled persons. A final possibility relevant to publicly sponsored insurance is to use data regarding categorical eligibility for Medicaid such as Supplemental Security Income or eligibility for Medicare through Social Security Disability Insurance to identify disabled persons.³⁷¹ However, this approach does not allow identification of the specific disability. Moreover, many persons with disabilities as defined by the Americans with Disability Act do not qualify for either program.

In contrast to disabled persons, persons with chronic illness can be readily identified using medical claims data. Many existing measures address health care for chronic illnesses. This area is likely to rapidly expand as research links health care process to outcome. Measure development for this population is likely to continue to progress in concert with research on the effectiveness of various interventions for different chronic illnesses.

There is a pressing need for the development of reliable, user friendly quality measures for mental health⁵⁸⁰ and substance abuse.⁵⁸¹ The need is particularly acute for quality mental health measures for children and the elderly.⁵⁸⁰

Persons Near the End of Life

Quality measures for end-of-life care are not widely used. Assessment of health care quality for this population poses unique challenges based on the context in which people die. Dying represents a final common pathway for multiple diseases and causes. Morrison et al. enumerate five key challenges:³⁷⁵

- 1. Identifying persons who are very close to the end of life is itself challenging. With the exception of certain cancers, it is difficult to accurately predict life expectancy among terminal patients.
- 2. Patients die in many different settings including hospitals, home, long-term care facilities, and hospices. Care provided differs between settings. What organization should be the primary target for assessment: Hospitals? HMOs? Nursing homes?
- 3. When or where the quality assessment should take place is not clear. With the exception of certain forms of cancer, predictive models for life expectancy perform poorly.
- 4. Administrative data are of limited benefit in assessing the quality of care provided near the end of life.⁵⁸² Because of the highly personal and often emotionally demanding process of dying, it is difficult to ask patients or their families to complete surveys during the end-of-life period. Retrospective reports from families may be biased by circumstances unrelated to the health care provided. Medical records often do not adequately reflect the end-of-life care provided.
- 5. Quality measures should be evidence-based. Many of the 10 domains of quality for end-of-life care are not yet ripe for quality measure development. The measures proposed by FACCT that focus on several potentially improvable outcomes offer promise.³⁷⁵ However, further research is required to establish their validity, reliability, and effect on outcomes.

V. Gaps in Existing Quality Measures

Generic Gaps

The previous sections address the suitability of existing quality measures for members of disparity populations. However, an evaluation of existing measures does not address the question as to what *new* measures are needed for each population. This determination is time consuming and costly. It requires a systematic assessment of priority conditions for a given population followed by identification of established interventions and treatment guidelines. Established interventions that are not widely implemented for the population should be given priority. Scientifically sound measures must be developed to assess performance. Measures must meet scientifically established standards for reliability and reproducibility. They must be valid. They must assess what they purport to assess and be relatively free from confounding by other factors to allow for fair comparisons. Data collection procedures must be feasible and cost-effective to implement. Finally, dissemination plans are needed that include preparation and distribution of quality reports specifically tailored to the needs of the relevant population. Each of these steps is necessary to insure successful development of new measures.

Although a full review of the question of which new measures are needed is beyond the scope of this report, there are several key points that should be made. First, there are conditions that are not adequately addressed by current quality measures for *any* population. For example, medical errors result in thousands of needless deaths per year.⁹⁰ Yet, few quality measures address medical safety issues. Many, if not most medical errors involve issues surrounding communication. Examples include inadequate communication between provider and patients; between family, physicians and nurses; or between primary care physicians and specialist consultants, or physicians and pharmacists. Each of these is relevant to disparity populations, particularly persons with chronic disease or disabilities or elderly who are more likely to have multiple, complex problems that require ongoing care provided by teams of professionals.

Another major safety issue that is not addressed by existing quality measures involves medication prescriptions. Examples include inappropriate use of antibiotics, selection of the wrong medication or dose, failure to adequately assess contraindications including allergies and serious drug interactions, and illegible handwriting. Again, these errors are likely to disproportionately affect disparity populations who require more multiple, chronic medications.

There are relatively few quality measures in the domains of mental health and very few that address management of drug abuse or use of ancillary services such pharmacy, dietary counseling, and physical/occupation therapy. The following paragraphs review key conditions relevant to each disparity population for which quality measures are lacking and discuss the state-of-the-art in measure development in these areas.

Development of New Measures

Many of the steps necessary for the development of measures for different populations overlap with the steps required to develop measures for the general population. There are, however, important differences. First, development of new measures begins with an assessment of the impact of a particular condition on that population. The impact of different conditions differs between populations. Research is needed to identify priority conditions for each disparity population based on the impact of the particular condition on years of healthy life within that population. Conditions with high impact affect large numbers of the population and result in early death or disability, pain, and high costs.

Even when the effectiveness of interventions has been established, there is often a delay of several years before findings are incorporated into national guidelines; development of quality indicators should follow, not precede, establishment of practice guidelines. AHRQ's support of Evidence-based Practice Centers (EPCs) directly addresses this need; the EPCs undertake systematic literature reviews in order to develop evidence reports that provide a foundation which both public and private entities may use to develop and implement their own practice guidelines, performance measures, review criteria, and other quality improvement tools. Recently, AHRQ has partnered with ePocrates, Inc. to disseminate findings from the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force to physicians using personal digital assistants (PDAs). Once evidence-based guidelines have been established and disseminated, then reliable, valid measures need to be developed. Development of measures requires time, funding, and a cadre of well-trained researchers. AHRQ is a major source of funding for this research.

When a quality measure is derived from survey findings, it is critical that the survey instrument be adequately validated for each of the disparity populations. Members of different groups may interpret questions differently, rendering comparisons between groups meaningless. It is critical to obtain an adequate response rate. Failure to do so introduces the possibility of biased results. For example, if less satisfied minorities are less likely to respond to a satisfaction survey than dissatisfied whites, findings will underestimate the level of dissatisfaction among minorities.

Racial and Ethnic Minorities

In a report to the National Quality Forum, Nerenz reviewed candidate quality measures that address aspects of health care targeting priority conditions for minorities.⁸⁹ Other priority conditions include preterm birth, group B streptococcus colonization during pregnancy, neonatal care, chronic renal failure, management of hepatitis C, management of uterine fibroids, asthma, maternal/child care, pain management, HIV/AIDS, low back pain, sickle cell anemia, mental health, end-of-life issues, and cultural competency. Although existing measures target some of these conditions, most of these conditions are not adequately assessed. For example, HEDIS measures address breast and cervical cancer but do not adequately address followup on abnormal screening results even though there are significant racial/ethnic disparities in followup for these conditions.

Most of these candidate measures are also appropriate for the general population. Some are likely to be incorporated into existing measure sets. In other instances, there are as yet no established interventions. Examples of conditions/areas potentially ripe for quality measures include HIV/AIDS, sickle cell anemia, pain management, group B streptococcal prophylaxis during pregnancy, and possibly cultural competency.

Quality measures related to prevention and treatment of *HIV infection* are urgently needed. Given the devastating impact of HIV on minorities and the dramatic impact of appropriate HIV treatment on survival, priority should be given to implementing quality

measures for HIV care. The measures under development by FACCT show promise. The New York State AIDS Institute has clearly shown that quality of HIV care can be feasibly evaluated statewide.⁵⁸³

Sickle cell disease is one of the 10 leading causes of death for African Americans under the age of 25.¹³ Americans of non-African ancestry are rarely affected. Mortality for sickle cell disease varies dramatically between regions of the country, suggesting variation in care.⁵⁸⁴ Hospitalization costs are considerable.⁵⁸⁵ Sickle cell screening and counseling among young adults can help to reduce rates of the disease. Comprehensive care to patients has been shown to reduce hospitalization rates,⁵⁸⁶ and specific interventions such as prophylactic penicillin have been shown to reduce mortality.⁵⁸⁷ Quality measures related to screening/counseling and/or management of this condition are appropriate for health care plans and/or hospitals who serve a large number of African Americans.

Minorities, particularly African Americans, are at higher risk for *acute pain* resulting from traumatic injury or chronic pain resulting from metastatic cancer. Accidents and homicide are the first or second leading cause of death for blacks and Hispanics under the age of 25,¹³ and rates of acute trauma requiring emergency attention are considerably higher among blacks, Hispanics, and Native Americans.^{588,589} As discussed earlier, blacks have significantly higher rates of death from cancer, and rates of death from certain cancers are higher among Hispanics, Asians/Pacific Islanders, and American Indians/Alaska Natives. African Americans, and Hispanics have been reported to receive less appropriate analgesia for metastatic cancer ^{30,36,590} and trauma.^{37,591} Although HEDIS has not yet introduced pain management measures, JCAHO has established a comprehensive set of standards for pain management. Public reporting of adequacy of pain control by race, ethnicity, and income would help to ensure equity in this critical area.

Group B streptococcus is the most frequent cause of neonatal sepsis in the United States. Rates of maternal colonization, neonatal disease, and mortality are significantly higher among blacks.^{154,592,593} Introduction of intrapartum antibiotics has dramatically reduced rates of infection and mortality among blacks and whites, but disparities remain.⁵⁹⁴ Controversy regarding the choice of protocol for screening and treatment of maternal colonization has slowed development of quality measures. Nonetheless, quality measures related to screening and treatment of group B streptococcus during pregnancy or pre-partum appears appropriate.

There is growing recognition among policymakers and health care organization that simply providing technically proficient care is not sufficient. Health care should be *culturally sensitive*. Providers should be sensitive to differences in patients' beliefs, attitudes, customs, and styles of communication that are related to culture. Although it is not realistic to expect physicians and other health care providers to be fluent in the culture of every patient they see, it is reasonable to expect that they will be sensitive to potential differences and respectfully ask patients about their beliefs and preferences. Cultural competence also suggests that health care teams will include staff who are representative of the population they serve. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services has published standards for culturally and linguistically appropriate services. Examples of these standards are as follows: "Health care organizations should insure that patient/consumers receive from all staff members effective, understandable, and respectful care that is provided in a manner compatible with their cultural beliefs, practices and preferred language." "Health care organizations must offer and provide language assistance services including bilingual staff and interpreter services at no cost to each patient/consumer..." "... and must provide patients/consumers in their preferred language both verbal and written notices informing them of their right to receive language assistance services." ⁵⁹⁵

Quality measures could be developed based upon these standards particularly for interventions that are evidence-based, such as use of trained translators^{596,597} and active involvement of patients in decisionmaking.²⁰³

Persons With Low Income

As discussed in section I, persons with low income often experience chronic diseases at younger ages and frequently die earlier than more affluent persons. Conditions that affect the general population affect low-income persons earlier in life. Among the few conditions strongly associated with poverty are tuberculosis, sexually transmitted diseases, and certain occupationally related injuries. Some of these conditions are addressed by existing measures. In other instances, such as tuberculosis, the overall impact on general population health is relatively modest because of the relatively low prevalence of active tuberculosis in the United States. Similarly, behavioral risk factors such as smoking, consumption of a high-caloric and high-fat diet, lack of exercise, and unsafe sexual activity that plague the general population are more prevalent among persons with low income. Many of these risk factors are addressed by current measures, particularly among adolescents when many of these behavioral patterns begin.

The most critical gaps in quality assessment for persons with low income relate to various measures of access to care. The most obvious example is *affordability*. Many persons with low income, even those with health insurance, are often unable to afford needed prescriptions and other health care. Questions about affordability could be easily added to CAHPS[®]. This would allow health plans (and employers) to evaluate the impact of changes in premiums, deductibles, and copayments on the ability of persons with low income to access care.

Health care literacy represents another critical access barrier for low-income persons. Many persons lack the reading ability, knowledge, and skills to effectively navigate the health care system. Many low-income persons leave their physicians' office confused about instructions or the risks and benefits of a particular intervention. Several instruments such as the Test of Functional Health Literacy in Adults (TOFHLA) and the Rapid Estimate of Adult Literacy in Medicine (REALM) test are available to assess a patient's health literacy. Use of these instruments can help health plans and hospitals to tailor communication media to their population. Quality measures that assess the adequacy of health care communication—particularly that provided to low-income persons at risk for low literacy—are needed. Brief instruments, perhaps conducted by office staff in person, could be used to assess a patient's understanding following office visits. JCAHO requires that hospitals and other health care organizations use written materials at appropriate literacy levels. Rates of compliance with this requirement should be publicly reported.

Children

AHRQ, in conjunction with the David and Lucile Packard Foundation, Commonwealth Fund, W.T. Grant Foundation, and American Board of Pediatrics cofunded a conference in February 2002 entitled "Quality Measures for Children's Health Care: Assessing the State of the Science and Practice—A Strategy Development Meeting." Other sponsors included the Center for Health Care Strategies, CMS, CDC, and HRSA. Participants were asked to rank the top three priorities for the field of quality measures for children's health from both an organizational/personal perspective and national perspective. The top three priorities of participants were the same for both perspectives. These were:

- 1. Improvements in methodology of measures (reliability, validity, and feasibility).
- 2. Creation of an informatics infrastructure, such as use of electronic medical records and other electronic means for data collection..
- 3. Building public support for quality measurement and improvement.

Users, funders, physicians, and providers/plans differed in their rankings of various factors.

At the conference, Beal and colleagues presented their comprehensive review of the state of the science of quality measures for children's health care.²⁹² The report noted that no single instrument could be used to assess health care quality for children and that the level of validity and reliability testing varied widely between instruments. The report further noted that there are few child health quality measures that reflect health care safety, living with illness, and end-of-life care or that reflect age-specific care. The report specifically recommended the development of quality measures for newborn care, intensive care, and trauma care and the development of consumer surveys in languages other than English.

The challenges of assessing health care quality for children with disabilities have been recently highlighted.⁹² As Perrin notes, there is insufficient knowledge regarding standard interventions such as speech therapy for language delay, chest physiotherapy for various pulmonary conditions including cystic fibrosis, and treatment for specific mental health problems.⁹² In addition, there are few reliable measures of outcomes or health functioning. As with health care in general, there are no validated pediatric safety measures. For example, there are no measures that reliably assess provider-patient/parent communication, provider-provider communication, or medication-related errors.

The literature on pediatric quality improvement is less developed than the adult literature.⁵⁹⁸ Successful initiatives include reminder systems for office-based practices and inpatient clinical pathways.⁵⁹⁸ Absence of performance standards, reliable measures, and difficulties in changing physician practice patterns are barriers to quality improvement.

Women

Most of the existing measures address health conditions relevant to women although important gaps remain. In particular, measures are needed to assess the quality of care for gender-specific conditions, particularly *reproductive health*. Reliable, validated, evidence-based measures are needed for care related to pregnancy, labor, delivery, and post-partum complications, family planning, fertility, fibroids, irregular or heavy bleeding, gynecological cancer, and menopause. Most of the generic challenges previously discussed are applicable to developing of new quality measures for women.

Further research is needed to establish evidence-based guidelines regarding Cesarean deliveries, hysterectomy for fibroids, and use of hormonal replacement therapy. More research is needed to determine whether women value certain aspects of health care delivery differently than men. Research is also need to identify or develop tools designed to insure effective implementation of these guidelines. Only then may it be appropriate to focus efforts on the development of measures that target these areas. Research is also needed to generate reproducible measures in these key areas and develop feasible ways of implementing new measures. AHRQ is currently supporting research in each of these areas.

In recognition of the need for new measures for women's health, NCQA appointed a Women's Health Measurement Advisory Panel in 1997 charged with identifying, prioritizing, and stimulating the development of quality indicators in key areas related to women's health.⁶⁴ The top conditions included cardiovascular disease, unintended pregnancy, osteoporosis, breast cancer, mental health, violence, lung cancer, cervical cancer, and obesity/eating disorders. Following a comprehensive review, the following indicators were found to satisfy most of the selection criteria: preventive counseling on options for management of menopause, counseling to prevent unintended pregnancy, and *Chlamydia trachomatis* screening (which has since been incorporated). Additional conditions/procedures meriting quality measures for women include menstrual disorders, contraception, childbirth, and pregnancy termination, and osteoporosis. Further research is needed to develop valid, reliable, and feasible measures to assess care for the other priority conditions.

Elderly

Although many existing measures address conditions relevant to the elderly, many gaps remain. These gaps include many of the issues discussed under persons with disabilities and chronic disease in addition to access to expensive prescriptions, coordination of care, and communication problems.

Many of these gaps in quality assessment for the elderly are addressed in the Assessing Care of Vulnerable Elders (ACOVE) project. This project developed a comprehensive set of evidence-based, quality assessment tools for ill, community-dwelling persons 65 years of age and older.⁹³ These include 236 measures comprising 22 topic areas: continuity and coordination of care, dementia, depression, diabetes, end-of-life care, falls, hearing loss, heart failure, hospital care, hypertension, ischemic heart disease, malnutrition, medication use, osteoarthritis, osteoporosis, pain management, pneumonia, pressure ulcers, preventive care, strokes and atrial fibrillation, urinary incontinence, and vision care. These represent the most comprehensive measures for this population that have been developed to date and include many areas that are not addressed by current measures.

The major limitations of this measure set include the large number of measures and the fact that some of them have not been as rigorously evaluated as others. Specifically, some of the measures do not fully satisfy the standard criteria of significance, scientific soundness, and feasibility. Definitive evidence regarding the effectiveness of many of the interventions targeted by the measures is lacking. In many instances, the validity and reliability of these measures has not been conclusively established. Furthermore, the measures are too numerous to implement on a wide scale. Research is needed to determine which of these measures are most relevant for which health care organizations, to assess the cost and burden associated with data collection, and to develop appropriate reporting formats. For these reasons, this measure set is likely to be used in selective instances to evaluate specific projects. Selected measures from ACOVE will likely be adopted by NCQA, JCAHO, FACCT, CMS, and other quality organizations over time.

Research is also needed to develop evidence-based, reliable measures designed to assess the quality of health care provided to elderly persons in long-term care.⁹⁴ The Resident Assessment Instrument (RAI) derived from the Minimum Data Set is the most widely used measure of quality.⁵⁹⁹ However, this instrument many not distinguish nursing homes that provide good quality care from those that provide poor quality care.⁶⁰⁰ Moreover, outcome measures for nursing home quality are plagued by inadequate risk adjustment^{601,602} as well as by many factors other than medical care that may affect outcomes in this population, including nursing care and recreational, environmental, and dietary services. Clearly, there is need for further research regarding these key issues.

Rural and Urban Residents

The major gaps in quality measurement for rural and urban residents relate to access to primary, specialty, and tertiary care. Many rural and inner-city communities are often resource depleted and many qualify for designation as Health Manpower Shortage Areas because of the difficulties of recruiting and retaining physicians and other health professionals. Quality measures are needed to assess rural residents' travel time to various sources of health care and to assess continuity of care for inner-city residents with the same provider. Measures are also needed to determine whether health care providers working in rural and urban settings have access to adequate resources including information technology, specialty consultation and referral, and expensive hospital technology.⁶⁰³

Persons With Disabilities and Chronic Illness

Currently, there are no quality measures in use that specifically address the quality of care provided to adults with disabilities. The CSHCN measures represent a significant advance in assessment of health care quality to children. The strength of the CSHCN measure set lies in its assessment of generic aspects of care to disabled children. It does not assess the quality of specific processes of care for children with specific conditions. Measures are needed that assess the quality of care provided to children with developmental disabilities and to those with chronic illnesses and/or developmental disabilities. Examples include congenital heart disease, type I diabetes, cystic fibrosis, chronic renal failure, cerebral palsy, and cancer, among many others. Global measures similar to the CSHCN ones are needed for adults in order to assess such critical issues as access to primary and specialty care, coordination of care, and access to needed medications, supplies, and equipment.

Existing measures of health status such as the SF-36 may not adequately capture the aspects of health status that are most relevant to persons with disabilities.⁹⁵ It includes questions that are inappropriate for wheelchair-confined persons and may have floor effects for physical function.⁶⁰⁴ Furthermore, persons with disabilities clearly distinguish

between quality of life and health status.⁶⁰⁵ Little is known regarding which quality measures are most relevant to persons with particular disabilities or the impact that different disabilities have on accessing health care. Furthermore, there are relatively few proven interventions that are specific to persons with disabilities.⁹⁵ Research in this area is clearly warranted. Last, research is needed to determine where the largest gaps in quality exist for consumers with different disabilities and to develop measures to assess performance in these areas.

Dejong and colleagues have recommended additional changes in quality measures for disabled persons.³⁵⁵ First, improvements in existing consumer surveys such as CAHPS® are needed. Questions regarding health plan coverage of durable medical equipment, off-formulary prescriptions, and urgent access to needed specialty care are needed. Second, improvements in the structure, modality, and administration of survey questions are needed. Persons with low literacy or cognitive impairments may have difficulty understanding mailed surveys. Telephone-administered surveys can be problematic for persons with speech or hearing impairments. Further research is needed to determine the major health care needs of persons with particular disabilities and to establish effective interventions and practice guidelines. Only then can valid, reliable, feasible quality measures be developed.

Many of the current quality measures under development address management of chronic illness in adults and, in some cases, children. Existing measures address hypertension, lipid disorders, diabetes, asthma, depression, coronary artery disease, congestive heart failure, and breast cancer. However, many of the older measures focus on health care process such as whether a hemoglobin A1C was ordered for a diabetic or whether an ACEI was prescribed for a patient with impaired left ventricular dysfunction. Second generation measures focus more on outcomes such as proportion of patients with adequate control of their diabetes, hypertension, or cholesterol or improvements in functional outcomes.⁹⁶ However, use of these measures requires careful attention to exclusions and risk adjustment.⁹⁶ Common adult conditions not (or minimally) addressed by currently used measures include management of various types of arthritis, low back pain, primary care of the cancer patient, liver disease including hepatitis C, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, anxiety disorders, and renal insufficiency.

Persons Near the End of Life

The identification of key measures for this population presents unique challenges because the goal of care is qualitatively different. Currently, there are no widely used quality measures for this population; the measure set under development by FACCT represents a quantum advance. Measures are also needed to determine the extent to which care is meeting the social, psychological, and spiritual needs of the dying patient and his or her family. Further study is needed to determine the impact of inpatient versus home hospice care on families and the effect of quality measures on relevant outcomes.

Research and Development

Research is needed to ensure appropriate implementation of existing measures for disparity populations and to develop new measures. AHRQ is sponsoring much of this research. Research is needed to determine the most cost-effective and least intrusive

means for identifying members of disparity populations, for obtaining data on quality of care, and for preparing and disseminating reports. Research is also needed for each of the phases in the development of new measures. Established interventions that target a priority condition for a particular population must be identified or developed. Treatment guidelines must be promulgated. In many instances, absence of established interventions impedes progress. Examples include prematurity in African Americans and prevention of Alzheimer's disease in the elderly. Rates of extreme preterm birth are nearly 4 times higher among blacks than whites and represent the largest contributor to racial disparities in infant mortality.⁶⁰⁶ Severe prematurity is often associated with lifelong health impairments.⁶⁰⁷ Unfortunately, there are few interventions that have been shown to prevent preterm birth. The most promising interventions involve screening and treatment of bacterial vaginosis during pregnancy; but to date, data are mixed regarding its effectiveness.⁶⁰⁸ Alzheimer's disease has a devastating impact on affected individuals and families. The economic costs of long-term care for this disease are enormous. Yet, current medical treatments yield only modest improvements, and no preventive interventions have been developed.⁶⁰⁹

Translational research is also needed to develop evidence-based practice guidelines and to find ways to effectively implement these guidelines in practice. Research is needed to develop, pilot, and validate reliable quality measures to fill gaps in existing measures. Last, research is needed to assess the impact of implementation of these measures on provider and consumer behavior, costs, and improvements in health outcomes.

VI. Summary and Conclusions

This report has shown why quality measures are needed to monitor the quality of care provided to disparity populations. Many members of disparity populations face the double jeopardy of higher risk for morbidity/mortality coupled with higher risk for inferior care. This risk is further compounded by the intersection between disparity populations. A disabled, low-income, black, elderly, female, rural resident represents six different disparity populations.

The reasons for disparities in health and health care among different populations are multiple. They include patient-level factors such as ability to afford care, health care literacy, and culture; physician-level factors such as bias, competing demands, and time pressure; plan-level factors such as cost-containment policies and practice guidelines; and sociological factors including racism, community poverty, and diffusion of information patterns. Regardless of the cause, quality of care cannot be improved if it is not measured.

To ensure that members of disparity populations receive appropriate state-of-the-art health care, two types of quality measures are needed. First, existing quality measures should be stratified or reported separately for a disparity population when there is evidence of disparate impact of the health condition targeted by the quality measure. Second, existing quality measures should be supplemented with measures that assess conditions/interventions likely to have a significant impact on the disparity population.

Review of quality measures currently in use shows that many are relevant to disparity populations:

- All the existing measures are relevant to racial and ethnic minorities. However, none is currently reported separately by race or ethnicity although the National Quality Forum has recently endorsed this critical step. Population-specific reporting represents a central challenge to current quality assessment. In the absence of measurement, the core dimension of equity cannot be assured. Additional measures relevant to racial and ethnic minorities are needed, particularly for access to expensive technology, prevention and treatment of HIV/AIDS, and cultural competency among others.
- Most existing measures are also relevant to persons with low income; separate reporting for this population is also needed. Measures of health care affordability and adequacy of communication would be particularly salient for persons with low income.
- Quality measurement for children lags behind adults, but significant progress has been made in the past few years. Notable advances include the Young Adults Health Care Survey and the survey of Children with Special Health Care Needs. New measures are needed for newborn care, intensive care, and trauma care. Also needed is development of consumer surveys in languages other than English.
- Many priority conditions for women are addressed by current measures. Other priority conditions such as violence, mental health, and eating disorders require a firmer foundation in the scientific evidence before they can be appropriately targeted by quality measures.
- Many existing measures also address key conditions affecting the elderly. A key challenge is the development and implementation of measures to address the

myriad of problems confronting the elderly. Many of these gaps in measures for the elderly are addressed through the ACOVE project. However, the feasibility of widespread implementation of these measures poses a major challenge.

- Rural and urban residents have many of the same health care needs as the general population. In this respect, current measures are appropriate for this population. Additional measures focusing on access to primary, secondary, and tertiary care are needed.
- There are no quality measures that specifically address the health care needs of disabled adults. However, a measure for disabled children (CSHCN) demonstrates that it is likely to be feasible to do so. Critical areas for measurement for disabled adults include access to primary and specialty care, patient- and family-centered care, coordination of care, and access to needed equipment and supplies. Many existing measures address the consumer perspective of living with illness. New measures are needed that reliably assess relevant outcomes in management of chronic illness.
- There are no widely used measures for persons near the end of life. The FACCT measures under development show major promise. Further research is needed to identify pivotal processes in the care of this unique population.

Available data show that quality improvement can reduce if not eliminate disparities in health care. Use of immunization registries, tracking, and outreach have been shown to nearly eliminate childhood immunizations in Rochester New York.⁹⁷ A similar approach dramatically improved mammography rates among inner-city residents.⁴⁴³A CMSsponsored quality improvement project markedly reduced racial and gender disparities in adequacy of hemodialyis dose.⁹⁸ Training of physicians and nurses in detection and management of depression eliminated disparities in depression management and outcome between insured and uninsured patients.⁹⁹ Disparities by educational level in diabetic control were eliminated among subjects randomized to intensive education and followup in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) in contrast to those randomized to standard treatment.²⁰⁵ Finally, the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) health system has implemented a quality improvement program to boost rates of influenza vaccination that includes patient reminders, standing orders, free standing vaccination clinics, and most importantly assessment of vaccination rates with feedback to providers.^{610,611} At least in some sites, this program has not only exceeded 2010 goals for influenza immunization of 90 percent, but has eliminated racial disparities in receipt of influenza immunization.¹⁰⁰ These findings underscore that disparities are not inevitable, but can often be addressed using currently available quality improvement programs. Improving quality and reducing disparities are two sides of the same coin.¹⁰¹

References

- 1. Institute of Medicine. Medicare: A Strategy for Quality Assurance. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press, 1990.
- 2. Institute of Medicine. Envisioning the National Health Care Quality Report. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press, 2001.
- 3. Institute of Medicine. Unequal treatment: confronting racial and ethnic disparities in health care. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press, 2002.
- 4. Sorlie PD, Backlund E, Keller JB. US mortality by economic, demographic, and social characteristics: The national longitudinal mortality study. Am J Public Health 1995;85:949-956.
- 5. Otten MW, Jr., Teutsch SM, Williamson DF, Marks JS. The effect of known risk factors on the excess mortality of black adults in the United States. JAMA 1990;263:845-850.
- 6. Sorlie P, Rogot E, Anderson R, Johnson NJ, Backlund E. Black-white mortality differences by family income. Lancet 1992;340:346-350.
- 7. Eberhardt MS, Ingram DD, Makuc DM. Urban and Rural Health Chartbook, Health, United States, 2001. Hyattsville, M.D.: National Center for Health Statistics, 2001.
- 8. Wong MD, Shapiro MF, Boscardin WJ, Ettner SL. Contribution of major diseases to disparities in mortality. N Engl J Med 2002 347:1585-92..
- 9. Wingo PA, Ries LA, Rosenberg HM, Miller DS, Edwards BK. Cancer incidence and mortality, 1973-1995: a report card for the U.S. Cancer 1998;82:1197-1207.
- Rosenberg HM, Maurer JD, Sorlie PD, Johnson NJ, MacDorman MF, Hoyert DL et al. Quality of death rates by race and Hispanic origin: a summary of current research, 1999. Vital & Health Statistics - Series 2: Data evaluation & Methods Research 1999;1-13.
- 11. Muneta B, Newman J, Stevenson J, Eggers P. Diabetic end-stage renal disease among Native Americans. Diabetes Care 1993;16:346-348.
- 12. Bolen JC, Rhodes L, Powell-Griner EE, Bland SD, Holtzman D. State-specific prevalence of selected health behaviors, by race and ethnicity--Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 1997. Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report CDC Surveillance Summaries 2000;49:1-60.
- 13. Hoyert DL, Kochanek KD, Murphy SL. Deaths: final data for 1997. National Vital Statistics Reports 1999;47:1-104.

- 14. Lowther SA, Shay DK, Holman RC, Clarke MJ, Kaufman SF, Anderson LJ. Bronchiolitis-associated hospitalizations among American Indian and Alaska Native children . Pediatr Infect Dis J 2000;19:11-17.
- 15. Prevalence of selected risk factors for chronic disease and injury among American Indians and Alaska Natives--United States, 1995-1998. MMWR 2000;49:79-82.
- 16. Prevalence of diagnosed diabetes among American Indians/Alaskan Natives--United States, 1996. MMWR 1998;47:901-904.
- 17. Denny CH, Taylor TL. American Indian and Alaska Native health behavior: findings from the behavioral risk factor surveillance system, 1992-1995. Ethn Dis 1999;9:403-409.
- 18. Williams DR, Collins C. US socioeconomic and racial differences in health: patterns and explanations. Ann Rev Sociol 1995;21:349-386.
- 19. Lillie-Blanton M, Parsons PE, Gayle H, Dievler A. Racial differences in health: not just black and white, but shades of gray. Ann Rev Public Health 1996;17:411-448.
- 20. Shavers VL, Brown ML. Racial and ethnic disparities in the receipt of cancer treatment. J Nat Cancer Inst 2002;94:334-357.
- Klabunde CN, Potosky AL, Harlan LC, Kramer BS. Trends and black/white differences in treatment for nonmetastatic prostate cancer. Med Care 1998;36:1337-1348.
- 22. Moore RD, Stanton D, Gopalan R, Chaisson RE. Racial differences in the use of drug therapy for HIV disease in an urban community. N Engl J Med 1994;330:763-768.
- 23. Cunningham WE, Markson LE, Andersen RM, Crystal SH, Fleishman JA, Golin C et al. Prevalence and predictors of highly active antiretroviral therapy use in patients with HIV infection in the united states. HCSUS Consortium. HIV Cost and Services Utilization. J AIDS 2000;25:115-123.
- 24. Sirey JA, Meyers BS, Bruce ML, Alexopoulos GS, Perlick DA, Raue P. Predictors of antidepressant prescription and early use among depressed outpatients. Am J Psychiatr 1999;156:690-696.
- 25. Ayanian JZ, Weissman JS, Chasan-Taber S, Epstein AM. Quality of care by race and gender for congestive heart failure and pneumonia. Med Care 1999;37:1260-1269.
- 26. Kahn KL, Pearson ML, Harrison ER, Desmond KA, Rogers WH, Rubenstein LV et al. Health care for black and poor hospitalized Medicare patients. JAMA 1994;271:1169-1174.

- 27. Hahn BA. Children's health: racial and ethnic differences in the use of prescription medications. Pediatrics 1995;95:727-732.
- 28. Johnson PA, Lee TH, Cook EF, Rouan GW, Goldman L. Effect of race on the presentation and management of patients with acute chest pain. Ann Intern Med 1993;118:593-601.
- 29. Kogan MD, Kotelchuck M, Johnson S. Racial differences in late prenatal care visits. J Perinatol 1993;13:14-21.
- Cleeland CS, Gonin R, Baez L, Loehrer P, Pandya KJ. Pain and treatment of pain in minority patients with cancer. The Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Minority Outpatient Pain Study. Ann Intern Med 1997;127:813-816.
- 31. Virnig BA, Lurie N, Huang Z, Musgrave D, McBean AM, Dowd B. Racial variation in quality of care among Medicare+Choice enrollees. Health Aff 2002;21:224-30.
- 32. Carlisle DM, Leake BD, Shapiro MF. Racial and ethnic differences in the use of invasive cardiac procedures among cardiac patients in Los Angeles County, 1986 through 1988. Am J Public Health 1995;85:352-356.
- 33. Weitzman S, Cooper L, Chambless L, Rosamond W, Clegg L, Marcucci G et al. Gender, racial, and geographic differences in the performance of cardiac diagnostic and therapeutic procedures for hospitalized acute myocardial infarction in four states. Am J Cardiol 1997;79:722-726.
- Allison JJ, Kiefe CI, Centor RM, Box JB, Farmer RM. Racial differences in the medical treatment of elderly Medicare patients with acute myocardial infarction. J Gen Intern Med 1996;11:736-743.
- 35. Herholz H, Goff DC, Ramsey DJ, Chan FA, Ortiz C, Labarthe DR et al. Women and Mexican Americans receive fewer cardiovascular drugs following myocardial infarction than men and non-Hispanic whites: the Corpus Christi Heart Project, 1988-1990. J Clin Epidemiol 1996;49:279-287.
- 36. Bernabei R, Gambassi G, Lapane K, Landi F, Gatsonis C, Dunlop R et al. Management of pain in elderly patients with cancer. SAGE Study Group. Systematic Assessment of Geriatric Drug Use via. JAMA 1998;279:1877-1882.
- 37. Todd KH, Samaroo N, Hoffman JR. Ethnicity as a risk factor for inadequate emergency department analgesia . JAMA 1993;269:1537-1539.
- 38. Lantz PM, House JS, Lepkowski JM, Williams DR, Mero RP, Chen J. Socioeconomic factors, health behaviors, and mortality: results from a nationally representative prospective study of US adults. JAMA 1998;279:1703-1708.

- 39. Kaplan GA, Keil JE. Socioeconomic factors and cardiovascular disease: a review of the literature. Circulation 1993;88:1973-1998.
- 40. Lynch JW, Kaplan GA, Shema SJ. Cumulative impact of sustained economic hardship on physical, cognitive, psychological, and social functioning. N Engl J Med 1997;337:1889-1895.
- 41. Anderson NB, Armstead CA. Toward understanding the association of socioeconomic status and health: a new challenge for the biopsychosocial approach.. Psychosom Med 1995;57:213-225.
- 42. Montgomery SM, Bartley MJ, Wilkinson RG. Family conflict and slow growth. Arch Dis Child 1997;77:326-330.
- 43. Bosma H, Mheen HD, Mackenbach JP. Social class in childhood and general health in adulthood: questionnaire study of contribution of psychological attributes. BMJ 1999;318:18-22.
- 44. Marmot MG, Smith GD, Stansfeld S, Patel C, North F, Head J et al. Health inequalities among British civil servants: the Whitehall II study. Lancet 1991;337:1387-1393.
- 45. Conger RD, Ge X, Elder GH, Jr., Lorenz FO, Simons RL. Economic stress, coercive family process, and developmental problems of adolescents. Child Dev 1994;65:541-561.
- 46. Borg V, Kristensen TS. Social class and self-rated health: can the gradient be explained by differences in life style or work environment? Soc Sci Med 2000;51:1019-1030.
- 47. Glendinning A, Hendry L, Shucksmith J. Lifestyle, health and social class in adolescence. Soc Sci Med 1995;41:235-248.
- 48. Marmot MG, Bosma H, Hemingway H, Brunner E, Stansfeld S. Contribution of job control and other risk factors to social variations in coronary heart disease incidence. Lancet 1997;350:235-239.
- 49. Scherwitz L, Perkins L, Chesney M, Hughes G. Cook-Medley Hostility scale and subsets: relationship to demographic and psychosocial characteristics in young adults in the CARDIA study. Pschosom Med 1991;53:36-49.
- 50. Chin NP, Monroe A, Fiscella K. Social determinants of (Un)Healthy Behaviors. Educ Health 2001;13:317-328.
- 51. Lundberg O. Childhood conditions, sense of coherence, social class and adult ill health: exploring their theoretical and empirical relations. Soc Sci Med 1997;44:821-831.

- 52. Brooks-Gunn J, Duncan GJ, Klebanov PK, Sealand N. Do neighborhoods influence child and adolescent development? Am J Sociology 1993 99;353-395.
- 53. Potosky AL, Breen N, Graubard BI, Parsons PE. The association between health care coverage and the use of cancer screening tests. Results from the 1992 National Health Interview Survey. Med Care 1998;36:257-270.
- 54. Hahn RA, Teutsch SM, Franks AL, Chang MH, Lloyd EE. The prevalence of risk factors among women in the United States by race and age, 1992-1994: opportunities for primary and secondary prevention. J Am Med Womens Association 1998;53:96-104, 107.
- 55. Doebbeling BN, Edmond MB, Davis CS, Woodin JR, Zeitler RR. Influenza vaccination of health care workers: evaluation of factors that are important in acceptance. Prev Med 1997;26:68-77.
- Schocken DD, Arrieta MI, Leaverton PE, Ross EA. Prevalence and mortality rate of congestive heart failure in the United States. J Am Coll Cardiol 1992;20:301-306.
- 57. McDonald TP, Coburn AF. Predictors of prenatal care utilization. Soc Sci Med 1988;27:167-172.
- 58. Yergan J, Flood AB, Diehr P, LoGerfo JP. Relationship between patient source of payment and the intensity of hospital services. Med Care 1988;26:1111-1114.
- Alter DA, Naylor CD, Austin P, Tu JV. Effects of socioeconomic status on access to invasive cardiac procedures and on mortality after acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 1999;341:1359-1367.
- 60. Brook RH, Kamberg CJ, Lohr KN, Goldberg GA, Keeler EB, Newhouse JP. Quality of ambulatory care. Epidemiology and comparison by insurance status and income. Med Care 1990;28:392-433.
- 61. Rathore SS, Berger AK, Weinfurt KP, Feinleib M, Oetgen WJ, Gersh BJ et al. Race, sex, poverty, and the medical treatment of acute myocardial infarction in the elderly. Circulation 2000;102:642-648.
- 62. United States Bureau of the Census (available at http:// www.census.gov, accessed 4/11/03).
- 63. Hill GB, Eschenbach DA, Holmes KK. Bacteriology of the vagina. In: Mardh PA, Taylor-Robinson D, editors. Bacterial vaginosis. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell, 1984: 23-40.
- 64. Mckinley ED, Thompson JW, Briefer-French J, Wilcox L, Weisman CS, Andrews WC. Performance indicators in women's health: Incorporating women's

health in the Health Plan Employer Data and Information Set (HEDIS). Women's Health Issues 2001;12: 46-58.

- 65. Raine R. Does gender bias exist in the use of specialist health care?. J Health Serv Res Policy 2000;5:237-249.
- 66. Ayanian JZ, Epstein AM. Differences in the use of procedures between women and men hospitalized for coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 1991;325:221-225.
- 67. Franks P, Clancy CM, Naumburg EH. Sex, access, and excess. Ann Intern Med 1995;123:548-550.
- 68. Rathore SS, Chen J, Wang Y, Radford MJ, Vaccarino V, Krumholz HM. Sex differences in cardiac catheterization: the role of physician gender. JAMA 2001;286:2849-2856.
- 69. Kjellstrand CM. Age, sex, and race inequality in renal transplantation. Arch Intern Med 1988;148:1305-1309.
- 70. Garg PP, Furth SL, Fivush BA, Powe NR. Impact of gender on access to the renal transplant waiting list for pediatric and adult patients. J Am Soc Nephrol 2000;11:958-964.
- 71. Khajehdehi P. Living non-related versus related renal transplantation--its relationship to the social status, age and gender of recipients and donors. Nephrology Dialysis Transplant 1999;14:2621-2624.
- 72. Anderson KO, Mendoza TR, Valero V, Richman SP, Russell C, Hurley J et al. Minority cancer patients and their providers: pain management attitudes and practice. Cancer 2000;88:1929-1938.
- 73. Zhan C, Sangl J, Bierman AS, Miller MR, Friedman B, Wickizer SW et al. Potentially inappropriate medication use in the community-dwelling elderly: findings from the 1996 Medical Expenditure Panel Survey. JAMA 2001;286:2823-2829.
- 74. Walter LC, Covinsky KE. Cancer screening in elderly patients: a framework for individualized decision making. JAMA 2001;285:2750-2756.
- 75. Walter LC, Eng C, Covinsky KE. Screening mammography for frail older women: What are the burdens? J Gen Intern Med 16; 779-784.
- 76. Chochinov HM. Dignity-conserving care-a new model for palliative care: helping the patient feel valued. JAMA 2002;287:2253-2260.

- 77. Cleeland CS, Gonin R, Hatfield AK, Edmonson JH, Blum RH, Stewart JA et al. Pain and its treatment in outpatients with metastatic cancer. N Engl J Med 1994;330:592-596.
- A controlled trial to improve care for seriously ill hospitalized patients. The study to understand prognoses and preferences for outcomes and risks of treatments (SUPPORT). The SUPPORT Principal Investigators. JAMA 1995;274:1591-1598.
- 79. Wolfe J, Grier HE, Klar N, Levin SB, Ellenbogen JM, Salem-Schatz S et al. Symptoms and suffering at the end of life in children with cancer. N Engl J Med 2000;342:326-333.
- 80. Doescher MP, Saver BG, Franks P, Fiscella K. Racial and ethnic disparities in perceptions of physician style and trust. Arch Fam Med 2000;9:1156-1163.
- 81. Morales LS, Reise SP, Hays RD. Evaluating the equivalence of health care ratings by whites and Hispanics. Med Care 2000;38:517-527.
- 82. Cooper-Patrick L, Gallo JJ, Gonzales JJ, Vu HT, Powe NR, Nelson C et al. Race, gender, and partnership in the patient-physician relationship. JAMA 1999;282:583-589.
- 83. Garcia JA, Romano PS, Chan BK, Kass PH, Robbins JA. Sociodemographic factors and the assignment of do-not-resuscitate orders in patients with acute myocardial infarctions. Med Care 2000;38:670-678.
- 84. Borum ML, Lynn J, Zhong Z. The effects of patient race on outcomes in seriously ill patients in SUPPORT: an overview of economic impact, medical intervention, and end-of-life decisions. Study to Understand Prognoses and Preferences for Outcomes and Risks of Treatments. J Am Geriatr Soc 2000;48(5 Suppl):S194-198.
- 85. Thompson BL, Lawson D, Croughan-Minihane M, Cooke M. Do patients' ethnic and social factors influence the use of do-not-resuscitate orders? Ethn Dis 1999;9:132-139.
- 86. Shepardson LB, Gordon HS, Ibrahim SA, Harper DL, Rosenthal GE. Racial variation in the use of do-not-resuscitate orders. J Gen Intern Med 1999;14:15-20.
- 87. Institute of Medicine. Protecting Data Privacy in Health Services Research. Washington: National Academy Press, 2000.
- 88. Bierman AS, Lurie N, Collins KS, Eisenberg JM. Addressing racial and ethnic barriers to effective health care: the need for better data. Health Aff 2002;21:91-102.

- 89. Improving Healthcare Quality for Minority Patients. Washington, D.C.: National Quality Forum, 2002.
- 90. Institute of Medicine. To Err is Human: Building a Safer Health System. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press, 2000.
- 91. Chang SW, Kerlikowske K, Napoles-Springer A, Posner SF, Sickles EA, Perez-Stable EJ. Racial differences in timeliness of follow-up after abnormal screening mammography. Cancer 1996;78:1395-1402.
- 92. Perrin JM. Health services research for children with disabilities. Milbank Q 2002;80:303-324.
- 93. Wenger NS, Shekelle PG. Assessing care of vulnerable elders: ACOVE project overview. Ann Intern Med 2001;135:t-6.
- 94. Institute of Medicine. Improving the Quality of Long-term Care. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press, 2001.
- 95. Jette AM, Keysor JJ. Uses of evidence in disability outcomes and effectiveness research. Milbank Q 2002;80:325-345.
- 96. Kerr EA, Krein SL, Vijan S, Hofer TP, Hayward RA. Avoiding pitfalls in chronic disease quality measurement: a case for the next generation of technical quality measures. Am J Manag Care 2001;7:1033-1043.
- 97. Szilagyi PG, Schaffer S, Shone L, Barth R, Humiston SG, Sandler M et al. Reducing geographic, racial, and ethnic disparities in childhood immunization rates by using reminder/recall interventions in urban primary care practices. Pediatrics 2002;110:e58.
- 98. Sehgal AR. Impact of quality improvement efforts on race and sex disparities in hemodialysis. JAMA 289(8):996-1000, 2003.
- 99. Smith JL, Rost KM, Nutting PA, Elliott CE. Resolving disparities in antidepressant treatment and quality-of-life outcomes between uninsured and insured primary care patients with depression. Soc. Medical Care 2001;39:910-922.
- 100. Zimmerman RK, Santibanez TA, Janosky JE, Fine MJ, Raymund M, Wilson SA et al. What affects influenza vaccination rates among older patients? An analysis from inner-city, suburban, rural, and veterans affairs practices. Am J Med 2003; 114:31-8.
- 101. Aaron KF, Clancy CM. Improving quality and reducing disparities: toward a common pathway. JAMA 2003;289:1033-4.

- 102. Collins KS, Hughes DL, Doty MM, Ives BL, Edwards JN, Tenney K. Diverse Communities, Common Concerns: Assessing Health Care Quality for Minority Americans. #523 ed. New York: The Commonwealth Fund, 2002.
- 103. Reed MC, Tu HT. Triple jeopardy: low income, chronically ill and uninsured in America. Issues Brief/Center for Studying Health System Change 2002;49:1-5.
- 104. Williams DR. The monitoring of racial/ethnic status in the USA: data quality issues. Ethn Health 1999;4:121-137.
- 105. Williams DR. Race/ethnicity and socioeconomic status: measurement and methodological issues. Int J Health Serv 1996;26:483-505.
- Donabedian A. The seven pillars of quality. Arch Path Lab Med 1990;114:1115-1118.
- 107. Evans RG. Introduction. In: Evans RG, Barer ML, Marmour R, editors. Why are Some People Healthy and Others Not? The Determinants of Health of Populations. New York: Aldine De Gruyter, 1994.
- Kerr EA, Krein SL, Vijan S, Hofer TP, Hayward RA. Avoiding pitfalls in chronic disease quality measurement: a case for the next generation of technical quality measures. Am J Manag Care 2001;7:1033-1043.
- 109. Mukamel DB, Murthy AS, Weimer DL. Racial differences in access to highquality cardiac surgeons. Am J Public Health 2000;90:1774-1777.
- 110. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Pneumococcal and influenza vaccination levels among adults aged greater than or equal to 65 years--United States, 1995. MMWR 1997;46:913-919.
- 111. Ferguson JA, Adams TA, Weinberger M. Racial differences in cardiac catheterization use and appropriateness. Am J Med Sci 1998;315:302-306.
- 112. Exner DV, Dries DL, Domanski MJ, Cohn JN. Lesser response to angiotensinconverting-enzyme inhibitor therapy in black as compared with white patients with left ventricular dysfunction. N Engl J Med 2001;344:1351-1357.
- 113. Rathore SS, Wang Y, Krumholz HM. Sex-based differences in the effect of digoxin for the treatment of heart failure. N Engl J Med 2002 347:1403-11..
- 114. Wong MD, Shapiro MF, Boscardin WJ, Ettner SL. Contribution of major diseases to disparities in mortality. N Engl J Med 2002;347:1585-1592.
- 115. Geronimus AT, Bound J, Waidmann TA, Hillemeier MM, Burns PB. Excess mortality among blacks and whites in the United States. N Engl J Med 1996;335:1552-1558.

- 116. Waidmann TA, Rajan S. Race and ethnic disparities in health care access and utilization: an examination of state variation. Med Care Res Rev 2000;57 Suppl 1:55-84.
- 117. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (available at http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss.htm, accessed 4/11/03)
- 118. Mendoza FS, Ventura SJ, Valdez RB, Castillo RO, Saldivar LE, Baisden K et al. Selected measures of health status for Mexican-American, mainland Puerto Rican, and Cuban-American children. JAMA 1991;265:227-232.
- 119. Ostchega Y, Harris TB, Hirsch R, Parsons VL, Kington R. The prevalence of functional limitations and disability in older persons in the US: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey III. J Am Geriatr Soc 2000;48:1132-1135.
- 120. Keppel KG, Pearcy JN, Wagener DK. Trends in racial and ethnic-specific rates for the health status indicators: United States, 1990-98. Stat Notes . Hyattsville, M.D., National Center for Health Statistics.
- 121. Hoyert DL, Kung HC. Asian or Pacific Islander mortality, selected states, 1992. Monthly Vital Statistics Rep 1997 Aug 14;46 (1 Suppl):1-63.
- 122. Locke FB, King H. Cancer mortality risk among Japanese in the United States. J Natl Cancer Inst 1980;65:1149-1156.
- 123. King H, Rewers M. Global estimates for prevalence of diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance in adults. WHO Ad Hoc Diabetes Reporting Group. Diabetes Care 1993;16:157-177.
- 124. Singh GK, Siapush M. All-cause and cause-specific mortality of immigrants and native born in the United States. Am J Public Health 2001;91:392-399.
- 125. McGrady GA, Sung JF, Rowley DL, Hogue CJ. Preterm delivery and low birth weight among first-born infants of black and white college graduates. Am J Epidemiol 1992;136:266-276.
- 126. United States Bureau of the Census: Minority Links (available at http://www.census.gov/pubinfo/www/afamhot1.html on April 12, 2001).
- 127. Mayberry RM, Mili F, Ofili E. Racial and ethnic differences in access to medical care. Med Care Res Rev 2000;57 Suppl 1:108-45.
- 128. Eisenberg JM, Power EJ. Transforming insurance coverage into quality health care: voltage drops from potential to delivered quality. JAMA 2000;284:2100-2107.

- 129. Shi L. Experience of primary care by racial and ethnic groups in the United States . Med Care 1999;37:1068-1077.
- 130. Calle EE, Flanders WD, Thun MJ, Martin LM. Demographic predictors of mammography and Pap smear screening in US women. Am J Public Health 1993;83:53-60.
- 131. Collins SC, Hall A, Neuhaus C. U.S. Minority Health: A Chartbook. New York: The Commonwealth Fund, 1999.
- 132. Sudano JJ, Jr., Baker DW. Antihypertensive medication use in Hispanic adults: a comparison with black adults and white adults. Med Care 2001;39:575-587.
- 133. Kagawa-Singer M, Pourat N. Asian American and Pacific Islander breast and cervical carcinoma screening rates and healthy people 2000 objectives. Cancer 2000;89:696-705.
- 134. Kressin NR, Petersen LA. Racial differences in the use of invasive cardiovascular procedures: review of the literature and prescription for future research. Ann Intern Med 2001;135:352-366.
- 135. Bindman AB, Grumbach K, Osmond D, Komaromy M, Vranizan K, Lurie N et al. Preventable hospitalizations and access to health care. JAMA 1995;274:305-311.
- 136. Culler SD, Parchman ML, Przybylski M. Factors related to potentially preventable hospitalizations among the elderly. Med Care 1998;36:804-817.
- 137. Weissman JS, Gatsonis C, Epstein AM. Rates of avoidable hospitalization by insurance status in Massachusetts and Maryland. JAMA 1992;268:2388-2394.
- 138. Weissman JS, Stern RS, Epstein AM. The impact of patient socioeconomic status and other social factors on readmission: a prospective study in four Massachusetts hospitals. Inquiry 1994;31:163-172.
- 139. Schwartz E, Kofie VY, Rivo M, Tuckson RV. Black/white comparisons of deaths preventable by medical intervention: United States and the District of Columbia 1980-1986. Int J of Epidemiol 1990;19:591-598.
- 140. Bach PB, Cramer LD, Warren JL, Begg CB. Racial differences in the treatment of early-stage lung cancer. N Engl J Med 1999;341:1198-1205.
- 141. Yacht AC, Chaisson CE, Freund KM, Bramwell L, Ash AS. Sex and racial disparities in post-AMI procedures and mortality. J Gen Intern Med 2002;17:S170.

- 142. Gornick ME, Eggers PW, Reilly TW, Mentnech RM, Fitterman LK, Kucken LE et al. Effects of race and income on mortality and use of services among Medicare beneficiaries. N Engl J Med 1996;335:791-799.
- 143. Boscarino JA, Chang J. Survival after coronary artery bypass graft surgery and community socioeconomic status: clinical and research implications. Med Care 1999;37:210-216.
- Gray RJ, Nessim S, Khan SS, Denton T, Matloff JM. Adverse 5-year outcome after coronary artery bypass surgery in blacks. Arch Intern Med 1996;156:769-773.
- 145. Ershoff DH, Aaronson NK, Danaher BG, Wasserman FW. Behavioral, health, and cost outcomes of an HMO-based prenatal health education program. Public Health Rep 1983;98:536-47.
- 146. Morris DA, Peracha MO, Shin DH, Kim C, Cha SC, Kim YY. Risk factors for early filtration failure requiring suture release after primary glaucoma triple procedure with adjunctive mitomycin. Arch Ophthalmol 1999;117:1149-1154.
- 147. Rigdon EE. Racial and gender differences in outcome after carotid endarterectomy. Am Surg 1998;64:527-530.
- 148. Fiscella K. Racial disparities in preterm births. The role of urogenital infections . Public Health Rep 1996;111:104-113.
- 149. Fiscella K. Race, perinatal outcome, and amniotic infection. Obstet Gynecol Surv 1996;51:60-66.
- Dooley SL, Metzger BE, Cho NH. Gestational diabetes mellitus. Influence of race on disease prevalence and perinatal outcome in a U.S. population. Diabetes 1991;40 Suppl 2:25-9.
- 151. Eskenazi B, Fenster L, Sidney S. A multivariate analysis of risk factors for preeclampsia. JAMA 1991;266:237-241.
- 152. Eschenbach DA, Gravett MG, Chen KC, Hoyme UB, Holmes KK. Bacterial vaginosis during pregnancy. An association with prematurity and postpartum complications. Scand J Urol Nephrol Suppl 1984;86:213-222.
- 153. Hillier SL, Kiviat NB, Hawes SE, Hasselquist MB, Hanssen PW, Eschenbach DA et al. Role of bacterial vaginosis-associated microorganisms in endometritis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1996;175:435-441.
- 154. Goldenberg RL, Klebanoff MA, Nugent R, Krohn MA, Hillier S, Andrews WW. Bacterial colonization of the vagina during pregnancy in four ethnic groups. Vaginal Infections and Prematurity Study Group. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1996;174:1618-1621.

- 155. Young GJ, Meterko M, Desai KR. Patient satisfaction with hospital care: effects of demographic and institutional characteristics. Med Care 2000;38:325-334.
- 156. Hogue CJ, Hargraves MA. The Commonwealth Fund Minority Health Survey 1994. In: Hogue CJ, Hargraves MA, Collins KS, editors. Minority Health in America. Baltimore: the Johns Hopkins Press, 2000.
- 157. Morales LS, Cunningham WE, Brown JA, Liu H, Hays RD. Are Latinos less satisfied with communication by health care providers? J Gen Intern Med 1999;14:409-417.
- 158. Murray-Garcia JL, Selby JV, Schmittdiel J, Grumbach K, Quesenberry CP, Jr. Racial and ethnic differences in a patient survey: patients' values, ratings, and reports regarding physician primary care performance in a large health maintenance organization. Med Care 2000;38:300-310.
- 159. Lannon C, Brack V, Stuart J, Caplow M, McNeill A, Bordley WC et al. What mothers say about why poor children fall behind on immunizations. A summary of focus groups in North Carolina. Arch Pediatr Adol Med 1995;149:1070-1075.
- 160. Fiscella K, Franks P, Clancy CM. Skepticism toward medical care and health care utilization. Med Care 1998;36:180-189.
- Heckman TG, Somlai AM, Peters J, Walker J, Otto-Salaj L, Galdabini CA et al. Barriers to care among persons living with HIV/AIDS in urban and rural areas. AIDS Care 1998;10:365-375.
- 162. Perloff JD, Kletke PR, Fossett JW, Banks S. Medicaid participation among urban primary care physicians. Med Care 1997;35:142-157.
- 163. Ad Hoc Committee on Health Literacy for the Council on Scientific Affairs AMA. Health literacy: report of the Council on Scientific Affairs. JAMA 1999;281:552-557.
- 164. Raczynski JM, Taylor H, Cutter G, Hardin M, Rappaport N, Oberman A. Diagnoses, symptoms, and attribution of symptoms among black and white inpatients admitted for coronary heart disease. Am J Public Health 1994;84:951-956.
- 165. Baker DW, Parker RM, Williams MV, Clark WS. Health literacy and the risk of hospital admission J Gen Intern Med 1998;13:791-798.
- 166. Brown ML, Potosky AL, Thompson GB, Kessler LG. The knowledge and use of screening tests for colorectal and prostate cancer: data from the 1987 National Health Interview Survey. Prev Med 1990;19:562-574.

- Whittle J, Conigliaro J, Good CB, Joswiak M. Do patient preferences contribute to racial differences in cardiovascular procedure use? J Gen Intern Med 1997;12:267-273.
- Oddone EZ, Horner RD, Diers T, Lipscomb J, McIntyre L, Cauffman C et al. Understanding racial variation in the use of carotid endarterectomy: the role of aversion to surgery. J Natl Med Assoc 1998;90:25-33.
- 169. Katz JN. Patient preferences and health disparities. JAMA 2001;286:1506-1509.
- 170. Ayanian JZ, Cleary PD, Weissman JS, Epstein AM. The effect of patients' preferences on racial differences in access to renal transplantation. N Engl J Med 1999;341:1661-1669.
- 171. Lambrew JM, DeFriese GH, Carey TS, Ricketts TC, Biddle AK. The effects of having a regular doctor on access to primary care. Med Care 1996;34:138-151.
- 172. Kiefe CI, McKay SV, Halevy A, Brody BA. Is cost a barrier to screening mammography for low-income women receiving Medicare benefits? A randomized trial. Arch Intern Med 1994;154:1217-1224.
- 173. Federman AD, Adams AS, Ross-Degnan D, Soumerai SB, Ayanian JZ. Supplemental insurance and use of effective cardiovascular drugs among elderly medicare beneficiaries with coronary heart disease. JAMA 2001;286:1732-1739.
- 174. Steinman MA, Sands LP, Covinsky KE. Self-restriction of medications due to cost in seniors without prescription coverage. J Gen Intern Med 2001;16:793-799.
- 175. Morrison RS, Wallenstein S, Natale DK, Senzel RS, Huang LL. "We don't carry that"--failure of pharmacies in predominantly nonwhite neighborhoods to stock opioid analgesics. N Engl J Med 2000;342:1023-1026.
- 176. Horowitz CR, Davis MH, Palermo AS, Vladeck BC. Approaches to eliminating sociocultural disparities in health. Health Care Financ Rev 2000;21:57-73.
- Gonul FF, Carter F, Wind J. What kind of patients and physicians value direct-toconsumer advertising of prescription drugs. Health Care Manag Sci 2000;3:215-226.
- 178. Polednak AP. Segregation, discrimination and mortality in U.S. blacks. Ethn Dis 1996;6:99-108.
- 179. Jackson JS, Brown TN, Williams DR, Torres M, Sellers SL, Brown K. Racism and the physical and mental health status of African Americans: a thirteen year national panel study. Ethn Dis 1996;6:132-147.
- 180. Hall JA, Roter DL, Katz NR. Meta-analysis of correlates of provider behavior in medical encounters. Med Care 1988;26:657-675.

- 181. Weisse CS, Sorum PC, Sanders KN, Syat BL. Do gender and race affect decisions about pain management? J Gen Intern Med 2001;16:211-217.
- 182. Rathore SS, Lenert LA, Weinfurt KP, Tinoco A, Taleghani CK, Harless W et al. The effects of patient sex and race on medical students' ratings of quality of life. Am J Med 2000;108:561-566.
- Waitzkin H. Information giving in medical care. J Health Soc Behav 1985;26:81-101.
- 184. Schulman KA, Berlin JA, Harless W, Kerner JF, Sistrunk S, Gersh BJ et al. The effect of race and sex on physicians' recommendations for cardiac catheterization. N Engl J Med 1999;340:618-626.
- 185. Williams DR, Rucker TD. Understanding and addressing racial disparities in health care. Health Care Financ Rev 2000;21:75-89.
- Chen J, Rathore SS, Radford MJ, Wang Y, Krumholz HM. Racial Differences in the Use of Cardiac Catheterization after Acute Myocardial Infarction. N Engl J Med 2001;344:1443-1449.
- 187. Levinson W, Roter D. The effects of two continuing medical education programs on communication skills of practicing primary care physicians. J Gen Intern Med 1993;8:318-324.
- 188. Kaplan SH, Gandek B, Greenfield S, Rogers W, Ware JE. Patient and visit characteristics related to physicians' participatory decision-making style. Results from the Medical Outcomes Study. Med Care 1995;33:1176-1187.
- 189. Pachter LM. Culture and clinical care. Folk illness beliefs and behaviors and their implications for health care delivery. JAMA 1994;271:690-694.
- 190. Kaplan SH, Greenfield S, Gandek B, Rogers WH, Ware JEJ. Characteristics of physicians with participatory decision-making styles . Ann Intern Med 1996;124:497-504.
- 191. van Ryn M, Burke J. The effect of patient race and socio-economic status on physicians' perceptions of patients. Soc Sci Med 2000;50:813-828.
- 192. Krupat E, Irish JT, Kasten LE, Freund KM, Burns RB, Moskowitz MA et al. Patient assertiveness and physician decision-making among older breast cancer patients. Soc Sci Med 1999;49:449-457.
- 193. Balsa AI, McGuire TG. Prejudice, clinical uncertainty and stereotyping as sources of health disparities. J Health Econ 2003;22:89-116.

- 194. Schillinger D, Piette J, Grumbach K, Wang F, Wilson C, Daher C et al. Closing the loop: physician communication with diabetic patients who have low health literacy. Arch Intern Med 2003;163:83-90.
- 195. Ashton CM, Haidet P, Paterniti DA, Collins TC, Gordon HS, Malley K et al. Racial and ethnic disparities in the use of health services. J Gen Intern Med 2003;18:146-52,
- 196. Ashton CM, Haidet P, Paterniti DA, Collins TC, Gordon HS, Malley K et al. Racial and ethnic disparities in the use of health services. J Gen Intern Med 2003;18:146-52.
- 197. Balsa AI, McGuire TG. Statistical discrimination in health care. J Health Economics 2001;20:881-907.
- 198. Bogart LM, Catz SL, Kelly JA, Benotsch EG. Factors influencing physicians' judgments of adherence and treatment decisions for patients with HIV disease. Medical Decision Making 2001;21:28-36.
- 199. Fiscella K, Goodwin MA, Stange KC. Does patient educational level affect office visits to family physicians. J Natl Med Assoc 2002;94:157-165.
- 200. Parhiscar A, Rosenfeld RM. Can patient satisfaction with decisions predict compliance with surgery? Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2002;126:365-370.
- 201. Phillips KA, Kerlikowske K, Baker LC, Chang SW, Brown ML. Factors associated with women's adherence to mammography screening guidelines. Health Serv Res 1998;33:29-53.
- Fox SA, Stein JA. The effect of physician-patient communication on mammography utilization by different ethnic groups. Medical Care 1991;29:1065-1082.
- 203. Greenfield S, Rogers W, Mangotich M, Carney MF, Tarlov AR. Outcomes of patients with hypertension and non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus treated by different systems and specialties. Results from the medical outcomes study . JAMA 1995;274:1436-1444.
- 204. Greenfield S, Kaplan SH, Ware JE, Jr., Yano EM, Frank HJ. Patients' participation in medical care: effects on blood sugar control and quality of life in diabetes. J Gen Intern Med 1988;3:448-457.
- 205. Goldman DP, Smith JP. Can patient self-management help explain the SES health gradient? Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2002;99:10929-34.
- 206. Jaen CR, Stange KC, Nutting PA. Competing demands of primary care: a model for the delivery of clinical preventive services. J Fam Pract 1994;38:166-171.

- 207. Chernof BA, Sherman SE, Lanto AB, Lee ML, Yano EM, Rubenstein LV. Health habit counseling amidst competing demands: effects of patient health habits and visit characteristics. Med Care 1999;37:738-747.
- Jaen CR, Stange KC, Tumiel LM, Nutting P. Missed opportunities for prevention: smoking cessation counseling and the competing demands of practice. J Fam Pract 1997;45:348-354.
- 209. Nutting PA, Rost K, Smith J, Werner JJ, Elliot C. Competing demands from physical problems: effect on initiating and completing depression care over 6 months. Arch Fam Med 2000;9:1059-1064.
- 210. Nutting PA, Baier M, Werner JJ, Cutter G, Conry C, Stewart L. Competing demands in the office visit: what influences mammography recommendations? J Am Board Fam Pract 2001;14:352-361.
- 211. Redelmeier DA, Tan SH, Booth GL. The treatment of unrelated disorders in patients with chronic medical diseases. N Engl J Med 1998;338:1516-1520.
- 212. Diehl AK, Bauer RL, Sugarek NJ. Correlates of medication compliance in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. South Med J 1987;80:332-335.
- Caldwell JR, Theisen V, Kaunisto CA, Reddy PJ, Smythe PS, Smith DW. Psychosocial factors influence control of moderate and severe hypertension. Soc Sci Med 1983;17:773-782.
- 214. Barron WM. Failed appointments. Who misses them, why they are missed, and what can be done. Primary Care 1980;7:563-574.
- 215. Phillips KA, Kerlikowske K, Baker LC, Chang SW, Brown ML. Factors associated with women's adherence to mammography screening guidelines. Health Serv Res 1998;33:29-53.
- 216. Einbinder LC, Schulman KA. The effect of race on the referral process for invasive cardiac procedures. Med Care Res Rev 2000;57 Suppl 1:162-180.
- 217. Escarce JJ, Epstein KR, Colby DC, Schwartz JS. Racial differences in the elderly's use of medical procedures and diagnostic tests. Am J Public Health 1993;83:948-954.
- 218. Peterson ED, Wright SM, Daley J, Thibault GE. Racial variation in cardiac procedure use and survival following acute myocardial infarction in the Department of Veterans Affairs. JAMA 1994;271:1175-1180.
- Goldberg KC, Hartz AJ, Jacobsen SJ, Krakauer H, Rimm AA. Racial and community factors influencing coronary artery bypass graft surgery rates for all 1986 Medicare patients. JAMA 1992;267:1473-1477.

- 220. Harris DR, Andrews R, Elixhauser A. Racial and gender differences in use of procedures for black and white hospitalized adults . Ethn Dis 1997;7:91-105.
- 221. Epstein AM, Ayanian JZ, Keogh JH, Noonan SJ, Armistead N, Cleary PD et al. Racial disparities in access to renal transplantation--clinically appropriate or due to underuse or overuse? N Engl J Med 2000;343:1537-44, 2.
- 222. van Ryn M. Research on the Provider Contribution to Race/Ethnicity Disparities in Medical Care. Med Care 2002;40:140-151.
- Rogers EM. Diffusion of Innovations. 4th ed. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1996.
- 224. Weinberg AD, Ullian L, Richards WD, Cooper P. Informal advice- and information-seeking between physicians. J Med Educ 1981;56:174-180.
- 225. Harris Y, Gorelick PB, Samuels P, Bempong I. Why African Americans may not be participating in clinical trials. J Natl Med Assoc 1996;88:630-634.
- Mouton CP, Harris S, Rovi S, Solorzano P, Johnson MS. Barriers to black women's participation in cancer clinical trials. J Natl Medl Assoc 1997;89:721-727.
- 227. Fang D, Moy E, Colburn L, Hurley J. Racial and ethnic disparities in faculty promotion in academic medicine. JAMA 2000;284:1085-1092.
- 228. Thom DH, Ribisl KM, Stewart AL, Luke DA. Further validation and reliability testing of the Trust in Physician Scale. The Stanford Trust Study Physicians. Med Care 1999;37:510-517.
- 229. Lee AJ, Gehlbach S, Hosmer, Reti M, Baker CS. Medicare treatment differences for blacks and whites. Med Care 1997;35:1173-1189.
- Stafford RS, Saglam D, Causino N, Blumenthal D. The declining impact of race and insurance status on hormone replacement therapy. Menopause 1998;5:140-144.
- 231. Moy E, Steiner C, Clancy C. Contributions of new technologies to racial disparities in healthcare. Presentation to Academy of Health Services Research and Health Policy, Washington, D.C., 2002.
- 232. Basu J, Clancy C. Racial disparity, primary care, and specialty referral. Health Serv Res 2001;36(6; part 2):64-77.
- 233. Forrest CB, Whelan EM. Primary care safety-net delivery sites in the United States: A comparison of community health centers, hospital outpatient departments, and physicians' offices. JAMA 2000;284:2077-2083.

- 234. Cunningham PJ, Grossman JM, St.Peter RF, Lesser CS. Managed care and physicians' provision of charity care. JAMA 1999;281:1087-1092.
- 235. Oakes J, Rossi P. The measurement of SES in health research: current practice and steps toward a new approach. Soc Sci Med 2003;56:769-84.
- 236. Starfield B, Robertson J, Riley AW. Social class gradients and health in childhood. Ambulatory Pediatrics 2002;2:238-246.
- 237. Pamuk E, Makuc D, Heck K, Reuben C, Lochner K. Socioeconomic status and health chartbook. Health, United States, 1998. Hyattsville, Maryland: National Center for Health Statistics, 1998.
- 238. Link BG, Phelan J. Social conditions as fundamental causes of disease. J Health Soc Behav 1995;Extra Issue:80-94.
- Friedman AJ, Hoffman DI, Comite F, Browneller RW, Miller JD. Treatment of leiomyomata uteri with leuprolide acetate depot: a double-blind, placebocontrolled, multicenter study. The Leuprolide Study Group. Obstet Gynecol 1991;77:720-725.
- 240. Selby JV. Linking automated databases for research in managed care setting. Ann Intern Med 1997;127:719-724.
- 241. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System.(available at http://www2.cdc.gov/nccdphp/brfss/index.asp. accessed 10/12001).
- 242. Franks P, Clancy CM, Gold MR, Nutting PA. Health insurance and subjective health status: data from the 1987 National Medical Expenditure survey. Am J Public Health 1991;46:S143-S150.
- 243. Franks P, Clancy CM, Gold MR. Health insurance and mortality. Evidence from a national cohort. JAMA 1993;270:737-741.
- 244. Blustein J, Hanson K, Shea S. Preventable hospitalizations and socioeconomic status. Health Aff 1998;17:177-189.
- 245. Harpole LH, Orav EJ, Hickey M, Posther KE, Brennan TA. Patient satisfaction in the ambulatory setting. Influence of data collection methods and sociodemographic factors. J Gen Intern Med 1996;11:431-434.
- 246. Davis K, Collins KS, Schoen C, Morris C. Choice matters: enrollees' views of their health plans. Health Aff 1995;14:99-112.
- 247. Carlson MJ, Blustein J, Fiorentino N, Prestianni F. Socioeconomic status and dissatisfaction among HMO enrollees. Med Care 2000;38:508-516.

- Johnson P. Medicaid and indigent care issue brief: state response to children's health insurance programs. Issue Brief - Health Policy Tracking Service 2000;1-27.
- 249. Skarbinski J, Walker HK, Baker LC, Kobaladze A, Kirtava Z, Raffin TA. The burden of out-of-pocket payments for health care in Tbilisi, Republic of Georgia. JAMA 2002;287:1043-1049.
- 250. Bloom B, Simpson G, Cohen RA, Parsons PE. Access to health care. Part 2: Working-age adults. Vital & Health Statistics - Series 10: Data From the National Health Survey 1997;1-47.
- 251. Davis TC, Arnold C, Berkel HJ, Nandy I, Jackson RH, Glass J. Knowledge and attitude on screening mammography among low-literate, low-income women. Cancer 1996;78:1912-1920.
- 252. Kaestle CF, Campbell A, Finn JD, Johnson ST, MicKulecky LJ. National Assessment of Adult Literacy (NAAL), editor. Adult literacy and education in America. NCES 001534. Washington, D.C., National Center for Education Statistics. 2001.
- 253. Williams MV, Parker RM, Baker DW, Parikh NS, Pitkin K, Coates WC et al. Inadequate functional health literacy among patients at two public hospitals. JAMA 1995;274:1677-1682.
- 254. Arnold CL, Davis TC, Berkel HJ, Jackson RH, Nandy I, London S. Smoking status, reading level, and knowledge of tobacco effects among low-income pregnant women. Prev Med 2001;32:313-320.
- 255. Davis TC, Dolan NC, Ferreira MR, Tomori C, Green KW, Sipler AM et al. The role of inadequate health literacy skills in colorectal cancer screening. Cancer Investigation 2001;19:193-200.
- 256. Kaufman H, Skipper B, Small L, Terry T, McGrew M. Effect of literacy on breast-feeding outcomes. South Med J 2001;94:293-296.
- 257. Gazmararian JA, Parker RM, Baker DW. Reading skills and family planning knowledge and practices in a low-income managed-care population. Obstet Gynecol 1999;93:239-244.
- 258. Williams MV, Baker DW, Parker RM, Nurss JR. Relationship of functional health literacy to patients' knowledge of their chronic disease. A study of patients with hypertension and diabetes. Arch Intern Med 1998;158:166-172.
- 259. Williams MV, Baker DW, Honig EG, Lee TM, Nowlan A. Inadequate literacy is a barrier to asthma knowledge and self-care. Chest 1998;114:1008-1015.

- 260. Kalichman SC, Rompa D. Functional health literacy is associated with health status and health-related knowledge in people living with HIV-AIDS. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2000;25:337-344.
- Kalichman SC, Ramachandran B, Catz S. Adherence to combination antiretroviral therapies in HIV patients of low health literacy. J Gen Intern Med 1999;14:267-273.
- 262. Baker DW, Parker RM, Williams MV, Clark WS, Nurss J. The relationship of patient reading ability to self-reported health and use of health services. Am J Public Health 1997;87:1027-1030.
- 263. Weiss BD, Hart G, McGee DL, D'Estelle S. Health status of illiterate adults: relation between literacy and health status among persons with low literacy skills. J Am Board Fam Pract 1992;5:257-264.
- 264. Schillinger D, Grumbach K, Piette J, Wang F, Osmond D, Daher C et al. Association of health literacy with diabetes outcomes. JAMA 2002;288:475-482.
- 265. Baker DW, Gazmararian JA, Williams MV, Scott T, Parker RM, Green D et al. Functional health literacy and the risk of hospital admission among medicare managed care enrollees. Am J Public Health 92(8):1278-83, 2002.
- 266. Scott TL, Gazmararian JA, Williams MV, Baker DW. Health literacy and preventive health care use among Medicare enrollees in a managed care organization. Med Care 2002;40:395-404.
- 267. Bennett CL, Ferreira MR, Davis TC, Kaplan J, Weinberger M, Kuzel T et al. Relation between literacy, race, and stage of presentation among low-income patients with prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol 1998;16:3101-3104.
- 268. Kim SP, Bennett CL, Chan C, Chmiel J, Falcone D, Knight SJ et al. QOL and outcomes research in prostate cancer patients with low socioeconomic status. Oncology (Huntington) 1999;13:823-832.
- Schillinger D, Grumbach K, Piette J, Wang F, Osmond D, Daher C et al. Association of health literacy with diabetes outcomes. JAMA 288(4):475-82, 2002.
- 270. NCQA Reviewers Guidelines for the Accreditation of Managed Care Organizations. Washington, D.C., National Committee for Quality Assurance.1995
- 271. Patient and Family Education. Accreditation Manual for Hospitals. Chicago, Ill: Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations, 1996.

- 272. Davis TC, Bocchini JA, Jr., Fredrickson D, Arnold C, Mayeaux EJ, Murphy PW et al. Parent comprehension of polio vaccine information pamphlets. Pediatrics 1996;97(6;pt 1):804-10.
- 273. Meade CD, Diekmann J, Thornhill DG. Readability of American Cancer Society patient education literature. Oncology Nursing Forum 1992;19:51-55.
- 274. Williams DM, Counselman FL, Caggiano CD. Emergency department discharge instructions and patient literacy: a problem of disparity. Am J Emerg Med 1996;14:19-22.
- 275. LeVine RA, Dexter E, Velasco P, Levine S, Joshi AR, Stuebing KW et al. Maternal literacy and health care in three countries: a preliminary report. Health Trans Rev 1994;4:186-191.
- Miller J, Slomczynski KM, Kohn ML. Continuity of learning-generalization: The effect of job on men's intellective process in the United States and Poland. Am J Sociology 1985;91.
- 277. Gottfredson LS. Why g matters: The complexity of everyday life. Intelligence 1997;24:79-132.
- 278. Dexter E, LeVine SE, Velasco P. Maternal schooling and health related knowledge and literacy skills in rural Mexico. Comp Educ Rev 1998;42:139-162.
- 279. Baker DW, Parker RM, Williams MV, Pitkin K, Parikh NS, Coates W et al. The health care experience of patients with low literacy. Arch Fam Med 1996;5:329-334.
- 280. Mirowsky J, Ross CE. Social causes of psychological distress. New York: Aldine de Gruyter, 1989.
- 281. Parikh NS, Parker RM, Nurss JR, Baker DW, Williams MV. Shame and health literacy: the unspoken connection. Patient Educ Counsel 1996;27:33-39.
- 282. Wallerstein N. Powerlessness, empowerment, and health: implications for health promotion programs. Am J Health Promot 1992;6:197-205.
- 283. Roter DL, Rudd RE, Comings J. Patient literacy. A barrier to quality of care. J Gen Intern Med 1998;13:850-851.
- 284. Epstein AM, Taylor WC, Seage GR. Effects of patients' socioeconomic status and physicians' training and practice on patient-doctor communication. Am J Med 1985;78:101-106.
- 285. Pantell RH, Stewart TJ, Dias JK, Wells P, Ross AW. Physician communication with children and parents. Pediatrics 1982;70:396-402.

- Pendleton DA, Bochner S. The communication of medical information in general practice consultations as a function of patients' social class. Soc Sci Med 1980;14A:669-673.
- 287. Wee CC, McCarthy EP, Davis RB, Phillips RS. Physician counseling about exercise. JAMA 1999;282:1583-8.
- 288. Scott A, Shiell A, King M. Is general practitioner decision making associated with patient socio-economic status? Soc Sci Med 1996;42:35-46.
- 289. Kikano GE, Schiaffino MA, Zyzanski SJ. Medical decision making and perceived socioeconomic class. Arch Fam Med 1996;5:267-270.
- 290. Lott B. Cognitive and behavioral distancing from the poor. Am Psychol 2002;57:100-110.
- 291. McKinlay JB, Potter DA, Feldman HA. Non-medical influences on medical decision-making. Soc Sci Med 1996;42:769-776.
- 292. Beal AC, Co JP, Jorsling T, Kam J, Perrin J, Palmer RH. Quality measures for children's health care: state of the science. Commonwealth Fund and AHRQ, Washington, DC, 2002.
- 293. St Peter RF, Newacheck PW, Halfon N. Access to care for poor children. Separate and unequal? . JAMA 1992;267:2760-2764.
- 294. Ronsaville DS, Hakim RB. Well child care in the United States: racial differences in compliance with guidelines. Am J Public Health 2000;90:1436-1443.
- 295. Wood D, Halfon N, Donald-Sherbourne C, Mazel RM, Schuster M, Hamlin JS et al. Increasing immunization rates among inner-city, African American children. A randomized trial of case management. JAMA 1998;279:29-34.
- 296. Carter-Pokras OD, Gergen PJ. Reported asthma among Puerto Rican, Mexican-American, and Cuban children, 1982 through 1984. Am J Public Health 1993;83:580-582.
- 297. Newacheck PW, Halfon N. Prevalence, impact, and trends in childhood disability due to asthma. Arch Pediatr Adol Med 2000;154:287-293.
- 298. Sly RM. Decreases in asthma mortality in the United States. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2000;85:121-127.
- 299. Akinbami LJ, Schoendorf KC. Trends in childhood asthma: prevalence, health care utilization, and mortality. Pediatrics 2002;110(2; pt 1):315-22.

- 300. Boneva RS, Botto LD, Moore CA, Yang Q, Correa A, Erickson JD. Mortality associated with congenital heart defects in the United States: trends and racial disparities, 1979-1997. Circulation 2001;103:2376-2381.
- 301. Flores G, Fuentes-Afflick E, Barbot O, Carter-Pokras O, Claudio L, Lara M et al. The health of latino children: urgent priorities, unanswered questions, and a research agenda. JAMA 2002;288:82-90.
- 302. Calmes D, Leake BD, Carlisle DM. Adverse asthma outcomes among children hospitalized with asthma in California. Pediatrics 1998;101:845-850.
- 303. Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, Johnson CL. Prevalence and trends in obesity among US adults, 1999-2000. Soc. JAMA 2002;288:1723-1727.
- 304. Samaan RA. The influences of race, ethnicity, and poverty on the mental health of children. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2000;11:100-110.
- 305. Kataoka SH, Zhang L, Wells KB. Unmet need for mental health care among U.S. children: variation by ethnicity and insurance status. Am J Psychiatry 2002;159:1548-1555.
- 306. Flores G, Bauchner H, Feinstein AR, Nguyen US. The impact of ethnicity, family income, and parental education on children's health and use of health services. Am J Public Health 1999;89:1066-1071.
- 307. Newacheck PW, Strickland B, Shonkoff JP, Perrin JM, McPherson M, McManus M et al. An epidemiologic profile of children with special health care needs. Pediatrics 1998;102:t-23.
- 308. Newacheck PW, Hung YY, Wright KK. Racial and ethnic disparities in access to care for children with special health care needs. Ambulatory Pediatrics 2002;2:247-254.
- 309. Thamer M, Hwang W, Fink NE, Sadler JH, Bass EB, Levey AS et al. U.S. nephrologists' attitudes towards renal transplantation: results from a national survey. Transplant 2001;71:281-288.
- 310. McMahon LF, Jr., Wolfe RA, Huang S, Tedeschi P, Manning W, Jr., Edlund MJ. Racial and gender variation in use of diagnostic colonic procedures in the Michigan Medicare population. Med Care 1999;37:712-717.
- 311. Crystal S, Sambamoorthi U, Merzel C. The diffusion of innovation in AIDS treatment: zidovudine use in two New Jersey cohorts. Health Serv Res 1995;30:593-614.
- 312. Shapiro MF, Morton SC, McCaffrey DF, Senterfitt JW, Fleishman JA, Perlman JF et al. Variations in the care of HIV-infected adults in the United States: results from the HIV Cost and Services Utilization Study. JAMA 1999;281:2305-2315.

- 313. Kirby JB, Machlin SR, Thorpe JM. Patterns of ambulatory care use: Change from 1987-1996. MEPS Research Findings #16. Rockville, M.D.: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2001.
- 314. Verbrugge LM, Steiner RP. Physician treatment of men and women patients: sex bias or appropriate care? Med Care 1981;19:609-632.
- 315. Henshaw SK. Unintended pregnancy in the United States. Fam Plann Perspect 1998;30:24-29.
- 316. Gold MR, Richardson CL. Improving the fit: reproductive services in managed care settings. New York: Alan Guttmacher Institute, 1996.
- 317. Collins KS, Schoen C, Joseph C, Duchon L, Simantov E, Yellowitz M. Health concerns across a woman's lifespan: the Commonwealth Fund 1998 Survey of Women's Health. New York: The Commonwealth Fund, 1999.
- 318. National Women's Law Center. Making the grade on women's health: a state-bystate report card. Washington, D.C.: National Women's Law Center, 2000.
- 319. Buck JA, Teich JL, Umland B, Stein M. Behavioral health benefits in employersponsored health plans, 1997. Health Aff 1999;18:67-78.
- 320. Kessler RC, McGonagle KA, Zhao S, Nelson CB, Hughes M, Eshleman S et al. Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of DSM-III-R psychiatric disorders in the United States. Results from the National Comorbidity Survey. Arch Gen Psychiatr 1994;51:8-19.
- 321. Grubber JM, Callahan LF, Helmick CG, Zack MM, Pollard RA. Prevalence of radiographic hip and knee osteoarthritis by place of residence. J Rheumatology 1998;25:959-963.
- 322. Edelman MA, Menz BL. Selected comparisons and implications of a national rural and urban survey on health care access, demographics, and policy issues. J Rural Health 1996;12:197-205.
- 323. Frenzen PD. Health insurance coverage in U.S. urban and rural areas. J Rural Health 1993;9:204-214.
- 324. Slifkin RT, Goldsmith LJ, Ricketts TC. Race and Place: Urban-Rural Differences in Health for Racial and Ethnic Minorities. Chapel Hill, N.C.: Rural Health Research and Policy Analysis Program, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 2000.
- 325. Dor A, Holahan J. Urban-rural differences in Medicare physician expenditures. Inquiry 1990;27:307-318.

- 326. MedPAC. Report to Congress: Medicare in Rural America. Washington, D.C.: Medicare Payment Advisory Commission, 2001.
- 327. Lishner DM, Richardson M, Levine P, Patrick D. Access to primary health care among persons with disabilities in rural areas: a summary of the literature. J Rural Health 1996;12:45-53.
- 328. Moscovice I, Rosenblatt R. Quality-of-care challenges for rural health. J Rural Health 2000;16:168-176.
- 329. Stearns SC, Slifkin RT, Edin HM. Access to care for rural Medicare beneficiaries. J Rural Health 2000;16:31-42.
- 330. Schootman M, Fuortes LJ. Breast and cervical carcinoma: the correlation of activity limitations and rurality with screening, disease incidence, and mortality. Cancer 1999;86:1087-1094.
- 331. Miller MK, Clarke LL, Albrecht SL, Farmer FL. The interactive effects of race and ethnicity and mother's residence on the adequacy of prenatal care. J Rural Health 1996;12:6-18.
- 332. Weiner JP, Parente ST, Garnick DW, Fowles J, Lawthers AG, Palmer RH. Variation in office-based quality. A claims-based profile of care provided to Medicare patients with diabetes . JAMA 1995;273:1503-1508.
- 333. Fortney J, Rost K, Zhang M, Warren J. The impact of geographic accessibility on the intensity and quality of depression treatment. Med Care 1999;37:884-893.
- Mooney C, Zwanziger J, Phibbs CS, Schmitt S. Is travel distance a barrier to veterans' use of VA hospitals for medical surgical care? Soc Sci Med 2000;50:1743-1755.
- 335. Schur CL, Berk ML, Dunbar JR, Shapiro MF, Cohn SE, Bozzette SA. Where to seek care: an examination of people in rural areas with HIV/AIDS. J Rural Health 2002;18:337-347.
- 336. Thiemann DR, Coresh J, Oetgen WJ, Powe NR. The association between hospital volume and survival after acute myocardial infarction in elderly patients. N Engl J Med 1999;340:1640-1648.
- 337. Wennberg DE, Lucas FL, Birkmeyer JD, Bredenberg CE, Fisher ES. Variation in carotid endarterectomy mortality in the Medicare population: trial hospitals, volume, and patient characteristics. JAMA 1998;279:1278-1281.
- 338. Sheikh K, Bullock C. Urban-rural differences in the quality of care for medicare patients with acute myocardial infarction. Arch Intern Med 2001;161:737-743.

- 339. Baldwin LM, Hart LG, Oshel RE, Fordyce MA, Cohen R, Rosenblatt RA. Hospital peer review and the National Practitioner Data Bank: clinical privileges action reports. JAMA 1999;282:349-355.
- 340. Andrulis DP, Goodman NJ. The Social Landscape of Urban and Suburban America. Chicago: American Hospital Association Press, 1999.
- Diez Roux AV, Merkin SS, Arnett D, Chambless L, Massing M, Nieto FJ et al. Neighborhood of residence and incidence of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 2001;345:99-106.
- 342. Lanphear BP, Byrd RS, Auinger P, Schaffer SJ. Community characteristics associated with elevated blood lead levels in children. Pediatrics 1998;101:264-271.
- 343. Kattan M, Mitchell H, Eggleston P, Gergen P, Crain E, Redline S et al. Characteristics of inner-city children with asthma: the National Cooperative Inner-City Asthma Study. Pediatr Pulmonol 1997;24:253-262.
- The American Lung Association. Urban air pollution and health inequities: a workshop report. Environmental Health Perspectives 2001 June;109 Suppl 3:357-74.
- 345. Regecova V, Kellerova E. Effects of urban noise pollution on blood pressure and heart rate in preschool children. J Hypertension 1995;13:405-412.
- 346. Dievler A, Giovannini T. Community health centers: promise and performance. Med Care Res Rev 1998;55:405-431.
- 347. Politzer RM, Yoon J, Shi L, Hughes RG, Regan J, Gaston MH. Inequality in America: the contribution of health centers in reducing and eliminating disparities in access to care. Med Care Res Rev 2001;58:234-248.
- 348. McAlearney JS. The financial performance of community health centers, 1996-1999. Clear evidence that many CHCs are on the brink of financial insolvency. Health Aff 2002;21:219-225.
- 349. Hargraves JL, Stoddard JJ, Trude S. Minority physicians' experiences obtaining referrals to specialists and hospital admissions. Medscape General Medicine 2001;3:10.
- 350. Cunningham PJ, Grossman JM, St. PRF, Lesser CS. Managed care and physicians' provision of charity care . JAMA 1999;281:1087-1092.
- 351. Cunningham PJ. Pressures on safety net access: the level of managed care penetration and uninsurance rate in a community. Health Services Research 1999;34:255-270.

- 352. Clancy C, Andresen EM. Meeting the health care needs of persons with disabilities. Milbank Q 2002;80:381-391.
- 353. Svetaz MV, Ireland M, Blum R. Adolescents with learning disabilities: risk and protective factors associated with emotional well-being: findings from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. J Adolesc Health 2000;27:340-348.
- 354. Blum RW, Kelly A, Ireland M. Health-risk behaviors and protective factors among adolescents with mobility impairments and learning and emotional disabilities. J Adolesc Health 2001;28:481-490.
- 355. DeJong G, Palsbo SE, Beatty PW. The organization and financing of health services for persons with disabilities. Milbank Q 80(2):261-301, 2002.
- 356. Kiefe CI, Funkhouser E, Fouad MN, May DS. Chronic disease as a barrier to breast and cervical cancer screening. J Gen Intern Med 1998;13:357-365.
- 357. Adler GS. Medicare beneficiaries rate their medical care: new data from the MCBS (Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey). Health Care Financ Rev 1995;16:175-187.
- 358. Iezzoni LI, McCarthy EP, Davis RB, Harris-David L, O'Day B. Use of screening and preventive services among women with disabilities. Am J Med Quality 2001;16:135-144.
- 359. Raddish M, Goldmann DA, Kaplan LC, Perrin JM. The immunization status of children with spina bifida. Soc Am J Dis Child 1993;147:849-853.
- 360. Aday LA. At Risk in America: The Health and Health Care Needs of Vulnerable Populations in the United States. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers, 1993.
- Katz SJ, Kabeto M, Langa KM. Gender disparities in the receipt of home care for elderly people with disability in the United States. JAMA 2000;284(23):3022-3027.
- 362. Barnett S, Franks P. Smoking and deaf adults: associations with age at onset of deafness. Am Ann Deaf 1999;144:44-50.
- 363. Barnett S, Franks P. Health care utilization and adults who are deaf: relationship with age at onset of deafness. Health Serv Res 2002;37:105-120.
- 364. Barnett S, Franks P. Telephone ownership and deaf people: implications for telephone surveys. Am J Public Health 1999;89:1754-1756.
- 365. FACCT. Chronic Care in America: A Chartbook for the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Portland, Oregon: The Foundation for Accountability, 2002.

- 366. White-Means SI. Racial patterns in disabled elderly persons' use of medical services. J Gerontol 2000;55:S76-S89.
- 367. Davis MH, O'Brien E. Profile of persons with disabilities in Medicare and Medicaid. Health Care Financ Rev 1996;17:179-211.
- 368. Sutton JP, DeJong G. Managed care and people with disabilities: framing the issues. Arch Physical Med Rehabil 1998;79:1312-1316.
- Hagglund KJ, Clark M, Conforti K, Shigaki CL. Access to health care services among people with disabilities receiving Medicaid. Missouri Med 1999;96:447-453.
- 370. Grabois EW, Nosek MA, Rossi CD. Accessibility of primary care physicians' offices for people with disabilities. An analysis of compliance with the Americans With Disabilities Act. Arch Fam Med 1999;8:44-51.
- 371. Iezzoni LI. Using administrative data to study persons with disabilities. Milbank Q 80(2):347-79, 2002.
- 372. Committee on Quality of Health Care in America. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press, 2001.
- 373. Hofmann JC, Wenger NS, Davis RB, Teno J, Connors AF, Jr., Desbiens N et al. Patient preferences for communication with physicians about end-of-life decisions. SUPPORT Investigators. Study to Understand Prognoses and Preference for Outcomes and Risks of Treatment. Ann Intern Med 1997;127:1-12.
- 374. Lynn J. Measuring quality of care at the end of life: a statement of principles. J Am Geriatrics Soc 1997;45:526-527.
- 375. Morrison RS, Siu AL, Leipzig RM, Cassel CK, Meier DE. The hard task of improving the quality of care at the end of life. Arch Intern Med 2000;160:743-747.
- 376. Lou Harris. The Commonwealth Fund Managed Care Survey. Lou Harris and Associates, Inc, 1994.
- 377. Gross DA, Zyzanski SJ, Borawski EA, Cebul RD, Stange KC. Patient satisfaction with time spent with their physician. J Fam Pract 1998;47:133-137.
- 378. Phillips KA, Mayer ML, Aday LA. Barriers to care among racial/ethnic groups under managed care. Health Aff 2000;19:65-75.
- 379. Moy E, Bartman BA. Race and hospital discharge against medical advice. J Natl Med Assoc 1996;88:658-660.

- Taira DA, Safran DG, Seto TB, Rogers WH, Kosinski M, Ware JE et al. Asian-American patient ratings of physician primary care performance. J Gen Intern Med 1997;12:237-242.
- Meredith LS, Siu AL. Variation and quality of self-report health data. Asians and Pacific Islanders compared with other ethnic groups. Med Care 1995;33:1120-1131.
- 382. Hermann RC, Ettner SL, Dorwart RA. The influence of psychiatric disorders on patients' ratings of satisfaction with health care. Med Care 1998;36:720-727.
- 383. Saha S, Komaromy M, Koepsell TD, Bindman AB. Patient-physician racial concordance and the perceived quality and use of health care. Arch Intern Med 1999;159:997-1004.
- 384. Laveist TA, Carroll T. Race of physician and satisfaction with care among African Americans. J Natl Med Assoc 2002;94:937-934.
- 385. Howard DL, Konrad TR, Stevens C, Porter CQ. Physician-patient racial matching, effectiveness of care, use of services, and patient satisfaction. Res Aging 2001;23:83-108.
- 386. Greenfield S, Kaplan S, Ware JE, Jr. Expanding patient involvement in care. Effects on patient outcomes. Ann Intern Med 1985;102:520-528.
- 387. Kaplan SH, Greenfield S, Ware JE, Jr. Assessing the effects of physician-patient interactions on the outcomes of chronic disease. Med Care 1989;27:S110-S127.
- 388. Bashshur RL, Metzner CA, Worden C. Consumer satisfaction with group practice, the CHA case. Am J Public Health Nat Health 1967;57:1991-1999.
- 389. California Pan-Ethnic Health Network. Diverse patients, disparate experience: The use of standardized patient satisfaction surveys in assessing the cultural competence of health care organizations. San Francisco: California Pan-Ethnic Health Network, 2001.
- 390. Morales LS, Elliott MN, Weech-Maldonado R, Spritzer KL, Hays RD. Differences in CAHPS adult survey reports and ratings by race and ethnicity: an analysis of the national CAHPS benchmarking data 1.0. Health Serv Res 2001;36:449-472.
- 391. Weech-Maldonado R, Morales LS, Spritzer K, Elliott M, Hays RD. Racial and ethnic differences in parents' assessments of pediatric care in Medicaid managed care. Health Serv Res 2001;36:575-594.
- 392. Solberg LI, Plane MB, Brown RL, Underbakke GMPE. Nonresponse bias: Does it affect measurement of clinician behavior? Med Care 2002;40:347-352.

- 393. Weisman CS, Henderson JT, Schifrin E, Romans M, Clancy CM. Gender and patient satisfaction in managed care plans: analysis of the 1999 HEDIS/CAHPS 2.0 adult survey. Women's Health Issues 2001;11:410-415.
- 394. HEDIS 3.0. Washington, D.C.: NCQA, 1997.
- 395. Thompson BL, Harris JR. Performance measures. Are we measuring what matters? Am J Prev Med 2001;20:291-293.
- 396. McCormick D, Himmelstein DU, Woolhandler S, Wolfe SM, Bor DH. Relationship between low quality-of-care scores and HMOs' subsequent public disclosure of quality-of-care scores. JAMA 2002;268:1484-1490.
- 397. FACCT Web site (available at http://www.FACCT.org, accessed May 29, 2001).
- 398. Schneider EC, Zaslavsky AM, Landon BE, Lied TR, Sheingold S, Cleary PD. National quality monitoring of Medicare health plans: the relationship between enrollees' reports and the quality of clinical care. Medical Care 2001;39:1313-1325.
- 399. Freid VM, Makuc DM, Rooks RN. Ambulatory health care visits by children: principal diagnosis and place of visit. Vital & Health Statistics - Series 13: Data From the National Health Survey 1998;1-23.
- 400. Newacheck PW, Hughes DC, Stoddard JJ. Children's access to primary care: differences by race, income, and insurance status. Pediatrics 1996;97:26-32.
- 401. Weitzman M, Byrd RS, Auinger P. Black and white middle class children who have private health insurance in the United States. Pediatrics 1999;104:151-7.
- 402. Phillips KA, Fernyak S, Potosky AL, Schauffler HH, Egorin M. Use of preventive services by managed care enrollees: an updated perspective. Health Aff 2000;19:102-116.
- 403. Fiscella K, Franks P, Doescher MP, Saver BG. Disparities in health care by race, ethnicity, and language among the insured findings from a national sample. Med Care 2002;40:52-59.
- 404. Haas R. Experiences with d/Deaf culture. JAMA 1998;279:82.
- 405. Lopez R. Segregation and black/white differences in exposure to air toxics in 1990. Environmental Health Perspectives 2002 April;110 Suppl 2:289-95.
- 406. Turner LW, Taylor JE, Hunt S. Predictors for osteoporosis diagnosis among postmenopausal women: results from a national survey. J Women Aging 1998;10:79-96.

- Shelton AJ, Lees E, Groff JY. Perceptions of hormone replacement therapy among African American women. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2002;13:347-359.
- 408. Friedman-Koss D, Crespo CJ, Bellantoni MF, Andersen RE. The relationship of race/ethnicity and social class to hormone replacement therapy: results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1988-1994. Menopause 2002;9:264-272.
- 409. Writing Group for the Women's Health Initiative Investigators. Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results From the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2002;288:321-333.
- 410. Smith RA, von Eschenbach AC, Wender R, Levin B, Byers T, Rothenberger D et al. American Cancer Society guidelines for the early detection of cancer: update of early detection guidelines for prostate, colorectal, and endometrial cancers. CA Cancer J Clin 2001;51:38-75.
- 411. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Guide to Clinical Preventive Services. 2 ed. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1996.
- 412. Holmberg L., Bill-Axelson A., Helgesen F., Salo J.O., FP, Häggman M. et al. A randomized trial comparing radical prostatectomy with watchful waiting in early prostate cancer. N Engl J Med 2002;347:781-789.
- 413. FACCT (available at http:// www.facct.org/cahmiweb/phd/Understanding/phdmsrsum.htm, accessed 7/25/2002).
- 414. Bethell CD, Read D, Stein RE, Blumberg SJ, Wells N, Newacheck PW. Identifying children with special health care needs: development and evaluation of a short screening instrument. Ambul Pediatr 2002;2:38-48.
- 415. Children with chronic health conditions. (available at http:// www.ahrq.gov/chtoolbx/measure2.htm#cahpsChronicConditions, accessed 7/19/2002)
- 416. Stevens GD, Shi L. Racial and ethnic disparities in the quality of primary care for children. J Fam Pract 2002;51:573.
- 417. Klein JD, Allan MJ, Elster AB, Stevens D, Cox C, Hedberg VA et al. Improving adolescent preventive care in community health centers. Pediatrics 2001;107:318-327.
- 418. Goodman E, Huang B. Socioeconomic status, depressive symptoms, and adolescent substance use. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2002;156:448-453.

- Keppel KG, Pearcy JN, Wagener DK. Trends in racial and ethnic-specific rates for the health status indicators: United States, 1990-98. Healthy People 2000;1-16.
- 420. Korsch BM, Gozzi EK, Francis V. Gaps in doctor-patient communication. 1. Doctor-patient interaction and patient satisfaction. Pediatrics 1968;42:855-871.
- 421. National Committee for Quality Assurance NCQA. National Results for Selected 2000 HEDIS® and HEDIS/CAHPS® Measures,2001
- 422. Robinson KA, Baughman W, Rothrock G, Barrett NL, Pass M, Lexau C et al. Epidemiology of invasive Streptococcus pneumoniae infections in the United States, 1995-1998: Opportunities for prevention in the conjugate vaccine era. JAMA 2001;285:1729-1735.
- 423. Coleman PJ, McQuillan GM, Moyer LA, Lambert SB, Margolis HS. Incidence of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States, 1976-1994: estimates from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys. J Infect Dis 1998;178:954-959.
- 424. Luman ET, Barker LE, Simpson DM, Rodewald LE. National, state, and urbanarea vaccination-coverage levels among children aged 19-35 months, United States, 1999. Am J Prev Med 2001;20:88-153.
- 425. Kelley PW, Petruccelli BP, Stehr-Green P, Erickson RL, Mason CJ. The susceptibility of young adult Americans to vaccine-preventable infections. A national serosurvey of US Army recruits. JAMA 1991;266(19):2724-2729.
- 426. McQuillan GM, Coleman PJ, Kruszon-Moran D, Moyer LA, Lambert SB, Margolis HS. Prevalence of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys, 1976 through 1994 . Am J Public Health 1999;89:14-18.
- 427. Zaslavsky AM, Hochheimer JN, Schneider EC, Cleary PD, Seidman JJ, McGlynn EA et al. Impact of sociodemographic case mix on the HEDIS measures of health plan quality. Med Care 2000;38:981-992.
- 428. Cullen KW, Koehly LM, Anderson C, Baranowski T, Prokhorov A, Basen-Engquist K et al. Gender differences in chronic disease risk behaviors through the transition out of high school. Am J Prev Med 1999;17:1-7.
- 429. Koplan JP. Sexually transmitted disease surveillance 1999. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2000.
- 430. Anttila T, Saikku P, Koskela P, Bloigu A, Dillner J, Ikaheimo I et al. Serotypes of Chlamydia trachomatis and risk for development of cervical squamous cell carcinoma. JAMA 2001;285:47-51.

- 431. Nelson ME. Prevalence of Chlamyida trachomatis infection among women in a multiphysician primary care practice. Am J Prev Med 1992;8:298-302.
- 432. Gaydos CA, Howell MR, Pare B, Clark KL, Ellis DA, Hendrix RM et al. Chlamydia trachomatis infections in female military recruits. N Engl J Med 1998;339:739-744.
- 433. Moran JS, Aral SO, Jenkins WC, Peterman TA, Alexander ER. The impact of sexually transmitted diseases on minority populations. Public Health Rep 1989;104:560-565.
- 434. Jolly AM, Orr PH, Hammond G, Young TK. Risk factors for infection in women undergoing testing for Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae in Manitoba, Canada. Sex Transm Dis 1995;22:289-295.
- 435. Harrison HR, Boyce WT, Haffner WH, Crowley B, Weinstein L, Lewis M et al. The prevalence of genital Chlamydia trachomatis and mycoplasmal infections during pregnancy in an American Indian population. Sex Trans Dis 1983;10:184-186.
- 436. Mosher WD, Aral SO. Testing for sexually transmitted diseases among women of reproductive age: United States, 1988. Fam Plann Perspect 1991;23:216-221.
- 437. NCHS. Health, United States, 2002 with Chartbook on Trends in the Health of Americans. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics, 2002.
- 438. Collins KS, Hall A, Nueheus C. U.S. Minority Health: A Chartbook. New York: Commonwealth Fund, 1999.
- Zambrana RE, Breen N, Fox SA, Gutierrez-Mohamed ML. Use of cancer screening practices by Hispanic women: analyses by subgroup. Prev Med 1999;29:t-77.
- 440. Anderson LM, May DS. Has the use of cervical, breast, and colorectal cancer screening increased in the United States? Am J Public Health 1995;85:840-842.
- 441. Gornick ME. Disparities in Medicare Services: potential causes, plausible explanations, and recommendations. Health Care Financ Rev 2000;21:23-43.
- 442. Schneider EC, Zaslavsky AM, Epstein AM. Racial disparities in the quality of care for enrollees in Medicare managed care. JAMA 2002;287:1288-1294.
- 443. Weber BE, Reilly BM. Enhancing mammography use in the inner city. A randomized trial of intensive case management. Arch Intern Med 1997;157:2345-2349.
- 444. Marks JS, Lee NC. Implementing recommendations for the early detection of breast and cervical cancer among low-income women. MMWR 2000;49:35-55.

- 445. Howell EA, Chen YT, Concato J. Differences in cervical cancer mortality among black and white women. Obstet Gynecol 1999;94:509-515.
- 446. Mitchell JB, McCormack LA. Time trends in late-stage diagnosis of cervical cancer. Differences by race/ethnicity and income. Med Care 1997;35:1220-1224.
- Blackman DK, Bennett EM, Miller DS. Trends in self-reported use of mammograms (1989-1997) and Papanicolaou tests (1991-1997)--Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. MMWR CDC Surveillance Summaries 1999;48:1-22.
- 448. Anonymous. Trends in cancer screening--United States, 1987 and 1992. MMWR 1996;45:57-61.
- 449. McGinnis JM, Foege WH. Actual causes of death in the United States. JAMA 1993;270:2207-2212.
- 450. Silagy C, Mant D, Fowler G, Lodge M. Meta-analysis on efficacy of nicotine replacement therapies in smoking cessation. Lancet 1994;343:139-142.
- 451. Sarvela PD, Cronk CE, Isberner FR. A secondary analysis of smoking among rural and urban youth using the MTF data set. J Sch Health 1997;67:372-375.
- 452. Lasser K, Boyd JW, Woolhandler S, Himmelstein DU, McCormick D, Bor DH. Smoking and mental illness: A population-based prevalence study. JAMA 2000;284:2606-2610.
- 453. Thorndike AN, Rigotti NA, Stafford RS, Singer DE. National patterns in the treatment of smokers by physicians. JAMA 1998;279:604-608.
- 454. Doescher MP, Saver BG. Physicians' advice to quit smoking. The glass remains half empty. J Fam Pract 2000;49:543-547.
- 455. Hargraves JL. Race, ethnicity and preventive services: no gains for Hispanics. Issue Brief/ Center for Studying Health System Change 2001;1-4.
- 456. Cromwell J, Bartosch WJ, Fiore MC, Hasselblad V, Baker T. Cost-effectiveness of the clinical practice recommendations in the AHCPR guideline for smoking cessation. JAMA 1997;278:1759-1766.
- 457. Mullooly JP, Bennett MD, Hornbrook MC, Barker WH, Williams WW, Patriarca PA et al. Influenza vaccination programs for elderly persons: cost-effectiveness in a health maintenance organization. Ann Intern Med 1994;121:947-952.
- 458. Longini IM, Halloran ME, Nizam A, Wolff M, Mendelman PM, Fast PE et al. Estimation of the efficacy of live, attenuated influenza vaccine from a two-year,

multi-center vaccine trial: implications for influenza epidemic control. Vaccine 2000;18:1902-1909.

- 459. Mark TL, Paramore LC. Pneumococcal pneumonia and influenza vaccination: access to and use by US Hispanic Medicare beneficiaries. Am J Public Health 1996;86:1545-1550.
- 460. Fiscella K. Is lower income associated with greater biopsychosocial morbidity? Implications for physicians working with underserved patients. J Fam Pract 1999;48:372-377.
- 461. Musher DM, Alexandraki I, Graviss EA, Yanbeiy N, Eid A, Inderias LA et al. Bacteremic and nonbacteremic pneumococcal pneumonia. A prospective study. Medicine 2000;79:210-221.
- 462. Butler JC, Schuchat A. Epidemiology of pneumococcal infections in the elderly. Drugs Aging 1999;15 Suppl 1:11-9.
- 463. Nuorti JP, Butler JC, Farley MM, Harrison LH, McGeer A, Kolczak MS et al. Cigarette smoking and invasive pneumococcal disease. Active Bacterial Core Surveillance Team. N Engl J Med 2000;342:681-689.
- 464. Sisk JE, Moskowitz AJ, Whang W, Lin JD, Fedson DS, McBean AM et al. Costeffectiveness of vaccination against pneumococcal bacteremia among elderly people. JAMA 1997;278:1333-1339.
- 465. Kiefe CI, Allison JJ, Williams OD, Person SD, Weaver MT, Weissman NW. Improving quality improvement using achievable benchmarks for physician feedback: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2001;285:2871-2879.
- 466. Canto JG, Allison JJ, Kiefe CI, Fincher C, Farmer R, Sekar P et al. Relation of race and sex to the use of reperfusion therapy in Medicare beneficiaries with acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 2000;342:1094-1100.
- 467. Taylor HA, Jr., Canto JG, Sanderson B, Rogers WJ, Hilbe J. Management and outcomes for black patients with acute myocardial infarction in the reperfusion era. National Registry of Myocardial Infarction 2 Investigators. Am J Cardiol 1998;82:1019-1023.
- 468. Canto JG, Taylor HA, Jr., Rogers WJ, Sanderson B, Hilbe J, Barron HV. Presenting characteristics, treatment patterns, and clinical outcomes of non-black minorities in the National Registry of Myocardial Infarction 2. Am J Cardiol 1998;82:1013-1018.
- 469. Canto JG, Rogers WJ, French WJ, Gore JM, Chandra NC, Barron HV. Payer status and the utilization of hospital resources in acute myocardial infarction: a report from the National Registry of Myocardial Infarction 2. Arch Intern Med 2000;160:817-823.

- 470. Alderman MH, Cohen HW, Madhavan S. Myocardial infarction in treated hypertensive patients: the paradox of lower incidence but higher mortality in young blacks compared with whites. Circulation 2000;101:1109-1114.
- 471. Nakamura Y, Moss AJ, Brown MW, Kinoshita M, Kawai C. Ethnicity and longterm outcome after an acute coronary event. Multicenter Myocardial Ischemia Research Group. Am Heart JI 1999;138:t-6.
- 472. White AD, Rosamond WD, Chambless LE, Thomas N, Conwill D, Cooper LS et al. Sex and race differences in short-term prognosis after acute coronary heart disease events: the Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities (ARIC) study. Am Heart J 1999;138:t-8.
- 473. Gottlieb SS, McCarter RJ, Vogel RA. Effect of beta-blockade on mortality among high-risk and low-risk patients after myocardial infarction . N Engl J Med 1998;339(8):489-497.
- 474. Haywood LJ. Hypertension: possible differential risk for blacks in Beta-Blocker Heart Attack Trial (BHAT). Am J Hypertension 1989;2:865-8.
- 475. Wang TJ, Stafford RS. National patterns and predictors of beta-blocker use in patients with coronary artery disease. Arch Intern Med 1998;158:1901-1906.
- 476. Fremont AM, Wickstrom SL, Bird CE, Shah MM, Rector TS, Bierman AS, Horstman TV et al. Racial and socioeconomic disparities in managed care settings: variations in HEDIS measures performance for cardiovascular care. J Gen Intern Med 2002;17(suppl 1):158.
- 477. Haywood LJ. Coronary heart disease mortality/morbidity and risk in blacks. I: Clinical manifestations and diagnostic criteria: the experience with the Beta Blocker Heart Attack Trial. Am Heart J 1984;108:787-93.
- 478. Alexander M, Grumbach K, Remy L, Rowell R, Massie BM. Congestive heart failure hospitalizations and survival in California: patterns according to race/ethnicity. Am Heart J 1999;137:919-927.
- 479. Croft JB, Giles WH, Pollard RA, Keenan NL, Casper ML, Anda RF. Heart failure survival among older adults in the United States: a poor prognosis for an emerging epidemic in the Medicare population. Arch Intern Med 1999;159:505-510.
- Dries DL, Exner DV, Gersh BJ, Cooper HA, Carson PE, Domanski MJ. Racial differences in the outcome of left ventricular dysfunction. N Engl J Med 1999;340:609-616.
- Dries DL, Exner DV, Gersh BJ, Cooper HA, Carson PE, Domanski MJ. Racial differences in the outcome of left ventricular dysfunction. N Engl J Med 1999;340:609-616.

- 482. Ibrahim SA, Kwoh CK, Harper DL, Baker DW. Racial differences in the utilization of oral anticoagulant therapy in heart failure: a study of elderly hospitalized patients. J Gen Intern Med 2000;15:134-137.
- 483. Stafford RS, Saglam D, Blumenthal D. National patterns of angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitor use in congestive heart failure. Arch Intern Med 1997;157:2460-2464.
- 484. Yancy CW, Fowler MB, Colucci WS, Gilbert EM, Bristow MR, Cohn JN et al. Race and the response to adrenergic blockade with carvedilol in patients with chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med 2001;344:1358-1365.
- 485. Fine JM, Fine MJ, Galusha M, Petrillo M, Meehan TP. Patient and hospital characteristics associated with recommended processes of care of elderly hospitalized patients with pneumonia. Arch Intern Med 2002;162:827-833.
- 486. Elixhauser A, Weinick RM, Betancourt JR, Andrews RM. Differences between Hispanics and non-Hispanic Whites in use of hospital procedures for cerebrovascular disease. Ethn Dis 2002;2002:29-37.
- 487. Dardik A, Bowman HM, Gordon TA, Hsieh G, Perler BA. Impact of race on the outcome of carotid endarterectomy: a population-based analysis of 9,842 recent elective procedures. Annals of Surgery 2000;232:704-709.
- 488. Stafford RS, Singer DE. National patterns of warfarin use in atrial fibrillation. Arch Intern Med 1996;156:2537-2541.
- 489. Feldman HI, Klag MJ, Chiapella AP, Whelton PK. End-stage renal disease in US minority groups. Am J Kidney Diseases 1992;19:397-410.
- 490. Incidence & Prevalence of ESRD. 2000 Annual Data Report: ADR/Atlas. United States Renal Data System, 2001.
- 491. Sherman RA, Cody RP, Solanchick JC. Racial differences in the delivery of hemodialysis. Am J Kidney Dis 1993;21:632-634.
- 492. Simmons RG, Abress L. Quality-of-life issues for end-stage renal disease patients. Am J Kidney Dis 1990;15:201-208.
- 493. Wolfe RA, Ashby VB, Milford EL, Ojo AO, Ettenger RE, Agodoa LY et al. Comparison of mortality in all patients on dialysis, patients on dialysis awaiting transplantation, and recipients of a first cadaveric transplant . N Engl J Med 1999;341:1725-1730.
- 494. Narva A, Stiles S, Karp S, Turak A. Access of Native Americans to renal transplantation in Arizona and New Mexico. Blood Purif 1996;14:293-304.

- 495. Kasiske BL, London W, Ellison MD. Race and socioeconomic factors influencing early placement on the kidney transplant waiting list. J Am Soc of Nephrol 1998;9:2142-2147.
- 496. Isaacs RB, Lobo PI, Nock SL, Hanson JA, Ojo AO, Pruett TL. Racial disparities in access to simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation in the United States. Am J Kidney Dis 2000;36:526-533.
- 497. Conigliaro J, Whittle J, Good CB, Hanusa BH, Passman LJ, Lofgren RP et al. Understanding racial variation in the use of coronary revascularization procedures: the role of clinical factors. Arch Intern Med 2000;160:1329-1335.
- 498. Scirica BM, Moliterno DJ, Every NR, Anderson HV, Aguirre FV, Granger CB et al. Racial differences in the management of unstable angina: results from the multicenter GUARANTEE registry. Am Heart J 1999;138:1065-72.
- 499. Sedlis SP, Fisher VJ, Tice D, Esposito R, Madmon L, Steinberg EH. Racial differences in performance of invasive cardiac procedures in a Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center. J Clin Epidemiol 1997;50:899-901.
- 500. Hannan EL, van Ryn M, Burke J, Stone D, Kumar D, Arani D et al. Access to coronary artery bypass surgery by race/ethnicity and gender among patients who are appropriate for surgery. Med Care 1999;37:68-77.
- 501. Alter M. Black-white differences in stroke frequency: challenges for research. Neuroepidemiol 1994;13:301-307.
- 502. Friday G, Lai SM, Alter M, Sobel E, LaRue L, Gil-Peralta A et al. Stroke in the Lehigh Valley: racial/ethnic differences. Neurology 1989;39:1165-1168.
- 503. Oddone EZ, Horner RD, Sloane R, McIntyre L, Ward A, Whittle J et al. Race, presenting signs and symptoms, use of carotid artery imaging, and appropriateness of carotid endarterectomy. Stroke 1999;30:1350-1356.
- 504. Moore WS, Barnett HJ, Beebe HG, Bernstein EF, Brener BJ, Brott T et al. Guidelines for carotid endarterectomy. A multidisciplinary consensus statement from the ad hoc Committee, American Heart Association. Stroke 1995;26:188-201.
- 505. Mirvis DM, Graney MJ. Impact of race and age on the effects of regionalization of cardiac procedures in the Department of Veterans Affairs Health Care System. Am J Cardiol 1998;81:982-987.
- 506. Christmas C, Crespo CJ, Franckowiak SC, Bathon JM, Bartlett SJ, Andersen RE. How common is hip pain among older adults? Results from NHANES III. J Fam Pract 51; 345-353.

- 507. Andersen RE, Crespo CJ, Ling SM, Bathon JM, Bartlett SJ. Prevalence of significant knee pain among older Americans: results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. J Am Geriatr Soc 1999;47:1435-1438.
- 508. Wilson MG, May DS, Kelly JJ. Racial differences in the use of total knee arthroplasty for osteoarthritis among older Americans. Ethn Dis 1994;4:57-67.
- 509. Escalante A, Espinosa-Morales R, del Rincon I, Arroyo RA, Older SA. Recipients of hip replacement for arthritis are less likely to be Hispanic, independent of access to health care and socioeconomic status. Arthritis Rheum 2000;43:390-399.
- Ang DC, Ibrahim SA, Burant CJ, Siminoff LA, Kwoh CK. Ethnic differences in the perception of prayer and consideration of joint arthroplasty. Med Care 2002;40:471-476.
- 511. MacWilliam CH, Yood MU, Verner JJ, McCarthy BD, Ward RE. Patient-related risk factors that predict poor outcome after total hip replacement. Health Serv Res 1996;31:623-638.
- 512. Katz JN, Wright EA, Guadagnoli E, Liang MH, Karlson EW, Cleary PD. Differences between men and women undergoing major orthopedic surgery for degenerative arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1994;37:687-694.
- 513. Diette GB, Wu AW, Skinner EA, Markson L, Clark RD, McDonald RC et al. Treatment patterns among adult patients with asthma: factors associated with overuse of inhaled beta-agonists and underuse of inhaled corticosteroids. Arch Intern Med 1999;159:2697-2704.
- 514. Legorreta AP, Christian-Herman J, O'Connor RD, Hasan MM, Evans R, Leung KM. Compliance with national asthma management guidelines and specialty care: a health maintenance organization experience. Arch Intern Med 1998;158:457-464.
- 515. Lozano P, Connell FA, Koepsell TD. Use of health services by African-American children with asthma on Medicaid. JAMA 1995;274:469-473.
- 516. Stout JW, Sullivan M, Liu LL, Grossman DC. Asthma prevalence among American Indian and Alaska Native children. Public Health Reports 1999;114:257-261.
- 517. Zoratti EM, Havstad S, Rodriguez J, Robens-Paradise Y, Lafata JE, McCarthy B. Health service use by African Americans and Caucasians with asthma in a managed care setting. Am J Resp Crit Care Med 1998;158:371-377.
- 518. Finkelstein JA, Lozano P, Farber HJ, Miroshnik I, Lieu TA. Underuse of controller medications among Medicaid-insured children with asthma. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2002;156:562-567.

- 519. Ortega AN, Gergen PJ, Paltiel AD, Bauchner H, Belanger KD, Leaderer BP. Impact of site of care, race, and Hispanic ethnicity on medication use for childhood asthma. Pediatrics 2002;109:E1.
- 520. Rowe BH, Bota GW, Fabris L, Therrien SA, Milner RA, Jacono J. Inhaled budesonide in addition to oral corticosteroids to prevent asthma relapse following discharge from the emergency department: a randomized controlled trial . JAMA 1999;281:2119-2126.
- 521. Pauwels RA, Lofdahl CG, Postma DS, Tattersfield AE, O'Byrne P, Barnes PJ et al. Effect of inhaled formoterol and budesonide on exacerbations of asthma. Formoterol and Corticosteroids Establishing Therapy (FACET) International Study Group. N Engl J Med 1997;337:1405-1411.
- 522. Evans D, Mellins R, Lobach K, Ramos-Bonoan C, Pinkett-Heller M, Wiesemann S et al. Improving care for minority children with asthma: professional education in public health clinics. Pediatrics 1997;99:157-164.
- 523. Burt VL, Culter JA, Higgins M, Horan MJ, Labarthe D, Whelton P et al. Trends in the prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension in the adult US population. Data from the health examination surveys, 1960 to 1991. Hypertension 1995;26:60-69.
- 524. Hyman DJ, Pavlik VN. Characteristics of patients with uncontrolled hypertension in the United States. N Engl J Med 2001;345:479-486.
- 525. Moye LA, Davis BR, Hawkins CM, Probstfield JL. Conclusions and implications of the systolic hypertension in the elderly program. Clin Experimental Hypertens 1993;15:911-924.
- 526. Goldberg HI, Wagner EH, Fihn SD, Martin DP, Horowitz CR, Christensen DB et al. A randomized controlled trial of CQI teams and academic detailing: can they alter compliance with guidelines? Jt Comm J Qual Improv 1998;24:130-142.
- 527. Connett JE, Stamler J. Responses of black and white males to the special intervention program of the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Am Heart J 1984;108:839-48.
- 528. Keeler EB, Brook RH, Goldberg GA, Kamberg CJ, Newhouse JP. How free care reduced hypertension in the health insurance experiment. JAMA 1985;254:1926-1931.
- 529. Johnson CL, Rifkind BM, Sempos CT, Carroll MD, Bachorik PS, Briefel RR et al. Declining serum total cholesterol levels among US adults. The National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys. JAMA 1993;269:3002-3008.

- 530. Nelson K, Norris K, Mangione CM. Disparities in the diagnosis and pharmacologic treatment of high serum cholesterol and race and ethnicity. Arch Intern Med 2002;162:929-935.
- 531. Nieto FJ, Alonso J, Chambless LE, Zhong M, Ceraso M, Romm FJ et al. Population awareness and control of hypertension and hypercholesterolemia. The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study. Arch Intern Med 1995;155:677-684.
- 532. Stafford RS, Blumenthal D, Pasternak RC. Variations in cholesterol management practices of U.S. physicians. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;29:139-146.
- 533. Robbins JM, Vaccarino V, Zhang H, Kasl SV. Socioeconomic status and type 2 diabetes in African American and non-Hispanic white women and men: evidence from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Am J Public Health 2001;91:76-83.
- 534. Connolly V, Unwin N, Sherriff P, Bilous R, Kelly W. Diabetes prevalence and socioeconomic status: a population based study showing increased prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus in deprived areas. J Epidemiol Comm Health 2000;54:173-177.
- 535. Carter JS, Pugh JA, Monterrosa A. Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in minorities in the United States. Ann Intern Med 1996;125:221-232.
- 536. Geiss LS, Herman WH, Goldschmid MG, DeStefano F, Eberhardt MS, Ford ES et al. Surveillance for diabetes mellitus--United States, 1980-1989. MMWR CDC Surveillance Summaries 1993;42:1-20.
- 537. Shorr RI, Franse LV, Resnick HE, Di Bari M, Johnson KC, Pahor M. Glycemic control of older adults with type 2 diabetes: findings from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. J Am Geriatrics Soc 2000;48:264-267.
- 538. McCall MT, Pope GC, Griggs M, Dayhoff DA. Chapter 5--Risk Adjustment of HEDIS® Rates. Research and Analytic Support for Implementing Performance Measurement in Medicare FFS. Washington, D.C.: Health Care Financing Administration, 2000.
- 539. Chin MH, Zhang JX, Merrell K. Diabetes in the African-American Medicare population. Morbidity, quality of care, and resource utilization. Diabetes Care 1998;21:1090-1095.
- 540. Wang F, Javitt JC. Eye care for elderly Americans with diabetes mellitus. Failure to meet current guidelines. Ophthalmology 1996;103:1744-1750.
- 541. Mueller CD, Schur CL, Paramore LC. Access to dental care in the United States. J Am Dent Assoc 1998;129:429-437.

- 542. Jencks SF, Cuerdon T, Burwen DR, Fleming B, Houck PM, Kussmaul AE et al. Quality of medical care delivered to Medicare beneficiaries: A profile at state and national levels. JAMA 2000;284:1670-1676.
- 543. O'Leary D, Costello F, Gormley N, Webb M. Remission onset and relapse in depression. An 18-month prospective study of course for 100 first admission patients. J Affect Dis 2000;57:159-171.
- 544. Breitbart W, Rosenfeld B, Pessin H, Kaim M, Funesti-Esch J, Galietta M et al. Depression, hopelessness, and desire for hastened death in terminally ill patients with cancer. JAMA 2000;284:2907-2911.
- 545. Lee Y, Choi K, Lee YK. Association of comorbidity with depressive symptoms in community-dwelling older persons. Gerontology 2001;47:254-262.
- 546. Prince MJ, Harwood RH, Thomas A, Mann AH. A prospective population-based cohort study of the effects of disablement and social milieu on the onset and maintenance of late-life depression. The Gospel Oak Project VII. Psychol Med 1998;28:337-350.
- 547. Suicide prevention evaluation in a Western Athabaskan American Indian Tribe--New Mexico, 1988-1997. MMWR - Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 1998;47:257-261.
- 548. Sclar DA, Robison LM, Skaer TL, Galin RS. What factors influence the prescribing of antidepressant pharmacotherapy? An assessment of national office-based encounters. Int J Psychiatry Med 1998;28:407-419.
- 549. Wang PS, Berglund P, Kessler RC. Recent care of common mental disorders in the United States: prevalence and conformance with evidence-based recommendations. J Gen Intern Med 2000;15:284-292.
- 550. Rost K, Zhang M, Fortney J, Smith J, Smith GR, Jr. Rural-urban differences in depression treatment and suicidality. Med Care 1998;36:1098-1107.
- 551. Regier DA, Farmer ME, Rae DS, Myers JK, Kramer M, Robins LN et al. Onemonth prevalence of mental disorders in the United States and sociodemographic characteristics: the Epidemiologic Catchment Area study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1993;88:35-47.
- 552. Padgett DK, Patrick C, Burns BJ, Schlesinger HJ. Ethnicity and the use of outpatient mental health services in a national insured population. Am J Public Health 1994;84:222-226.
- 553. Padgett DK, Patrick C, Burns BJ, Schlesinger HJ. Ethnic differences in use of inpatient mental health services by blacks, whites, and Hispanics in a national insured population. Health Serv Res 1994;29:135-153.

- 554. Segal SP, Bola JR, Watson MA. Race, quality of care, and antipsychotic prescribing practices in psychiatric emergency services. Psychiatr Serv 1996;47:282-286.
- 555. Kuno E, Rothbard AB. Racial disparities in antipsychotic prescription patterns for patients with schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 2002;159:567-572.
- 556. The NIMH Multisite HIV Prevention Trial: reducing HIV sexual risk behavior. The National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) Multisite HIV Prevention Trial Group. Science 1998;280(5371):1889-1894.
- 557. Moyle GJ, Gazzard BG. A risk-benefit assessment of HIV protease inhibitors. Drug Safety 1999;20:299-321.
- 558. Anderson KH, Mitchell JM. Differential access in the receipt of antiretroviral drugs for the treatment of AIDS and its implications for survival. Arch Intern Med 2000;160:3114-3120.
- 559. Cunningham WE, Mosen DM, Morales LS, Andersen RM, Shapiro MF, Hays RD. Ethnic and racial differences in long-term survival from hospitalization for HIV infection. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2000;11:163-178.
- 560. Curtis JR, Patrick DL, Caldwell E, Greenlee H, Collier AC. The quality of patient-doctor communication about end-of-life care: a study of patients with advanced AIDS and their primary care clinicians. AIDS 1999;13:1123-1131.
- 561. Mouton C, Teno JM, Mor V, Piette J. Communication of preferences for care among human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients. Barriers to informed decisions? Arch Fam Med 1997;6:342-347.
- 562. Haas JS, Weissman JS, Cleary PD, Goldberg J, Gatsonis C, Seage GR, III et al. Discussion of preferences for life-sustaining care by persons with AIDS. Predictors of failure in patient-physician communication. Arc Intern Med 1993;153:1241-1248.
- 563. Arday SL, Arday DR, Monroe S, Zhang J. HCFA's racial and ethnic data: current accuracy and recent improvements. Health Care Financ Rev 2000;21:107-116.
- 564. Jacobs E. Asking about Race and Ethnicity in the Health Care Setting: Minority Patients' Perspectives. Washington, D.C.: Academy for Health Services Research and Health Policy, 2002.
- 565. Shavers VL, Lynch CF, Burmeister LF. Knowledge of the Tuskegee study and its impact on the willingness to participate in medical research studies. J Natl Med Assoc 2000;92:563-572.

- 566. Shavers VL, Lynch CF, Burmeister LF. Racial differences in factors that influence the willingness to participate in medical research studies. Ann Epidemiol. 2002 May;12(4):248-56.
- 567. Perot RT, Youdelman M. Racial, ethnic, and primary language data collection in the health care system: an assessment of federal policies and practices. New York, The Commonwealth Fund, 2001.
- 568. Personal communication, Anne Castles, Pacific Business Group on Health, 11/20/2002.
- 569. Personal communication, Jack Rowe, M.D., CEO, Aetna Corporation, 11/18/2002.
- 570. Mukamel DB, Mushlin AI. The impact of quality report cards on choice of physicians, hospitals, and HMOs: a midcourse evaluation. Jt Comm J Qual Improv 2001;27:20-27.
- 571. Nerenz DR, Bonham VL, Green-Weir R, Joseph C, Gunter M. Eliminating racial/ethnic disparities in health care: can health plans generate reports? Health Aff 2002;21:259-263.
- 572. Fiscella K, Franks P. Influence of patient education on profiles of physician practices. Ann Intern Med 1999;131:745-751.
- 573. Fiscella K, Franks P, Gold MR, Clancy CM. Inequality in quality: addressing socioeconomic, racial, and ethnic disparities in health care. JAMA 2000;283:2579-2584.
- 574. Fremont A, Wickstrom SL. Socioeconomic, Racial/Ethnic, and Gender Differences in Quality and Outcomes of Care as It Relates to Cardiovascular Disease. Final Report for AHRQ Contract # 290-00-0012. 2002.
- 575. Krieger N, Williams DR, Moss NE. Measuring social class in US public health research: concepts, methodologies, and guidelines. Ann Rev Public Health 1997;18:341-378.
- 576. Institute of Medicine. Guidance for the National Healthcare Disparities Report. Washington: National Academy Press, 2002.
- 577. Fiscella K, Franks P. Impact of patient SES on physician profiles: a comparison of census derived and individual measures. Med Care 2001;39:8-14.
- 578. Rosenblatt RA. Quality of care in the rural context: a proposed research agenda. J Rural Health 2002;18 Suppl:176-85.
- 579. Bethell CD, Read D, Identifying adults with chronic or special health care needs: Evaluation of a short screening tool. 2002. (available at

http://www.facct.org/facct/site/generic/generic/home?action=viewDocument&id= 151 aJ32, accessed 10/1/02).

- 580. Hermann RC, Leff HS, Palmer RH, Yang D, Teller T, Provost S et al. Quality measures for mental health care: results from a national inventory. Med Care Res Rev 2000;57 Suppl 2:135-54.
- 581. Hermann RC, Palmer RH. Common ground: a framework for selecting core quality measures for mental health and substance abuse care. Psychiatr Serv 2002;53:281-287.
- 582. Nerenz DR. Capacities and limitations of information systems as data sources on quality of care at the end of life. J Pain Symptom Manage 2001;22:773-783.
- 583. AIDS Institute, New York State Department of Health. HIV Clinical Resource. available at http://www.hivguidelines.org, accessed 11/16/02).
- 584. Davis H, Gergen PJ, Moore RM, Jr. Geographic differences in mortality of young children with sickle cell disease in the United States. Public Health Rep 1997;112:52-58.
- 585. Davis H, Moore RM, Jr., Gergen PJ. Cost of hospitalizations associated with sickle cell disease in the United States. Public Health Rep 1997;112:40-43.
- 586. Yang YM, Shah AK, Watson M, Mankad VN. Comparison of costs to the health sector of comprehensive and episodic health care for sickle cell disease patients. Public Health Rep 1995;110:80-86.
- 587. Berg AO. Sickle cell disease: screening, diagnosis, management, and counseling in newborns and infants. The Agency for Health Care Policy and Research. J Am Board Fam Pract 1994;7:134-140.
- 588. Danseco ER, Miller TR, Spicer RS. Incidence and costs of 1987-1994 childhood injuries: demographic breakdowns. Pediatrics 2000;105:E27.
- 589. Cubbin C, LeClere FB, Smith GS. Socioeconomic status and the occurrence of fatal and nonfatal injury in the United States. Am J Public Health 2000;90:70-77.
- 590. Won A, Lapane K, Gambassi G, Bernabei R, Mor V, Lipsitz LA. Correlates and management of nonmalignant pain in the nursing home. SAGE Study Group. Systematic Assessment of Geriatric drug use via Epidemiology. J Am Geriatrics Soc 1999;47:936-942.
- 591. Todd KH, Deaton C, D'Adamo AP, Goe L. Ethnicity and analgesic practice. Ann Emerg Med 2000;35:11-16.

- 592. Zangwill KM, Schuchat A, Wenger JD. Group B streptococcal disease in the United States, 1990: report from a multistate active surveillance system. MMWR CDC Survell Summ 1992;41:25-32.
- 593. Schuchat A, Oxtoby M, Cochi S, Sikes RK, Hightower A, Plikaytis B et al. Population-based risk factors for neonatal group B streptococcal disease: results of a cohort study in metropolitan Atlanta. J Infect Dis 1990;162:672-677.
- 594. Schrag SJ, Zywicki S, Farley MM, Reingold AL, Harrison LH, Lefkowitz LB et al. Group B streptococcal disease in the era of intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis . N Engl J Med 2000;342:15-20.
- 595. Office of Minority Health. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Standards for Culturally and Linguistically Appropriate Services. Final Report. Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.2001 (available at http://www.omhrc.gov/omh/programs/2pgprograms/finalreport.pdf, accessed March 4,2003).
- 596. Lee LJ, Batal HA, Maselli JH, Kutner JS. Effect of Spanish interpretation method on patient satisfaction in an urban walk-in clinic. J Gen Intern Med 2002;17:641-645.
- 597. Jacobs EA, Lauderdale D.S., Meltzer D, Shorey JM, Levinson W, Thisted RA. Impact of interpreter services on delivery of health care to limited-Englishproficient patients. J Gen Intern Med 16; 468-474.
- 598. Ferris TG, Dougherty D, Blumenthal D, Perrin JM. A report card on quality improvement for children's health care. Pediatrics 2001;107:143-155.
- 599. Morris JN, Hawes C, Fries BE, Phillips CD, Mor V, Katz S et al. Designing the national resident assessment instrument for nursing homes. Gerontologist 1990;30:293-307.
- 600. Rantz MJ, Popejoy L, Mehr DR, Zwygart-Stauffacher M, Hicks LL, Grando V et al. Verifying nursing home care quality using minimum data set quality indicators and other quality measures. J Nursing Care Quality 1997;12:54-62.
- 601. Mukamel DB, Brower CA. The influence of risk adjustment methods on conclusions about quality of care in nursing homes based on outcome measures. Gerontologist 1998;38:695-703.
- 602. Ray WA. Improving quality of long-term care. Med Care 2000;38:1151-1153.
- 603. Gusmano MK, Fairbrother G, Park H. Exploring the limits of the safety net: community Health centers and care for the uninsured. Health Aff 2002;21:188-194.

- 604. Brazier JE, Walters SJ, Nicholl JP, Kohler B. Using the SF-36 and Euroqol on an elderly population. Qual Life Res 1996;5:195-204.
- 605. Smith KW, Avis NE, Assmann SF. Distinguishing between quality of life and health status in quality of life research: a meta-analysis. Qual Life Res 1999;8:447-459.
- 606. Guyer B, Hoyert DL, Martin JA, Ventura SJ, MacDorman MF, Strobino DM. Annual summary of vital statistics--1998. Pediatrics 1999;104:1229-1246.
- Hack M, Flannery DJ, Schluchter M, Cartar L, Borawski E, Klein N. Outcomes in young adulthood for very-low-birth-weight infants. N Engl J Med 2002;346:149-157.
- 608. Guise J, Mahon SM, Aickin M, Helfand M, Peipert JF, Westhoff C. Screening for bacterial vaginosis in pregnancy. Am J Prev Med 2001;20:62-72.
- 609. Bryant J, Clegg A, Nicholson T, McIntyre L, De Broe S, Gerard K et al. Clinical and cost-effectiveness of donepezil, rivastigmine and galantamine for Alzheimer's disease: a rapid and systematic review. Health Technol Assess 2001;5:1-137.
- 610. Nichol KL. Long-term success with the national health objective for influenza vaccination: an institution-wide model. J Gen Intern Med 1992;7:595-600.
- 611. Nichol KL. Improving influenza vaccination rates for high-risk inpatients. Am J Med 1991;91:584-588.
- 612. Harris-Kojetin LD, Fowler FJ, Jr., Brown JA, Schnaier JA, Sweeny SF. The use of cognitive testing to develop and evaluate CAHPS 1.0 core survey items. Consumer Assessment of Health Plans Study. Med Care 1999;37(3 Suppl):MS10-21.
- 613. Hays RD, Shaul JA, Williams VS, Lubalin JS, Harris-Kojetin LD, Sweeny SF et al. Psychometric properties of the CAHPS 1.0 survey measures. Consumer Assessment of Health Plans Study. Med Care 1999;37(3 Suppl):MS22-31.
- 614. McGee J, Kanouse DE, Sofaer S, Hargraves JL, Hoy E, Kleimann S. Making survey results easy to report to consumers: how reporting needs guided survey design in CAHPS. Consumer Assessment of Health Plans Study. Med Care 1999;37(3 Suppl):MS32-40.
- 615. Brown JA, Nederend SE, Hays RD, Short PF, Farley DO. Special issues in assessing care of Medicaid recipients. Med Care 1999;37(3 Suppl):MS79-88.
- 616. Weidmer B, Brown J, Garcia L. Translating the CAHPS 1.0 Survey Instruments into Spanish. Consumer Assessment of Health Plans Study. Med Care 1999;37(3 Suppl):MS89-96.

- 617. Carman KL, Short PF, Farley DO, Schnaier JA, Elliott DB, Gallagher PM. Epilogue: Early lessons from CAHPS Demonstrations and Evaluations. Consumer Assessment of Health Plans Study. Med Care 1999;37(3 Suppl):97-105.
- 618. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Prevention Quality Indicators, (available at http:// www.qualityindicators.ahrq.gov/data/hcup/prevqi.htm, accessed 4/11/03).
- 619. Agency for Healthcare Research Quality. Inpatient Quality Indicators, (available at http:// www.qualityindicators.ahrq.gov/data/hcup/inpatqi.htm, accessed 4/11/03).
- 620. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Patient Safety Indicators, (available at http:// www.qualityindicators.ahrq.gov/data/hcup/psi.htm, accessed 4/11/03)

Appendix A. AHRQ Initiatives in Quality Measures Development

The Agency for Healthcare Quality and Research is the national leader in the development of quality measures including those relevant to disparity populations. Some of these projects are outlined below.

CAHPS®

CAHPS®, which was discussed in detail in section III, is used by the Federal Government, including Medicare, and by more than 20 States and many organizations in the private sector. Questions in CAHPS® include consumer ratings of health care access and quality. Question development for the survey was grounded in research from focus groups and consumer needs for health care decision making in addition to public and private survey and report card efforts. The CAHPS® 1.0 version was released in 1997. The following year, AHRQ and the CAHPS® Consortium revised it based on data from demonstration sites, cognitive testing results, and feedback from users. As noted in section III, the CAHPS® survey and the NCQA Member Satisfaction Survey were merged. NCQA now requires health plans to use the new questionnaire comprised of the Core survey and the HEDIS supplement for HEDIS reporting and NCQA accreditation. This new NCQA instrument is called CAHPS® 2.0H. CAHPS® has been validated in diverse groups and possesses excellent psychometric properties.⁶¹²⁻⁶¹⁷

Benchmarks published by AHRQ for each item are adjusted for respondent's age, health status, and education. For example, the adult commercial benchmarks show that 76 percent report getting needed care with a range between 54 percent and 95 percent. The adult Medicaid benchmark shows a 71 percent rate with a range of 51 percent to 90 percent. Interestingly, persons in Medicaid rated their primary care physicians, specialists, and overall care more highly than those insured through commercial plans and Medicare. An alternative approach to adjusting scores would be to establish benchmarks for specific disparity populations.

Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project Quality Indicators (HCUP QIs) and AHRQ Quality Indicators (AHRQ QIs)

The HCUP QIs comprise a set of 33 clinical performance measures that were designed for hospitals' internal assessment of inpatient quality of care as well as for State and community assessments along three dimensions of care: potentially avoidable adverse hospital outcomes, potentially inappropriate utilization of hospital procedures, and potentially avoidable hospital admissions.

AHRQ has recently revised these indicators to address several key limitations of the original HCUP QIs. These limitations include absence of any severity or risk adjustment, absence of population-based denominators, focus on surgical measures to the exclusion of others conditions, such as chronic medical conditions and pediatric illnesses, and use of low frequency measures that show considerable variation, or instability, from year to year. The revised indicators were based on a technical review developed by the University of California-San Francisco–Stanford Evidence-based Practice Center.

The AHRQ Quality Indicators comprise three modules:

- Prevention Quality Indicators—16 indicators that address prevention of potentially avoidable hospitalizations were released in November 2001.⁶¹⁸
- Inpatient Quality Indicators—29 indicators related to inpatient mortality, utilization, and procedure volume were released in May 2002.⁶¹⁹
- Patient Safety Indicators—26 indicators related to iatrogenic and surgical complications and preventable adverse events were released in March 2003.⁶²⁰

Many of these indicators can be stratified by various disparity population. For example, a hospital could use the software to compare the ratio of laparoscopic cholecystectomies to open cholecystectomies for whites and blacks. If the results show higher rates of laparoscopic procedures for whites then further assessment of potential causes e.g. insurance, surgeon, etc, could be conducted. Other uses include comparisons of avoidable hospital admissions for ambulatory care sensitive conditions between rural and suburban children, differences in COPD or CHF admissions rates by census tract, and complications by race or ethnicity. The major limitation is that measures are not sufficiently rigorous to be used for public reporting.

National Quality Measures Clearinghouse[™] (NQMC[™])

NQMCTM is a public repository for evidence-based quality measures and measure sets. The NQMCTM comprises a database and Web site for information on specific evidence-based health care quality measures and measure sets. It includes conditionspecific measures and measures specific to many disparity populations. NQMC is sponsored by AHRQ to promote widespread access to quality measures by the health care community and other interested individuals.

NQMC[™] builds on AHRQ's previous initiatives in quality measurement, including the Computerized Needs-Oriented Quality Measurement Evaluation System (CONQUEST), the Expansion of Quality of Care Measures (Q-SPAN) project, the Quality Measurement Network (QMNet) project, and the Performance Measures Inventory (PMI). NQMC[™] can be accessed at: http://www.qualitymeasures.ahrq.gov.

National Healthcare Quality Report (NHQR)

AHRQ is preparing a congressionally mandated annual report on the state of health care in the United States. Public comment was solicited on the preliminary measures developed by an interagency work group. Writing of the report based on the final measure set is now underway. Updates on current status of the NHQR are available at: http://www.ahrq.gov/qual/nhqrfact.htm.

National Healthcare Disparities Report (NHDR)

This congressionally mandated annual report represents a companion to the NHQR and will assess racial and ethnic disparities in health care quality nationally. Updates on current status of the NHDR are available at: http://www.ahrq.gov/news/nhdrfact.htm.

Appendix B. Summary of Quality Measures, by Consumer Perspective, for Disparity Populations

Table B1. Quality measures for racial/ethnic minorities					
Condition	Disparity in impact	Measure	Source	Disparity in performance	Type of measure
	Impact	Satisfac	tion*		
Consumer experience of care	AA, H, A/PI	CAPHS®	NCQA/ FACCT	A/PI	Patient centeredness
Consumer experience of care	AA, H	Picker inpatient Survey		A/PI	Patient centeredness
		Staying b	nealthy		
Access to well-care	AA, H, AI/NA	Well-child visits in first 15 months	NCQA	AA, H, A/PI, AI, NA	Timeliness
Access to well-care	AA, H, AI/NA	Well-child visits 4-6 years	NCQA	AA, H, A/PI, AI, NA	Timeliness
Access to well-care	AA, H, AI/NA	Adolescent well-care visits	NCQA	AA, H, A/PI, AI, NA	Timeliness
Access to well-care		Adult well-care visits	NCQA	AA, H, A/PI, AI, NA	Timeliness
Access to dental	AA, H, A/PI, AI/NA	Annual dental visit	NCQA (Medicaid)	AA, H, AI/NA	Timeliness
Access to prenatal care		Trimester of prenatal care enrollment and post-partum check-ups	NCQA	AA, H, AI/NA	Timeliness
Access to prescriptions	AA	Ambulatory drug use	NCQA	AA, H	Timeliness
Adolescent infections	AA, A/PI	Adolescent immunizations	NCQA	AA	Effectiveness /timeliness

90

Alcohol	AA,	Rates of	FACCT		Effectiveness
misuse	H,AI/NA	screening			
Alcohol	AA,	Routine	FACCT		Effectiveness
misuse	H,AI/NA	assessment			
Alcohol	AA,	Satisfaction	FACCT		Effectiveness
misuse	H,AI/NA	with screening			
Breast cancer	AA	Mammography	NCQA/ HCQIP	AA, H, A/PI, AI/AN	Effectiveness /timeliness
Cervical	AA, H,	Pap smear	NCQA	AA, H,	Effectiveness
cancer	A/PI	screening		A/PI, AI/AN	/timeliness
Childhood	AA, A/PI	Childhood	NCQA	AA, H,	Effectiveness
infections		immunizations		A/PI, AI/AN	/timeliness
Chlamydia	AA, H,	Screening in	NCQA		Effectiveness
·	A/PI, AI/AN	young women			/timeliness
Confidentiality		YAHC	FACCT		Patient
·			YAHC		centeredness
Development	AA, H,	Anticipatory	FACCT		Patient
-	AI/NA	guidance			centeredness
Development	AA, H,	Followup on	FACCT		Effectiveness
	AI/NA	developmental problems			
Development	AA, H,	Communication	FACCT		Patient
Ĩ	AI/NA	and relationship with providers			centeredness
Development	AA, H,	Helpfulness	FACCT		Patient
-	AI/NA	and effect on parental confidence			centeredness
Diet	AA,	YAHC	FACCT		Patient
	AI/NA		YAHC		centeredness
Emotional	AA, H	YAHC	FACCT		Patient
health			YAHC		centeredness
Exercise		YAHC	FACCT		Patient
			YAHC		centeredness
Health status	AA, H,	Change in	NCQA		Effectiveness
	A/PI,	health status	-		
	AI/NA	among elderly			
Influenza	AA,	Immunization	NCQA	AA, AI/AN	Effectiveness
	AI/NA	in older adults	-		/timeliness

91

Informed consumers		Informed about hormone replacement therapy	NCQA		Patient centeredness
Language access	H, A/PI	Availability of interpretation services	NCQA	H, A/PI	Patient centeredness
Pneumonia	AA, AI/NA	Pneumococcal immunization in older adults	NCQA	AA, AI/AN	Effectiveness /timeliness
Risk behavior	AA, H, AI/NA	ҮАНС	FACCT		Patient centeredness
Smoking	AA, H, AI/NA	Screening for smoking and advice to quit	NCQA/ FACCT	AA	Effectiveness
Sexually transmitted diseases	AA, H	УАНС	FACCT YAHC		Patient centeredness
Teen sexual activity	AA, H, AI/NA	ҮАНС	FACCT		Patient centeredness
Use of procedures		Frequency of selected procedures	NCQA	AA, H, A/PI, AI, NA	Timeliness

Getting better

		0			
Birth		VBAC rate	ORYX	AA	Effectiveness
Birth		Third or fourth	ORYX		Safety
		degree			
		laceration			
Breast cancer	AA	Stage of cancer	FACCT	AA, H,	Timeliness
		at diagnosis		A/PI,	
				AI/AN	
Breast cancer	AA	Informed of	FACCT		Patient
		radiation options			centeredness
Breast cancer	AA	Use of breast	FACCT	AA, H,	Patient
		conserving		A/PI,	centeredness
		surgery		AI/AN	
Breast cancer	AA	Radiation	FACCT		Effectiveness
		therapy			
Breast cancer	AA	Satisfaction with	FACCT		Patient
		care			centeredness

92

Congestive	AA	Prescription of	HCQIP/		Effectiveness/
heart failure		ACEI at	ORYX		Timeliness
		discharge			
Congestive	AA	Discharge	HCQIP/		Effectiveness/
heart failure		instructions	ORYX		Timeliness
Congestive	AA	Assessment of	HCQIP/		Effectiveness/
heart failure		LV function	ORYX		timeliness
Congestive	AA	Smoking	HCQIP/		Effectiveness
heart failure		cessation advice	ORYX		
Major	AI/NA	Followup and	NCQA	AA	Timeliness
depression		continuity			
Major	AI/NA	Lost to followup	FACCT		Timeliness
depression		-			/safety
Major	AI/NA	Satisfaction	FACCT		Patient
depression					centeredness
Major	AI/NA	Recovery	FACCT		Effectiveness
depression					
Major	AI/NA	Functional	FACCT		Effectiveness
depression		status			
Mental illness	AI/NA	Followup post	NCQA	AA	Effectiveness/
		hospitalization			safety
Myocardial	AA	Beta-blocker	NCQA/	AA, H,	Effectiveness/
infarction		upon arrival	ORYX	A/PI,	timeliness
				AI/NA	
Myocardial	AA	Beta-blocker	NCQA/	AA, H,	Effectiveness/
infarction		upon discharge	ORYX	A/PI,	timeliness
				AI/NA	
Myocardial	AA	Cholesterol after	NCQA	AA, H,	Effectiveness
infarction		cardiovascular		A/PI	
		events			
Myocardial	AA	Use of aspirin	HCQIP/	AA, H,	Effectiveness/
infarction		on arrival	ORYX	A/PI	timeliness
Myocardial	AA	Use of aspirin	HCQIP/	AA, H,	Effectiveness/
infarction		on discharge	ORYX	A/PI	timeliness
Myocardial	AA	Angiotensin-	HCQIP/	AA, H,	Effectiveness
infarction		converting	ORYX	A/PI	
		enzyme for			
		patients with left			
		ventricular			
		dysfunction			
Myocardial	AA	Smoking	HCQIP/		Effectiveness
infarction		cessation advice	ORYX		

Myocardial	AA	Time to	HCQIP/		Timeliness
infarction		thrombolysis	ORYX		
Myocardial	AA	Time to	HCQIP/	AA, H,	Timeliness
infarction		PTCA	ORYX	A/PI	
Myocardial	AA	Intrahospital	ORYX	AA,	Effectiveness
infarction		mortality			
Neonatal	AA	rate	ORYX		Effectiveness
mortality					
Pneumonia	AA	Oxygenation	ORYX		Safety
		assessment			
Pneumonia	AA	Collection	HCQIP/	AA, H,	Effectiveness
		of blood	ORYX	A/PI	
		cultures			
Pneumonia	AA	Prescriptions	HCQIP/	AA	Effectiveness
		of antibiotics	ORYX		
Pneumonia	AA	Pneumococcal	HCQIP/	AA	Effectiveness
		immunization	ORYX		
Pneumonia	AA	Smoking	ORYX		Effectiveness
		cessation			
		counseling			
Stroke	AA	Antiplatelets	HCQIP		Effectiveness
		and			
		anticoagulants			
Stroke	AA	Avoidance of	HCQIP		Safety
		nifedipine			
Stroke	AA	Warfarin for	HCQIP		Effectiveness
		atrial fibrillation			
Surgery	AA	Timing of	ORYX		Timeliness
		prophylactic			
		antibiotics			
Surgical	AA	30-day rate	ORYX		Safety
wound					
infection					
		Living with ch	ronic illnes	S	
Asthma	AA, H	Prescription for	NCQA	AA, H	Effectiveness
		anti-			

Asthma	AA, H	Prescription for	NCQA	AA, H	Effectiveness
		anti-			
		inflammatory			
		agent			
Asthma	AA, H	ED visits	NCQA	AA, H	Effectiveness
Asthma, adult		Education re:	FACCT		Patient
		peak flow meter			centeredness/
		use			Effectiveness

Asthma, adult	AA, H	Education re: inhaler use	FACCT		Patient centeredness/ effectiveness
Asthma, adult	AA, H	Education re: patient experience and satisfaction	FACCT		Patient centeredness
Asthma, adult	AA, H	Patient self management knowledge	FACCT		Patient centeredness
Asthma, adult	AA, H	Ability to maintain daily activities	FACCT		Effectiveness
Asthma, adult	AA, H	Education re: patient experience and satisfaction	FACCT		Effectiveness
Breast cancer	AA	Experience and function	FACCT		Effectiveness
Breast cancer	AA	5-year disease free survival	FACCT	AA	Effectiveness
Children with special health care needs	AA	Receipt of family-centered care	FACCT		Patient centeredness
Children with special health care needs	AA, H	Getting needed medications and specialty care	FACCT		Effectiveness
Children with special health care needs	AA, H	Coordination of care	FACCT		Patient centeredness
Diabetes	AA, H, AI/NA	Hemoglobin A1 testing	NCQA/ FACCT	AA, H, AI/NA	Effectiveness/ timeliness
Diabetes	AA, H, AI/NA	Glycemic control	NCQA/ FACCT	AA	Effectiveness
Diabetes	AA, H, AI/NA	Eye exams	NCQA/ FACCT	AA	Effectiveness
Diabetes	AA, H, AI/NA	Foot exams	FACCT		Effectiveness
Diabetes	AA, H, AI/NA	Lipid screening	NCQA		Effectiveness
Diabetes	AA, H, AI/NA	Lipid control	NCQA/ FACCT		Effectiveness

Diabetes	AA, H, AI/NA	Nephropathy screening	NCQA		Effectiveness
Diabetes	AA, H, AI/NA	Advice to quit smoking	FACCT		Effectiveness
Diabetes	AA, H, AI/NA	Ability to maintain activities	FACCT		Effectiveness
Diabetes	AA, H, AI/NA	Smoking cessation	FACCT		Effectiveness
Hypertension	AA	Hypertension control	NCQA	AA	Effectiveness

* Satisfaction measures may cut across one or more consumer perspectives.

Key to abbreviations in Appendix B: A=Asian; AA=African American; ACEI=angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor; AI/AN (or NA)=American Indian/Alaska Native (or Native Alaskan); A/PI=Asian/Pacific Islander; ED=emergency department; FACCT=Foundation for Accountability; H=Hispanic; HCQIP=Health Care Quality Improvement Project; MMR=measles/mumps/rubella; NCQA=National Committee for Quality Assurance; PTCA=percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty; VBAC=vaginal birth after cesarean; YAHC=Young Adult Health Care survey.

96

Condition	ity measures for of Measure		Ago	Departed	Type of
Condition	Measure	Source	Age range	Reported separately from adults	Type of measure
		Satisfa	ction		
Consumer experience of care	CAPHS® 2.0 child	NCQA/ FACCT		Yes	Patient centeredness
	Picker Inpatient Survey			Yes	Patient centeredness
		Staying h	ealthy		
Access to well-care	Well-child visits in first 15 months	NCQA	0-15 mo	Yes	Timeliness
Access to well-care	Well-child visits 4-6 years	NCQA	4-6 years	Yes	Timeliness
Access to well-care	Adolescent well-care visits	NCQA	12-21	Yes	Timeliness
Use of procedures	Frequency of selected procedures	NCQA	0-19	Yes	Timeliness
Access to prescriptions	Ambulatory drug use	NCQA	0-9, 10-19	Yes	Timeliness
Access to dental	Annual dental visit	NCQA (Medicaid)	4-21	Yes	Timeliness
Language access	Availability of interpretation services	NCQA	Generic	No	Timeliness
Adolescent infections	Adolescent immunizations for MMR, hepatitis B, and varicella	NCQA	13	Yes	Effectiveness /timeliness
Childhood infections	Childhood immunizations	NCQA	2	Yes	Effectiveness /timeliness
Chlamydia	Screening in young women	NCQA	16-20	Yes	Effectiveness /timeliness
Confidentiality	YAHC	FACCT YAHC	14-18	Yes	Patient centeredness

Development	Anticipatory guidance	FACCT	14-18	Yes	Patient centeredness/ effectiveness
Development	Followup on developmental problems	FACCT	14-18	Yes	Timeliness
Development	Communication and relationship with providers	FACCT	14-18	Yes	Patient centeredness
Development	Helpfulness and effect on parental confidence	FACCT	14-18	Yes	Patient centeredness
Diet	ҮАНС	FACCT YAHC	14-18	Yes	Patient centeredness/ effectiveness
Emotional health	ҮАНС	FACCT YAHC	14-18	Yes	Patient centeredness/ effectiveness
Exercise	ҮАНС	FACCT YAHC	14-18	Yes	Patient centeredness/ effectiveness
Risk behavior	ҮАНС	FACCT	14-18	Yes	Patient centeredness/ effectiveness
STDs	ҮАНС	FACCT YAHC	14-18	Yes	Patient centeredness/ effectiveness
Teen sexual activity	ҮАНС	FACCT	14-18	Yes	Patient centeredness/ effectiveness

Getting better

Mental illness	Followup after hospitalization	NCQA	6-18	No	Safety/ timeliness
Neonatal mortality	Rate	ORYX	0-19	Yes	Safety
Pneumonia	Oxygenation assessment	ORYX	0-19	No	Safety
Pneumonia	Empiric antibiotic	ORYX	0-19	No	Effectiveness

98

Pneumonia	Collection of blood cultures	HCQIP/ ORYX	0-19	No	Effectiveness
Pneumonia	Pediatric smoking cessation	ORYX	0-19	Yes	Effectiveness
Surgery	Timing of prophylactic antibiotics	ORYX	0-19	No	Timeliness
Surgical wound infection	30-day rate	ORYX	0-19	No	Safety

Living with chronic illness

Asthma	Prescription for anti- inflammatory agent	NCQA	5-9, 10-17	No	Effectiveness
Asthma	ED visits	NCQA	4-9,10- 17,18	No	Safety
Children with special health care needs	Receipt of family-centered care	FACCT	0-19	Yes	Patient centeredness
Children with special health care needs	Getting needed medications and specialty care	FACCT	0-19	Yes	Effectiveness
Children with special health care needs	Coordination of care	FACCT	0-19	Yes	Patient centeredness

* Satisfaction measures may cut across one or more consumer perspectives.

Key to abbreviations in Appendix B: A=Asian; AA=African American; ACEI=angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor; AI/AN (or NA)=American Indian/Alaska Native (or Native Alaskan); A/PI=Asian/Pacific Islander; ED=emergency department; FACCT=Foundation for Accountability; H=Hispanic; HCQIP=Health Care Quality Improvement Project; MMR=measles/mumps/rubella; NCQA=National Committee for Quality Assurance; PTCA=percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty; VBAC=vaginal birth after cesarean; YAHC=Young Adult Health Care survey.

99

Table B3. Quality	measures relevant	to women					
Condition	Measure	Source	Reported separately for women	Type of measure			
Satisfaction*							
Consumer	CAPHS®	NCQA/	No	Patient			
experience of care		FACCT		centeredness			
Consumer	Picker Inpatient		Yes	Patient			
experience of care	Survey			centeredness			
	Sta	aying health	ıy				
Access to dental	Annual dental	NCOA	No	Timeliness			

Access to dental	Annual dental	NCQA	No	Timeliness
	visit	(Medicaid)		
Access to prenatal	Trimester of	NCQA	Yes	Timeliness
care	prenatal care			
	enrollment			
Access to	Ambulatory	NCQA	No	Timeliness
prescriptions	drug use			
Alcohol	Rates of	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
misuse	screening			
Alcohol	Routine	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
misuse	assessment			
Alcohol	Satisfaction	FACCT	No	Patient
misuse	with screening			centeredness
Breast cancer	Mammography	NCQA/	Yes	Effectiveness
		HCQIP		/timeliness
Cervical	Pap smear	NCQA	Yes	Effectiveness
cancer	screening			/timeliness
Chlamydia	Screening in	NCQA	No	Effectiveness
	young women			/timeliness
Health status	Change in	NCQA	No	Effectiveness
	health status			
	among elderly			
Influenza	Immunization	NCQA	No	Effectiveness
	In older adults			/timeliness
Informed	Informed about	NCQA	Yes	Patient
consumers	hormone			centeredness
	replacement			
	therapy			
Language access	Availability of	NCQA	No	Patient
	interpretation			centeredness
	Services			

100

Pneumonia	Pneumococcal immunization in older adults	NCQA	No	Effectiveness /timeliness
Risk behavior	YAHC	FACCT	No	Patient centeredness
Smoking	Screening for smoking and advice to quit	NCQA/ FACCT	No	Effectiveness
STDs	УАНС	FACCT YAHC	No	Patient centeredness/ effectiveness
Teen sexual activity	ҮАНС	FACCT	No	Patient centeredness/ effectiveness
Use of procedures	Frequency of selected procedures	NCQA	No	Timeliness

Getting better

Birth	VBAC rate	ORYX	Yes	Effectiveness
Birth	Third or fourth	ORYX	Yes	Safety
	degree			
	laceration			
Breast cancer	Stage of cancer	FACCT	Yes	Timeliness
	at diagnosis			
Breast cancer	Informed of	FACCT	Yes	Patient
	radiation			centeredness
	options			
Breast cancer	Use of breast	FACCT	Yes	Effectiveness
	conserving			
	surgery			
Breast cancer	Radiation	FACCT	Yes	Effectiveness
	therapy			
Breast cancer	Satisfaction	FACCT	Yes	Patient
	with care			centeredness
Congestive heart	Prescription of	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness/
failure	ACEI at	ORYX		timeliness
	discharge			
Congestive heart	Discharge	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness/
failure	instructions	ORYX		timeliness
Congestive heart	Assessment of	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness/
failure	LV function	ORYX		timeliness

101

Congestive heart	Smoking	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness
failure	cessation advice	ORYX		
Major depression	Followup and continuity	NCQA	No	Effectiveness
Major depression	Lost to followup	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
Major depression	Satisfaction	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
Major depression	Recovery	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
Major depression	Functional status	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
Mental illness	Followup post hospitalization	NCQA	No	Safety/timeliness
Myocardial infarction	Beta-blocker upon arrival	NCQA/ ORYX	No	Effectiveness/ timeliness
Myocardial infarction	Beta-blocker upon discharge	NCQA/ ORYX	No	Effectiveness
Myocardial infarction	Cholesterol after cardiovascular events	NCQA	No	Effectiveness/ timeliness
Myocardial infarction	Use of aspirin on arrival	HCQIP/ ORYX	No	Effectiveness/ timeliness
Myocardial infarction	Use of aspirin on discharge	HCQIP/ ORYX	No	Effectiveness/ timeliness
Myocardial infarction	Angiotensin- converting enzyme for patients with left ventricular dysfunction	HCQIP/ ORYX	No	Effectiveness
Myocardial infarction	Smoking cessation advice	HCQIP/ ORYX	No	Effectiveness
Myocardial infarction	Time to thrombolysis	HCQIP/ ORYX	No	Timeliness
Myocardial infarction	Time to PCTA	HCQIP/ ORYX	No	Timeliness
Myocardial infarction	Intrahospital mortality	ORYX	No	Safety
Neonatal mortality	rate	ORYX	No	Effectiveness

102

Pneumonia	Oxygenation assessment	ORYX	No	Safety
Pneumonia	Collection of blood cultures	HCQIP/ ORYX	No	Effectiveness
Pneumonia	Prescriptions of antibiotics	HCQIP/ ORYX	No	Timeliness
Pneumonia	Pneumococcal immunization	HCQIP/ ORYX	No	Effectiveness
Pneumonia	Smoking cessation counseling	ORYX	No	Effectiveness
Stroke	Antiplatelets and anticoagulants	HCQIP	No	Effectiveness
Stroke	Avoidance of nifedipine	HCQIP	No	Safety
Stroke	Warfarin for atrial fibrillation	HCQIP	No	Effectiveness
Surgical wound infection	30-day rate	ORYX	No	Safety
Surgery	Timing of prophylactic antibiotics	ORYX	No	Timeliness

Living with chronic illness

Asthma	Prescription for	NCQA	No	Effectiveness
	anti-			
	inflammatory			
	agent			
Asthma	ED visits	NCQA	No	Safety
Asthma, adult	Education re:	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
	peak flow meter			
	use			
Asthma, adult	Education re:	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
	inhaler use			
Asthma, adult	Education re:	FACCT	No	Patient
	patient			centeredness/
	experience and			effectiveness
	satisfaction			

103

Asthma, adult	Patient self	FACCT	No	Patient
	management			centeredness /effectiveness
A (1 1 1)	knowledge	FACOT	NT	
Asthma, adult	Ability to	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
	maintain daily			
D	activities	TA COT		
Breast cancer	Experience and	FACCT	Yes	Effectiveness
-	function			
Breast cancer	5-year disease	FACCT	Yes	Effectiveness
	free survival			
Diabetes	Hemoglobin A1	NCQA/	No	Effectiveness
	testing	FACCT		/timeliness
Diabetes	Glycemic	NCQA/	No	Effectiveness
	control	FACCT		
Diabetes	Eye exams	NCQA/	No	Effectiveness
		FACCT		/timeliness
Diabetes	Foot exams	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
Diabetes	Lipid screening	NCQA	No	Effectiveness
Diabetes	Lipid control	NCQA/	No	Effectiveness
		FACCT		
Diabetes	Nephropathy	NCQA	No	Effectiveness
	screening			
Diabetes	Advice to quit	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
	smoking			
Diabetes	Ability to	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
	maintain			
	activities			
Diabetes	Smoking	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
21000005	cessation			
Hypertension	Hypertension	NCQA	No	Effectiveness
	control		1.0	

* Satisfaction measures may cut across one or more consumer perspectives.

104

Condition	Measure	Source	Reported separately for elderly	Type of measure
	Satisfa	action*	l v	
Consumer experience of care	CAPHS®	NCQA/ FACCT	At times	Patient centeredness
Consumer experience of care	Picker Inpatient Survey	Picker Institute/	At times	Patient centeredness
	Staying	healthy		
Access to dental	Annual dental visit	NCQA (Medicaid)	No	Timeliness
Access to prescriptions	Ambulatory drug use	NCQA	No	Timeliness
Alcohol misuse	Rates of screening	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
Alcohol misuse	Routine assessment	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
Alcohol misuse	Satisfaction with screening	FACCT	No	Patient centeredness
Breast cancer	Mammography	NCQA/ HCQIP	No	Effectiveness /timeliness
Cervical cancer	Pap smear screening	NCQA	No	Effectiveness /timeliness
Health status	Change in health status among elderly**	NCQA	Yes	Effectiveness
Influenza	Immunization in older adults**	NCQA	Yes	Effectiveness /timeliness
Informed consumers	Informed about hormone replacement therapy	NCQA	No	Patient centeredness
Language access	Availability of interpretation services	NCQA	No	Patient centeredness
Pneumonia	Pneumococcal immunization in older adults**	NCQA	Yes	Effectiveness /timeliness
Smoking	Screening for smoking and advice to quit	NCQA/ FACCT	No	Effectiveness

Table B4. Quality measures relevant to elderly

105

Key to abbreviations in Appendix B: A=Asian; AA=African American; ACEI=angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor; AI/AN (or NA)=American Indian/Alaska Native (or Native Alaskan); A/PI=Asian/Pacific Islander; ED=emergency department; FACCT=Foundation for Accountability; H=Hispanic; HCQIP=Health Care Quality Improvement Project; MMR=measles/mumps/rubella; NCQA=National Committee for Quality Assurance; PTCA=percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty; VBAC=vaginal birth after cesarean; YAHC=Young Adult Health Care survey.

Use of	Frequency of selected	NCQA	No	Timeliness
procedures	procedures	_		
	Getting	g better		
Breast cancer	Stage of cancer at diagnosis	FACCT	No	Timeliness
Breast cancer	Informed of radiation	FACCT	No	Patient
	options			centeredness
Breast cancer	Use of breast conserving surgery	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
Breast cancer	Radiation therapy	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
Breast cancer	Satisfaction with care	FACCT	No	Patient centeredness
Congestive	Prescription of ACEI at	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness
heart failure	discharge	ORYX		/timeliness
Congestive	Discharge instructions	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness
heart failure		ORYX		/timeliness
Congestive	Assessment of LV function	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness
heart failure		ORYX		
Congestive	Smoking cessation advice	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness
heart failure		ORYX		
Major	Followup and continuity	NCQA	No	Safety/
depression				timeliness
Major	Lost to followup	FACCT	No	Safety
depression				
Major	Satisfaction	FACCT	No	Patient
depression				centeredness
Major	Recovery	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
depression				
Major	Functional status	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
depression				
Mental illness	Followup post	NCQA	No	Timeliness/
	hospitalization			safety
Myocardial	Beta-blocker	NCQA/	No	Effectiveness
infarction	upon arrival	ORYX		/timeliness
Myocardial	Beta-blocker	NCQA/	No	Effectiveness
infarction	upon discharge	ORYX		/timeliness
Myocardial	Cholesterol after	NCQA	No	Effectiveness
infarction	cardiovascular Events			/timeliness
Myocardial	Use of aspirin on arrival	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness
infarction		ORYX		/timeliness
Myocardial	Use of aspirin on discharge	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness
infarction		ORYX		/timeliness

106

Myocardial	Angiotensin-	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness
infarction	converting enzyme for	ORYX		
	patients with left ventricular			
	dysfunction			
Myocardial	Smoking cessation advice	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness
infarction		ORYX		
Myocardial	Time to	HCQIP/	No	Timeliness
infarction	thrombolysis	ORYX		
Myocardial	Time to PCTA	HCQIP/	No	Timeliness
infarction		ORYX		
Myocardial	Intrahospital	ORYX	No	Safety
infarction	mortality			
Neonatal	Mortality rate	ORYX	No	Safety
mortality				
Pneumonia	Oxygenation	ORYX	No	Safety
	Assessment			
Pneumonia	Collection	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness
	of blood cultures	ORYX		
Pneumonia	Prescriptions	HCQIP/	No	Timeliness
	of antibiotics	ORYX		
Pneumonia	Pneumococcal	HCQIP/	No	Effectiveness
	immunization	ORYX		
Pneumonia	Smoking cessation	ORYX	No	Effectiveness
	counseling			
Stroke	Antiplatelets and	HCQIP	No	Effectiveness
	anticoagulants	_		
Stroke	Avoidance of	HCQIP	No	Safety
	nifedipine	_		
Stroke	Warfarin for atrial	HCQIP	No	Effectiveness
	fibrillation	-		
Surgery	Timing of prophylactic	ORYX	No	Timeliness
	antibiotics			
Surgical	30 day rate	ORYX	No	Safety
wound	-			
infection				

Living with chronic illness

Asthma, adult	Prescription for anti- inflammatory agent	NCQA	No	Effectiveness
Asthma, adult	ED visits	NCQA	No	Effectiveness
Asthma, adult	Education re: peak flow meter use	FACCT	No	Patient centeredness/
	nieter use			effectiveness

Asthma, adult	Education re: inhaler use	FACCT	No	Patient centeredness/ effectiveness
Asthma, adult	Education re: patient experience and satisfaction	FACCT	No	Patient centeredness
Asthma, adult	Patient self management knowledge	FACCT	No	Patient centeredness/ effectiveness
Asthma, adult	Ability to maintain daily activities	FACCT	No	Effectiveness
Breast cancer	Experience and function	FACCT		Effectiveness
Breast cancer	5-year disease free survival	FACCT		Effectiveness
Diabetes	Hemoglobin A1 testing	NCQA/ FACCT		Effectiveness /timeliness
Diabetes	Glycemic control	NCQA/ FACCT		Effectiveness
Diabetes	Eye exams	NCQA/ FACCT		Effectiveness /timeliness
Diabetes	Foot exams	FACCT		Effectiveness /timeliness
Diabetes	Lipid screening	NCQA		Effectiveness /timeliness
Diabetes	Lipid control	NCQA/ FACCT		Effectiveness
Diabetes	Nephropathy screening	NCQA		Effectiveness /timeliness
Diabetes	Advice to quit smoking	FACCT		Effectiveness
Diabetes	Ability to maintain activities	FACCT		Effectiveness
Diabetes	Smoking cessation	FACCT		Effectiveness
Hypertension	Hypertension control	NCQA		Effectiveness

* Satisfaction measures may cut across one or more consumer perspectives.

** Reported separately for older adults.

108